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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes  of this  Annual  Report on Form 10-K (this  Annual  Report), the terms “Oracle,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporation and i ts  consol idated 
subs idiaries . This  Annual  Report contains  statements  that are not historical  in nature, are predictive in nature, or that depend upon or refer to future events  or 
conditions  or otherwise contain forward-looking statements  within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securi ties  Exchange Act of 1934, as  amended (the Exchange 
Act), and Section 27A of the Securi ties  Act of 1933, as  amended (the Securi ties  Act). These include, among other things , s tatements  regarding:

•our expectation that we may acquire, and real ize the anticipated benefi ts  of acquiring, companies , products , services  and technologies  to further our 
corporate strategy as  compel l ing opportunities  become avai lable;
•our bel ief that our acquis i tions  enhance the products  and services  that we can offer to customers, expand our customer base, provide greater scale to 
accelerate innovation, grow our revenues and earnings  and increase stockholder value;
•our expectation that, on a constant currency bas is , our total  cloud and l icense revenues general ly wi l l  continue to increase due to expected growth in 
our cloud services  and continued demand for our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense and l icense support offerings;
•our bel ief that our Oracle Cloud Appl ications  (OCA) and Oracle Cloud Infrastructure (OCI) offerings  represent opportunities  for us  to continue to expand 
our cloud and l icense bus iness , and that we are in the early stages  of what we expect wi l l  be a  materia l  migration of our existing Oracle customer base 
from on-premise appl ications  and infrastructure products  and services  to the Oracle Cloud;
•our bel ief that we can market our OCA and OCI services  to a  broader ecosystem of smal l  and medium-s ized bus inesses , non-information technology 
l ines  of bus iness  purchasers , developers  and partners  due to the highly avai lable, intuitive des ign, ease-of-access , low touch and low cost 
characteristics  of the Oracle Cloud;
•our expectation that substantia l ly a l l  of our customers  wi l l  renew their l icense support contracts  upon expiration;

•our bel ief that Oracle Fus ion Cloud Enterprise Resource Planning is  a  strategic suite of appl ications  that i s  foundational  to faci l i tating and extracting 
more bus iness  value out of the adoption of other OCA offerings  as  customers  real ize the value of a  common data model  that spans  across  core bus iness  
appl ications;
•our bel ief that our OCA offerings  remove bus iness  boundaries  between front- and back-office activi ties ;

•our expectation that current and expected customer demand wi l l  require continued growth in our cloud services  and l icense support expenses  in order 
to increase our existing data center capacity and establ ish additional  data centers  in new geographic locations;
•our expectation that our hardware bus iness  wi l l  have lower operating margins  as  a  percentage of revenues than our cloud and l icense bus iness;

•our expectation that we wi l l  continue to make s igni ficant investments  in research and development to develop new products  and services  offerings , as  
wel l  as  maintain and improve our current offerings , and our bel ief that research and development efforts  are essentia l  to maintaining our competitive 
pos ition;
•our expectations  regarding our investment in Ampere Computing Holdings  LLC (Ampere) and the pending acquis i tion of Ampere by SoftBank Group Corp.;

•our expectation that our international  operations  wi l l  continue to provide a s igni ficant portion of our total  revenues and expenses;

•our expectation that the proportion of our cloud services  revenues relative to our total  revenues wi l l  continue to increase;

•the sufficiency of our sources  of funding for working capital , capital  expenditures , contractual  obl igations, acquis i tions, dividends, stock repurchases, 
debt repayments  and other matters ;
•our bel ief that we have adequately provided under United States  (U.S.) general ly accepted accounting principles  for outcomes related to our tax audits , 
that the final  outcome of our tax-related examinations, agreements  or judicia l  proceedings  wi l l  not have a materia l  effect on our results  of operations  
and that our net deferred tax assets  wi l l  l ikely be real ized in the foreseeable future;
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•our bel ief that the outcome of certain legal  proceedings  and cla ims to which we are a  party wi l l  not, individual ly or in the aggregate, result in losses  that 
are materia l ly in excess  of amounts  a lready recognized, i f any;
•the poss ibi l i ty that certain legal  proceedings  to which we are or may become a party could have a materia l  impact on our financial  pos ition, future cash 
flows and results  of operations;
•the timing and amount of expenses  we expect to incur;

•the poss ibi l i ty that we may incur additional  restructuring expenses  in future periods  due to the ini tiation of new restructuring plans;

•declarations  and amounts  of future cash dividend payments  and the timing and amount of future stock repurchases;

•our expectations  regarding the impact of recent accounting pronouncements  on our consol idated financial  s tatements;

•our expectations  regarding the amounts  and performance of our investments  in marketable and non-marketable equity securi ties  and the timing and 
amount of changes  in fa i r value of these investments;
•our abi l i ty to predict revenues, particularly certain cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues and hardware revenues, and margins;

•the percentages  of remaining performance obl igations  that we expect to recognize as  revenues over respective future periods;

•our expectation that the financial  impacts  of standard warranty or service level  provis ions  in our revenue arrangements  wi l l  continue to be 
ins igni ficant;
•our expectation that supply chain shortages, including those aris ing from tari ffs , changing trade pol icy or other macroeconomic developments , and the 
risks  associated with our response to such shortages, including committing to higher purchases  and balances  of hardware products , may increase and 
wi l l  continue to impact us  in the future;
•our bel iefs  regarding the retention of employees  and how our products  help to improve our employees’ learning experiences  and growth opportunities ;

as  wel l  as  other statements  regarding our future operations, financial  condition and prospects  and bus iness  strategies . Forward-looking statements  may be 
preceded by, fol lowed by or include the words  “anticipates ,” “bel ieves,” “commits ,” “continues,” “could,” “endeavors ,” “estimates,” “expects ,” “focus,” 
“forecasts ,” “future,” “goal ,” “intends,” “is  des igned to,” “l ikely,” “maintains ,” “may,” “ongoing,” “plans,” “poss ible,” “potentia l ,” “projects ,” “seeks,” “shal l ,” 
“should,” “strives ,” “wi l l” and s imi lar express ions. We cla im the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements  contained in the Exchange Act and 
the Securi ties  Act for a l l  forward-looking statements . We have based these forward-looking statements  on our current expectations  and projections  about future 
events . These forward-looking statements  are subject to risks , uncertainties  and assumptions  about our bus iness  that could affect our future results  and could 
cause those results  or other outcomes to di ffer materia l ly from those expressed or impl ied in the forward-looking statements . Factors  that might cause or 
contribute to such di fferences  include, but are not l imited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report and as  may be updated 
in fi l ings  we make from time to time with the U.S. Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion (the SEC), including our Quarterly Reports  on Form 10-Q to be fi led by us  
in our fi scal  year 2026, which runs  from June 1, 2025 to May 31, 2026.

We have no obl igation to publ icly update or revise any forward-looking statements , whether as  a  result of new information, future events  or risks , except to the 
extent required by appl icable securi ties  laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements , no inference should be drawn that we wi l l  make 
additional  updates  with respect to those or other forward-looking statements . New information, future events  or risks  could cause the forward-looking events  
we discuss  in this  Annual  Report not to occur. You should not place undue rel iance on these forward-looking statements , which reflect our expectations  only as  
of the date of this  Annual  Report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Oracle provides  products  and services  that address  enterprise information technology (IT) needs. Our products  and services  include enterprise appl ications  
and infrastructure offerings  that are del ivered worldwide through a variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models . These models  include on-
premise, cloud-based and hybrid deployments . It i s  an important element of our corporate strategy to provide choice and flexibi l i ty to Oracle customers  as  to 
when and how they deploy Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies . We bel ieve that offering customers  broad, comprehensive, flexible and 
interoperable deployment models  for Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  is  important to our growth strategy and better addresses  customer 
needs relative to our competitors , many of whom provide fewer offerings , more restrictive deployment models  and less  flexibi l i ty for customers  trans itioning to 
cloud-based IT environments .

Oracle Cloud Appl ications  (OCA) and Oracle Cloud Infrastructure (OCI, col lectively with OCA, Oracle Cloud Services) offerings  provide comprehensive and 
integrated appl ications  and infrastructure services , enabl ing our customers  to choose the best option that meets  their speci fic bus iness  needs. Oracle Cloud 
Services  integrate IT components  in a  cloud-based IT environment that Oracle deploys  and manages  for customers  and is  access ible by uti l i zing common web 
browsers  via  a  broad spectrum of devices . Oracle Cloud Services  are des igned to be:

•rapidly deployable to enable customers  shorter time to innovation; 

•intuitive for casual  and experienced users ; 

•eas i ly maintainable to reduce upgrade, integration and testing work; 

•connectable among di ffering deployment models  to enable interoperabi l i ty and extens ibi l i ty to eas i ly move workloads  among the Oracle Cloud and 
other IT environments; 

•cost-effective by lowering upfront customer investments  and implementing usage-based resource consumption costs ; and 

•highly secure, standards-based and rel iable.

Oracle cloud l icense and on-premise l icense deployment offerings  include Oracle Appl ications, Oracle Database and Oracle Middleware software offerings , 
among others , which customers  deploy us ing IT infrastructure from the Oracle Cloud or their own IT environments . Substantia l ly a l l  customers  opt to purchase 
l icense support contracts  when they purchase an Oracle l icense. 

Oracle hardware products  include Oracle Engineered Systems, servers , s torage and industry-speci fic products , among others . Customers  general ly opt to 
purchase hardware support contracts  when they purchase Oracle hardware products . 

Oracle a lso offers  profess ional  services  to ass ist our customers  and partners  to maximize the performance of their investments  in Oracle products  and 
services .

Our customers  include bus inesses  of many s izes , government agencies , educational  insti tutions  and resel lers  that we market and sel l  to directly through our 
worldwide sales  force or indirectly through the Oracle Partner Network. Us ing Oracle technologies , our customers  bui ld, deploy, run, manage and support their 
internal  and external  products , services  and bus iness  operations, including, for example, an arti ficia l  intel l igence (AI) product company that uses  OCI to bui ld 
and serve generative AI models ; a  global  technology company that uses  multiple OCI compute and data services  to power i ts  logistics  and mobi le appl ication 
offerings; a  multinational  financial  insti tution that runs  i ts  banking appl ications  us ing Oracle Exadata Cloud@Customer; and a global  consumer products  
company that leverages  Oracle Fus ion Cloud Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) for i ts  accounting processes , risk management, supply chain and financial  
planning functions.

Our investments  in, and innovation with respect to, Oracle products  and services  that we offer through our three bus inesses  (cloud and l icense, hardware and 
services  bus inesses , described further below) are another important element of our corporate strategy. In fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, we invested $9.9 bi l l ion, 
$8.9 bi l l ion and $8.6 bi l l ion, respectively, in research and development to enhance our existing portfol io of offerings  and to develop new 
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technologies  and services . We have a deep understanding as  to how appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  interact and function with one another, 
including us ing OCI to power our OCA, which we and our customers  use to run internal  bus iness  processes. We focus  our development efforts  on improving the 
performance, securi ty, rel iabi l i ty, operation, integration and cost-effectiveness  of our offerings  relative to our competitors ; faci l i tating the ease with which 
organizations  are able to deploy, use, manage and maintain our offerings; and incorporating emerging technologies , such as  AI, within our offerings  to enable 
leaner bus iness  processes , automation and innovation. 

After an ini tia l  purchase of Oracle products  and services , our customers  can continue to benefi t from our offerings , research and development efforts  and deep 
IT expertise by electing to purchase and renew Oracle support offerings  for their l icense and hardware deployments , which may include product enhancements  
that we periodical ly del iver to our products , and by renewing their Oracle Cloud Services  contracts  with us . 

Our selective and active acquis i tion program is  another important element of our corporate strategy. We bel ieve that our acquis i tions  enhance the products  
and services  that we can offer to customers, expand our customer base, provide greater scale to accelerate innovation, grow our revenues and earnings  and 
increase stockholder value. We have invested bi l l ions  of dol lars  over time to acquire a  number of companies , products , services  and technologies  that add to, 
are complementary to, or have otherwise enhanced our existing offerings . We expect to continue to acquire companies , products , services  and technologies  as  
suitable opportunities  arise to further our corporate strategy.

We have three bus inesses: cloud and l icense; hardware; and services . Each bus iness  is  comprised of a  s ingle operating segment. Item 7 Management’s  
Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  and Note 13 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements , both included elsewhere 
in this  Annual  Report, provide additional  information related to our bus inesses  and operating segments .

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 as  a  Delaware corporation and is  the successor to operations  original ly begun in June 1977.

Oracle Applications and Infrastructure Technologies

Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies , including database and middleware software as  wel l  as  enterprise appl ications, vi rtual ization, clustering, 
large-scale systems management and related infrastructure products  and services , are based upon industry standards  and are des igned to be enterprise-grade, 
rel iable, scalable and secure. These technologies  are the bui lding blocks  of Oracle Cloud Services , our partners ’ cloud services  and our customers’ cloud IT 
environments . Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure offerings  are marketed and sold through our cloud and l icense and hardware bus inesses , and are 
del ivered through the Oracle Cloud or a  variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models , including cloud-based, hybrid and on-premise deployments . 

We bel ieve that our Oracle Cloud Services  offerings  represent opportunities  for us  to continue to expand our cloud and l icense bus iness . We bel ieve that our 
customers  increas ingly recognize the value of access  to the latest vers ions  of Oracle cloud-based appl ications  and infrastructure capabi l i ties  via  a  lower cost, 
rapidly deployable, flexible and interoperable services  model  that Oracle provis ions, manages, upgrades  and maintains  on our customers’ behal f. We bel ieve 
that we can market and sel l  our Oracle Cloud Services  offerings  together to help new and existing customers  migrate their extens ive instal led base of on-premise 
and cloud-based appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  to the Oracle Cloud and we bel ieve we are in the early stages  of what we expect wi l l  be a  materia l  
migration of our existing Oracle customer base from on-premise appl ications  and infrastructure products  and services  to the Oracle Cloud. During the past 
three fiscal  years , customers  with annual  l icense support contracts  that migrated to the Oracle Cloud contributed to the increase in annual ized cloud services  
revenue by $4.3 bi l l ion. In addition, we also bel ieve we can market our Oracle Cloud Services  offerings  to a  broader ecosystem of smal l  and medium-s ized 
bus inesses , non-IT l ines  of bus iness  purchasers , developers  and partners  due to the highly avai lable, intuitive des ign, ease-of-access , low touch and low cost 
characteristics  of the Oracle Cloud. 

In recent periods, customer demand for our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  del ivered through our Oracle Cloud deployment models  has  increased. 
To address  customer demand and enable customer choice, we have introduced certain programs for customers  to pivot their appl ications  and infrastructure 
l icenses  and l icense support 
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contracts  to the Oracle Cloud for new deployments  and to migrate to and expand with the Oracle Cloud for their existing workloads. The proportion of our cloud 
services  revenues relative to our total  revenues has  increased and our cloud services  revenues represented 43%, 37% and 32% of our total  revenues during 
fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We expect these trends  to continue.

Oracle Applications Technologies

Oracle appl ications  technologies  are marketed, sold, del ivered and supported through our cloud and l icense bus iness . Our appl ications  cloud services  and 
l icense support revenues represented 44%, 46% and 47% of our total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues during fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Oracle appl ications  offerings  include our OCA offerings , which are avai lable for customers  as  a  subscription, and Oracle appl ications  l icense 
offerings , which are avai lable for customers  to purchase for use within the Oracle Cloud and other cloud-based and on-premise IT environments , and include 
the option to purchase related l icense support. Our appl ications  technologies  are des igned to reduce the risk, cost and complexity of our customers’ IT 
infrastructures , whi le supporting customer choice with flexible deployment models  that readi ly enable performance, agi l i ty, compatibi l i ty and extendibi l i ty. The 
appl ications  technologies  that we offer are general ly des igned us ing industry standard architectures  to manage and automate core bus iness  functions  across  
the enterprise and a broad range of industries , as  wel l  as  to help customers  di fferentiate and innovate in those processes  unique to their industries  or 
organizations. We also offer industry-speci fic appl ications, which provide solutions  to customers  in the automotive, communications, construction and 
engineering, consumer packaged goods, defense and intel l igence, education, financial  services , government, healthcare, high technology, hospital i ty, industria l  
manufacturing, l i fe sciences, media and entertainment, oi l  and gas , profess ional  services , publ ic safety, restaurant, retai l , travel  and logistics , uti l i ties  and 
wholesale distribution industries , among others .

Oracle Cloud Applications (OCA)

The broad spectrum of OCA offerings  provides  customers  with a  choice of software appl ications  del ivered via  a  cloud-based IT environment that we deploy and 
manage and that customers  purchase by entering into a  subscription agreement with us  for a  stated period. Our OCA offerings  represent an industry leading 
bus iness  innovation platform leveraging OCI and include a broad suite of modular, next-generation cloud software appl ications  spanning al l  core bus iness  
functions, including, among others :

•Oracle Fus ion Cloud ERP, which is  des igned to be a complete and integrated ERP solution to help organizations  improve decis ion making and workforce 
productivi ty, and to optimize back-office operations  by uti l i zing a  s ingle data and securi ty model  with a  common user interface; 

•Oracle Fus ion Cloud Enterprise Performance Management (EPM), which is  des igned to analyze financial  performance, drive accurate and agi le financial  
plans, optimize the financial  close and consol idation process , s treaml ine account reconci l iation and satis fy an organization’s  reporting requirements;

•Oracle Fus ion Cloud Supply Chain and Manufacturing Management (SCM), which is  des igned to help organizations  create, optimize and digi tize their 
supply chains; 

•Oracle Fus ion Cloud Human Capital  Management (HCM), which is  des igned to help organizations  find, develop and retain their ta lent, enable 
col laboration, provide workforce ins ights , improve bus iness  process  efficiency and enable users  to connect to an integrated suite of HCM appl ications  
from a broad range of devices;

•Oracle Fus ion Sales , Service and Marketing, which are modules  that are des igned to be complete and integrated solutions  to help organizations  del iver 
cons istent and personal ized customer experiences  across  their customer channels , touch points  and interactions;

•NetSuite Appl ications  Suite, which is  general ly marketed to smal l  to medium-s ized organizations  and is  des igned to be a uni fied, cloud-based 
appl ications  suite to run a company’s  entire bus iness  and includes  financials  and ERP, customer relationship management, human resources, 
profess ional  services  and commerce, among others ; and
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•Oracle Health appl ications, which are des igned to enable medical  profess ionals  to del iver better healthcare to individual  patients  and communities .

In addition, we offer several  cloud-based industry solutions  to address  speci fic customer needs within certain industries  including communications, 
construction and engineering, education, financial  services , government, healthcare, hospital i ty, manufacturing and retai l , among others .

OCA offerings  are bui l t upon open industry standards  such as  SQL, Java and HTML5 for eas ier appl ication access ibi l i ty, integration and development. Customers  
access  OCA offerings  uti l i zing common web browsers  via  a  broad spectrum of devices .

Customers, partners  and other interested parties  may elect to subscribe to Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure training and certi fication programs through 
learning subscriptions  offered by Oracle Univers i ty. Learners  general ly have unl imited access  to course content del ivered during the subscription period.

We bel ieve that the comprehensiveness  and breadth of our cloud appl ications  offerings  di fferentiate us  from many of our competitors  that offer more l imited or 
specia l ized appl ications. Our cloud appl ications  offerings  are des igned to support connected bus iness  processes  in the cloud and are centered on an intuitive 
and conversational  user experience, a  responsive, open and flexible bus iness  core and a common data model . We bel ieve Oracle Fus ion Cloud ERP is  a  strategic 
suite of appl ications  that i s  foundational  to faci l i tating and extracting more bus iness  value out of the adoption of other OCA offerings , such as  Oracle Fus ion 
Cloud HCM and Oracle Fus ion Cloud EPM, as  customers  real ize the value of a  common data model  that spans  across  core bus iness  appl ications. We bel ieve our 
cloud appl ications  offerings  together remove bus iness  boundaries  between front- and back-office activi ties . Our cloud appl ications  offerings  are des igned to 
del iver a  secure data isolation architecture and flexible upgrades; sel f-service access  controls  for users ; a  Service-Oriented Architecture; bui l t-in socia l , mobi le 
and bus iness  ins ight capabi l i ties  (analytics); and a high performance, high avai labi l i ty infrastructure based on OCI. These cloud appl ications  capabi l i ties  are 
des igned to s impl i fy customer IT environments , reduce time to implement and upgrade, enable agi l i ty, reduce risk and provide a user-friendly experience. Our 
cloud appl ications  offerings  incorporate advanced technologies  such as  AI, Internet-of-Things  (IoT), machine learning, blockchain, digi ta l  ass istants  and 
advances  in the “human interface” and how users  interact with OCA offerings  within a  bus iness  context or to augment human capabi l i ties  to enhance 
productivi ty. 

Oracle Applications Licenses

Customers  have the abi l i ty to l icense Oracle Appl ications, including Oracle E-Bus iness  Suite, PeopleSoft, JD Edwards  and Siebel  appl ications, among others , for 
use within the Oracle Cloud or within their own cloud-based or on-premise IT environments . These l icensed appl ications  are des igned to manage and automate 
core bus iness  functions  across  the enterprise, including HCM, ERP, EPM, SCM, Customer Experience and industry-speci fic appl ications, as  described above, 
among others . 

Oracle Infrastructure Technologies

Oracle infrastructure technologies  are marketed, sold and del ivered through our cloud and l icense bus iness  and through our hardware bus iness . Our 
infrastructure technologies  are des igned to be flexible, cost-effective, standards-based, secure and highly-performant to faci l i tate the development, deployment, 
integration, management and extens ion across  an organization’s  cloud-based, on-premise and hybrid IT environments . 

Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ infrastructure technologies  include the Oracle Database and MySQL Database, the world’s  most popular database management 
systems; Java, the computer industry’s  most widely-used language by profess ional  software developers ; and middleware, including development tools , among 
others . These infrastructure technologies  are avai lable through a subscription to our OCI offerings  or through the purchase of a  l icense and related l icense 
support, at the customer’s  option, to run within the Oracle Cloud as  a  part of a  customer’s  cloud-based, on-premise or other IT environments . Our OCI offerings  
a lso include cloud-based compute, storage and networking capabi l i ties , appl ication development and cloud native services , among others , and new and 
innovative services  such as  AI Infrastructure offerings  and emerging technologies  such as  generative AI, agentic AI, IoT and blockchain. 
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Our hardware bus iness ’ infrastructure technologies  cons ist of hardware products  and certain unique hardware-related software offerings , including Oracle 
Engineered Systems, enterprise servers , s torage solutions, industry-speci fic hardware, vi rtual ization software, operating systems, management software and 
related hardware support services . Our customers  use Oracle hardware products  and related offerings  in their cloud-based, on-premise or hybrid IT 
environments  to run their internal  bus iness  operations  and to del iver products  and services  to their customers.

We des ign our infrastructure technologies  to work in our customers’ on-premise IT environments  that may include other Oracle or non-Oracle hardware or 
software components . Our flexible and open approach also provides  Oracle customers  with a  choice as  to how they can uti l i ze and deploy Oracle infrastructure 
technologies: through the use of Oracle Cloud offerings; on-premise in our customers’ data centers ; or a  hybrid combination of these two deployment models , 
such as  in the Oracle Exadata Cloud@Customer deployment models  (described further below). We focus  on the operation and integration of Oracle 
infrastructure technologies  to make them eas ier to deploy, extend, interconnect, manage and maintain for our customers  and to improve computing 
performance relative to our competitors ’ offerings . For example, the Oracle Exadata Database Machine integrates  multiple Oracle technology components  to 
work together to del iver improved performance, avai labi l i ty, scalabi l i ty, securi ty and operational  efficiency of Oracle Database workloads  relative to our 
competitors ’ products .

Oracle Infrastructure Technologies – Cloud and License Business Offerings

Our infrastructure cloud services  and l icense support revenues represented 56%, 54% and 53% of our total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues during 
fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Oracle Cloud Infrastructure (OCI)

OCI offerings  are des igned to del iver our infrastructure technologies , including compute, storage and networking services , as  a  service. OCI offerings  include 
our Oracle Autonomous Database offerings , among others , that Oracle runs, manages, upgrades  and supports  on behalf of the customer. We also offer a  
portfol io of specia l ized databases  to address  speci fic customer requirements , including MySQL, the world’s  most popular open source database, as  a  cloud 
service with Oracle HeatWave MySQL. We typical ly charge a prepaid fee that i s  decremented as  the OCI services  are consumed by the customer over a  stated 
time period. By uti l i zing OCI, customers  can leverage the Oracle Cloud for enterprise-grade, high-performance, scalable, cost-effective and secure infrastructure 
technologies  that are des igned to be rapidly deployable and provide real -time elastici ty whi le reducing the amount of time and resources  normal ly consumed by 
IT processes  within on-premise environments . OCI i s  des igned to be di fferentiated from other cloud vendors  to provide better securi ty by separating cloud 
control  code computers  from customer compute nodes. Customers  use OCI to bui ld and operate new appl ications  ranging from low-code to AI-powered cloud-
native appl ications, to run new workloads  and to move their existing Oracle or non-Oracle workloads  to the Oracle Cloud from their on-premise data centers  or 
other cloud-based IT environments , among other uses. We continue to invest in OCI to improve features  and performance; to expand the catalog of cloud-based 
infrastructure tools  and services  that we provide; to increase the capacity and geographic footprint to del iver these services; to s impl i fy the processes  for 
migrating workloads  to the Oracle Cloud; and to provide customers  with the abi l i ty to run workloads  across  di fferent IT environments , the Oracle Cloud as  wel l  
as  other third-party clouds  in both hybrid and multicloud deployment models . 

Oracle customers  and partners  uti l i ze OCI offerings  for platform-related services  that are based upon the Oracle Database, Java and Oracle Middleware, 
including open source and other tools  for a  variety of use cases  across  data management (including the use of Oracle Autonomous Database and Oracle 
HeatWave MySQL), appl ications  development, integration, content management, analytics , IT management and governance, securi ty and rapidly emerging 
technologies  such as  AI and machine learning. OCI AI offerings  are des igned to be embedded into customer appl ications  for a  variety of predictive use cases , 
including, among others , the servicing of machine parts  that are at risk of fa i l ing, us ing generative AI for fault detection on an assembly l ine, improving 
customer experiences  in the 
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purchas ing of consumer products , the stocking of retai ler store shelves , credit fraud detection and financial  model ing to stay within a  bus iness ’ forecasts . 

Oracle customers  and partners  a lso uti l i ze OCI offerings  for highly scalable, avai lable and secure compute, storage and networking services . OCI compute 
services  range from virtual  machines  to graphics  process ing unit-based offerings  to bare metal  servers  and include options  for high I/O workloads  and high-
performance computing to run traditional  compute-intens ive workloads  and AI models . OCI storage offerings  include block, fi le, object and archive storage 
services . In addition, our OCI offerings  include networking, connectivi ty and edge services  that help connect customers’ data centers  and third-party clouds  with 
our OCI services  for the creation of distributed and multicloud architectures .

In addition to the ful l  sui te of OCI offerings  del ivered by Oracle publ ic cloud regions  across  the globe and by our multicloud partnerships , we provide our 
customers  with flexibi l i ty by offering certain OCI services  within a  customer’s  own data center, such as :

•Oracle Exadata Cloud@Customer, which is  des igned to enable customers  to run Oracle Autonomous Database and Oracle Exadata Database Service 
securely in their own data centers  behind their fi rewal ls  whi le having the services  managed by Oracle;

•OCI Dedicated Region, which is  des igned to enable customers  to bring a  sel f-contained OCI instance into their data centers  whi le access ing a  
substantia l  portfol io of OCI and OCA offerings;

•OCI Sovereign Cloud, which is  des igned to enable customers  to uti l i ze OCI services  whi le address ing restrictions  imposed upon customers  that operate 
in certain regulated industries , enti ties  or jurisdictions. This  capabi l i ty now also a l lows us  to offer sovereign AI to customers  who want the latest in AI 
innovations  whi le operating within their regulatory environments;

•Oracle Al loy, which is  engineered to enable partners  to control  the commercial  and customer experience to address  their speci fic market needs for cloud 
services; and

•Oracle Compute Cloud@Customer and Oracle Roving Edge Infrastructure, which are des igned to enable customers  to access  cloud computing and 
storage services  at the edge of networks  and in general ly disconnected locations  in order to accelerate deployment of cloud workloads  outs ide of the 
data center.

Oracle Autonomous Database

Oracle Autonomous Database is  des igned to del iver performance and scale for enterprise database workloads  with automated database operations  and pol icy- 
and AI- and machine learning-driven optimization by combining certain Oracle infrastructure technologies , including the Oracle Database, OCI, Oracle Exadata 
and native AI and machine learning capabi l i ties , among others . Oracle Autonomous Database is  des igned to be sel f-driving, automating routine database 
administration tasks , including maintenance, tuning, patching, scal ing, securi ty and backup. Oracle Autonomous Database is  engineered to lower labor costs  
and reduce human error whi le us ing machine learning-driven diagnostics  for fault prediction and error handl ing and is  a lso engineered to provide automatic 
threat detection and remediation. Oracle Autonomous Database is  des igned to enable on-demand, automatic scal ing of database resources  combined with 
consumption-based pricing in order to help organizations  lower costs  by paying only for resources  used. The integration of Oracle Autonomous Database with 
other Oracle Cloud services , such as  Java Cloud and the Oracle APEX low-code appl ication development service, a long with open interfaces  and integrations, i s  
des igned to provide developers  with a  modern, open platform to develop new and innovative cloud-native appl ications.

For analytics  workloads, Oracle Autonomous Database is  des igned to provide customers  with easy-to-use analytics  tools  and machine learning capabi l i ties  
that are accelerated us ing Oracle Exadata’s  scale-out infrastructure and work with Oracle Analytics  Cloud and third-party analytics  tools . We bel ieve Oracle 
Autonomous Database’s  bui l t-in developer capabi l i ties  and automation can enable organizations  to quickly deploy new data marts  and data warehouses; move 
existing ones  to the cloud; and create data lakes. Al l  of these capabi l i ties  are des igned to enable 
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organizations  to gain new ins ights  into customer behavior, more accurately anticipate future demand, a l ign workforce deployment with bus iness  activi ty 
forecasts  and accelerate the pace of operations, among other benefi ts .

For transaction process ing workloads, Oracle Autonomous Database is  des igned to enable organizations  to securely run a mix of high-performance 
transactions  of ranging complexity. It i s  a lso des igned to enable organizations  to efficiently support dynamic workloads, conduct real -time analys is  of 
transactional  data and lower administration costs . Oracle Autonomous Database is  avai lable on OCI for shared or dedicated deployments  and on-premise with 
Oracle Exadata Cloud@Customer and OCI Dedicated Region. In addition, Oracle Autonomous Database is  avai lable on other hyperscale cloud IT environments , 
such as  Amazon Web Services , Google Cloud and Microsoft Azure.

We offer advanced AI functional i ty, such as  AI Vector Search and Select AI, in our recent release of Oracle Database 23ai , which enables  customers  to leverage 
their data for advanced generative AI functional i ty without needing to dupl icate and maintain such data securely in other databases  or external  systems, whi le 
a lso providing customers  with an option to uti l i ze generative AI large language models  (LLMs) of their choice.

Oracle Database Licenses

Oracle Database is  the world’s  most popular enterprise database and is  des igned to enable rel iable and secure storage, retrieval  and manipulation of a l l  forms 
of data. Oracle Database is  l icensed throughout the world by bus inesses  and organizations  of a l l  s izes  for a  multi tude of purposes, including, among others , for 
use within the Oracle Cloud to del iver our OCA and OCI offerings; for use as  a  cloud l icense by a  number of cloud-based vendors  as  a  component of their 
respective cloud offerings; for packaged and custom appl ications  for transaction process ing; and for data warehousing and bus iness  intel l igence. Oracle 
Database may be deployed in various  IT environments , including Oracle Publ ic Cloud, Oracle Exadata Cloud@Customer, OCI Dedicated Region, Oracle Al loy, 
other cloud-based IT environments  and on-premise data centers , among others . Oracle Database Enterprise Edition is  avai lable with a  number of optional  add-
on products  to address  speci fic customer requirements . As  described above, customers  may elect to purchase l icense support for Oracle Database l icenses. We 
also offer Oracle Database as  a  cloud service, such as  with Oracle Exadata Database Service and Oracle Base Database Service.

Oracle Middleware Licenses

We l icense our Oracle Middleware, which is  a  broad fami ly of integrated appl ication infrastructure software, for use in various  IT environments . Oracle 
Middleware is  des igned to enable customers  to des ign and integrate Oracle and non-Oracle bus iness  appl ications, automate bus iness  processes , scale 
appl ications  to meet customer demand, s impl i fy securi ty and compl iance, manage l i fecycles  of documents  and get actionable, targeted bus iness  intel l igence. 
Bui l t with Oracle’s  Java technology platform, Oracle Middleware products  are des igned to be a foundation for custom, packaged and composite appl ications, 
thereby s impl i fying and reducing time-to-deployment. Oracle Middleware is  des igned to protect customers’ IT investments  and work with both Oracle and non-
Oracle databases, middleware and appl ications  software through an open architecture and adherence to industry standards. In addition, Oracle Middleware 
supports  multiple development languages  and tools , which enables  developers  to flexibly bui ld once and deploy appl ications  global ly across  websites , portals  
and cloud-based appl ications  uti l i zing a  variety of IT environments .

Among our other middleware l icense offerings , we l icense development tools , such as  Oracle WebLogic Server for Java appl ication development, and Oracle 
Identi ty Manager, which automates  user identi ty provis ioning and al lows enterprises  to manage the end-to-end l i fecycle of user identi ties  across  a l l  enterprise 
resources. Organizations  may elect to purchase l icense support, as  described above, for Oracle Middleware l icenses. We also offer certain of our middleware 
capabi l i ties  as  a  part of our OCI offerings . 

Java Licenses

Java is  the world’s  most popular programming language among profess ional  developers  and is  used to del iver cloud development and deployment services , 
microservices , analytics , data management, blockchain, securi ty and continuous integration tools  for numerous platforms and technologies , including 
websites , enterprise and consumer appl ications, embedded devices  and large-scale systems. Java is  des igned to enable developers  to write software on 
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a s ingle platform and run i t on many other di fferent platforms, independent of operating system and hardware architecture. Java has  been adopted by both 
independent software vendors  (ISVs) that have bui l t their products  us ing Java and by enterprise organizations  bui lding custom appl ications  or consuming Java-
based ISV products . Customers  general ly purchase Java offerings  through subscriptions  that include l icenses  and support services .

Oracle License Support

We provide customers  the option to purchase l icense support contracts  in connection with the purchase of Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure l icenses. 
Substantia l ly a l l  of our customers  opt to purchase l icense support contracts  when they purchase these l icenses  to run within the Oracle Cloud or other cloud-
based and on-premise IT environments . We bel ieve our l icense support offerings  protect and enhance our customers’ investments  in Oracle appl ications  and 
infrastructure technologies  because they provide proactive and personal ized support services  and unspeci fied l icense upgrades  and enhancements  during the 
term of the support period. Substantia l ly a l l  l i cense support customers  renew their support contracts  with us  upon expiration in order to continue to benefi t 
from technical  support services  and the periodic i ssuance of unspeci fied updates  and enhancements , which current l icense support customers  are enti tled to 
receive. Our l icense support contracts  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net fees  paid by the customer to purchase the l icense, are typical ly one year in 
duration and are general ly bi l led to the customer annual ly in advance.

Oracle Infrastructure Technologies – Hardware Business Offerings

Oracle infrastructure technologies  include a broad selection of hardware products  and related hardware support services  to power various  IT environments . 
Our hardware products  and services  include offerings  des igned for speci fic industries , including the communications, food and beverage, healthcare, 
hospital i ty and retai l  industries , among others . We also offer a  portfol io of operating systems, including Oracle Linux and Oracle Solaris , vi rtual ization and 
other hardware-related software and a range of management technologies  and products , including Oracle Enterprise Manager and the Oracle Cloud 
Observabi l i ty and Management platform. These products  are des igned to help customers  efficiently operate complex IT environments , including both end users ’ 
and service providers ’ cloud IT environments . Our primary hardware offerings  are further described below.

Oracle Engineered Systems

Oracle Engineered Systems are core to our cloud-based and on-premise data center infrastructure offerings . Oracle Engineered Systems are pre-bui l t products , 
combining multiple unique Oracle technology components , that may include database, storage, operating system, vi rtual ization and management software with 
server, s torage, networking hardware and other technologies . Oracle Engineered Systems are des igned to del iver improved performance, scalabi l i ty, avai labi l i ty, 
securi ty and operational  efficiency relative to our competitors ’ products ; to be upgraded effectively and efficiently; and to s impl i fy maintenance cycles  and 
improve securi ty by providing a  s ingle solution for patching. For example, Oracle Exadata Database Machine is  an integrated platform that is  optimized for 
achieving higher performance, scalabi l i ty and avai labi l i ty at a  lower cost by combining Oracle Database, storage and operating system software with Oracle 
server, s torage and networking hardware. We offer our Oracle Engineered Systems through flexible deployment options, including on-premise, as  a  cloud 
offering in OCI, as  a  platform for Oracle Database services  in Oracle multicloud partner data centers  and as  a  hybrid cloud offering in customer data centers . 

Oracle Servers and Storage 

We offer a  wide range of Oracle server products  that are des igned for miss ion-cri tical  enterprise environments  and that are key components  of our Oracle 
Engineered Systems and Oracle Cloud offerings . We have two fami l ies  of server products : those us ing x86 microprocessors  and those based on the Oracle SPARC 
microprocessor. We also offer Oracle storage products , which combine flash, disk and server technologies  with optimized software and unique integrations  
with the Oracle Database offering greater performance and efficiency and lower total  cost relative to our competitors ’ s torage products . Certain of our storage 
products  provide integration with Oracle Cloud Services  for backup and archiving.



Table of Contents

 

 

11

Oracle Hardware Support 

Oracle hardware support offerings  provide customers  with unspeci fied software updates  for software components  that are essentia l  to the functional i ty of our 
hardware products  such as  for Oracle operating systems and fi rmware. These offerings  can also include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  
support services . We continue to evolve hardware support processes  that are intended to proactively identi fy and solve qual i ty i ssues. Hardware support 
contracts  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of net hardware products  fees. 

Oracle Services 

We offer services  to help customers  and partners  maximize the performance of their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies . We 
bel ieve that our services  are di fferentiated based on our expertise in Oracle technologies , extens ive experience and broad sets  of intel lectual  property and best 
practices . Our services  offerings  substantia l ly include, among others :

•consulting services , which are des igned to help our customers  and global  system integrator partners  more successful ly architect and deploy our cloud 
and l icense offerings , including IT strategy al ignment, enterprise architecture planning and des ign, implementation, integration, appl ication 
development, securi ty assessments  and ongoing software enhancements  and upgrades. We uti l i ze a  global , blended del ivery model  to optimize value for 
our customers  and partners , which involves  the use of consultants  from local  geographies , industry specia l is ts  and consultants  from our global  del ivery 
and solution centers ; and

•advanced customer services , which are support services  provided by Oracle to a  customer to enable increased performance and higher avai labi l i ty of a  
customer’s  Oracle products  and services .

Oracle Cloud Operations

Oracle Cloud Operations  del iver our Oracle Cloud Services  to customers  through a secure, rel iable, scalable, enterprise grade cloud infrastructure platform 
managed by Oracle employees  within a  global  network of data centers , which we refer to as  the Oracle Cloud. The Oracle Cloud enables  secure and isolated 
cloud-based instances  for each of our customers  to access  the functional i ty of Oracle Cloud Services  via  a  broad spectrum of devices . Oracle Cloud Operations  
leverage automated software tools  to enable the rapid del ivery of the latest cloud technology capabi l i ties  to the Oracle Cloud as  they become avai lable and 
provide Oracle customers  access  to the latest Oracle releases. We have invested in the rapid expansion of the Oracle Cloud by increas ing existing data center 
capacity and adding data centers  in new geographic locations  to meet current and expected customer demand. We expect this  trend wi l l  continue. 

Manufacturing 

We rely on third-party manufacturing partners  to produce most of our hardware products  that we market and sel l  to customers  and uti l i ze internal ly to del iver 
Oracle Cloud Services , and we distribute most of our hardware products  from these partners ’ faci l i ties . Our manufacturing processes  are substantia l ly based 
on standardization of components  across  product types  and central ization of assembly and distribution centers . Production of our hardware products  requires  
that we purchase materia ls , suppl ies , product subassembl ies  and ful l  assembl ies  from a number of suppl iers . For most of our hardware products , we have 
existing a l ternative sources  of supply or such sources  are readi ly avai lable. However, we do rely on sole sources  for certain hardware components . We monitor 
and evaluate potentia l  ri sks  of disruption within our supply chain operations. Refer to Risk Factors  included in Item 1A within this  Annual  Report for additional  
discuss ion of the chal lenges  we encounter with respect to the sources  and avai labi l i ty of suppl ies  for our hardware products  and the related risks  to our 
bus inesses. 

Sales and Marketing

We directly market and sel l  our cloud, l icense, hardware, support and services  offerings  global ly to bus inesses  of many s izes  and in many industries , 
government agencies  and educational  insti tutions. We also market and sel l  our offerings  global ly through indirect channels . 
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In the United States  (U.S.), our sales  and services  employees  are based throughout the country. Outs ide the U.S., our international  subs idiaries  sel l , support and 
service our offerings  in their local  countries  as  wel l  as  within other foreign countries  where we do not operate through a direct sales  subs idiary. Our geographic 
coverage al lows us  to draw on bus iness  and technical  expertise from a global  workforce, provides  stabi l i ty to our operations  and revenue streams to offset 
geography-speci fic economic trends  and offers  us  an opportunity to take advantage of new markets  for our offerings . Our international  operations  subject us  to 
certain risks , which are more ful ly described in Risk Factors  included in Item 1A of this  Annual  Report. A summary of our domestic and international  revenues 
and long-l ived assets  i s  set forth in Note 13 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report.

We also market our product offerings  worldwide through indirect channels . The companies  that comprise our indirect channel  network are members  of the 
Oracle Partner Network. The Oracle Partner Network is  a  global  program that manages  our bus iness  relationships  with a  large, broad-based network of 
companies , including cloud and l icense, hardware and services  suppl iers , system integrators  and resel lers  that del iver innovative solutions  and services  based 
upon and in conjunction with our product offerings . By offering our partners  access  to our product offerings , educational  information, technical  services , 
marketing and sales  support, the Oracle Partner Network program extends our market reach by providing our partners  with the resources  they need to be 
successful  in del ivering solutions  to customers  global ly.

Research and Development

We develop the substantia l  majori ty of our products  and services  offerings  internal ly uti l i zing the ski l l s  and divers i ty of a  global  workforce. In addition, we 
have extended our products  and services  offerings  and intel lectual  property through acquis i tions  of bus inesses  and technologies . We also purchase or l icense 
intel lectual  property rights  in certain ci rcumstances. Internal  development a l lows us  to maintain technical  control  over the des ign and development of our 
products . We have a number of U.S. and foreign patents  and pending appl ications  that relate to various  aspects  of our products  and technology. However, 
a l though we bel ieve that our patents  have value, neither our bus iness  as  a  whole nor any of our principal  bus inesses  are materia l ly dependent on a s ingle 
patent. Rapid technological  advances  in cloud, software and hardware development, evolving standards  in computer hardware and software technology, 
changing customer needs and frequent new product introductions, offerings  and enhancements  characterize the markets  in which we compete. We plan to 
continue to dedicate a  s igni ficant amount of resources  to research and development efforts  to develop new products  and services  offerings , as  wel l  as  maintain 
and improve our current offerings . 

Human Capital Resources

At Oracle, our success  is  driven by the qual i ty of our people, who we bel ieve are among the best and brightest in the industry. We strive to attract and retain 
ta lented employees, to support our employees’ success  and wel l -being and to foster a  culture of inclus ion where everyone is  empowered to have a voice in 
driving innovation. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors  (the Compensation Committee) i s  responsible for reviewing and monitoring matters  
related to human capital  management, including ta lent acquis i tion and retention.
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Workforce

As of May 31, 2025, we employed approximately 162,000 ful l -time employees, of which approximately 58,000 were employed in the U.S. and approximately 
104,000 were employed international ly. Our approximate employee counts  by l ines  of bus iness  are:

  29,000   Cl oud s e rvi ce s  a nd l i ce ns e  s upport ope ra ti ons    37,000   Se rvi ce s
  31,000   Sa l e s  a nd ma rke ti ng    50,000   Re s e a rch a nd de ve l opme nt
  3,000   Ha rdwa re    12,000   Ge ne ra l  a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve

The average tenure of our employees  is  approximately eight years  and 30% of our employees  have been employed with Oracle for ten or more years .

None of our employees  in the U.S. are represented by labor unions; however, in certain foreign subs idiaries , labor unions  or workers ’ counci ls  represent some of 
our employees.

Employee Experience

In order to attract and retain high qual i ty ta lent, Oracle strives  to del iver a  great employee experience, anchored by an inclus ive culture where employees  can 
thrive, engage in meaningful  work, leverage growth opportunities  and focus  on their wel l -being. We support employee wel l -being from multiple dimensions, 
including flexible benefi ts , economic, health, development, l i festyle and compensation.

We bel ieve that one of the primary reasons  candidates  join Oracle is  for the opportunity to develop their career and participate in our global  inclus ive culture. 
We have programs and resources  to help our employees  explore, bui ld and achieve their career goals . By promoting an inclus ive culture that leverages  a  broad 
range of perspectives  and fosters  a  sense of belonging, we inspire and engage our workforce to solve complex problems to help our customers  across  the globe. 

We promote regular career conversations  between leaders  and employees, focused on helping employees  identi fy and take steps  to grow their careers . Our 
Talent Review process , which runs  on Oracle Fus ion Cloud HCM, provides  the mechanism for leaders  to review and discuss  opportunities  and action plans  to 
develop employees. 29% of our open non-entry level  pos itions  were fi l led internal ly in fi scal  2025, providing growth opportunities  and retaining cri tical  
knowledge and talent.

We bel ieve that helping our employees  learn and apply new ski l l s  i s  key to retaining and engaging them. It i s  a lso cri tical  to our abi l i ty to innovate and rapidly 
evolve. We bel ieve that our eas i ly access ible learning resources  enable us  to improve our employees’ learning experience and better measure learning 
consumption. Oracle employees  received more than 4.7 mi l l ion hours  of tra ining in fi scal  2025 and accessed onl ine learning content at an average rate of 
approximately 2.5 mi l l ion views per month. Our employees  take advantage of instructor-led classes , vi rtual  l ibrary content and onl ine learning resources  on 
sales , bus iness , product, market/industry, leadership, technical  and compl iance ski l l s , wel l -being and personal  development related topics .

Leaders Who Listen

We bel ieve that an important aspect of creating a  workforce that supports  employee, customer and bus iness  success  is  l i s tening to employee feedback. We 
share the results  of our annual  employee engagement survey with leaders , including members  of our Board of Directors  (the Board). In fi scal  2025, 83% of our 
employees  participated in the annual  survey. Leaders  l i s ten to employees, evaluate feedback and priori tize actions  to enhance employee, bus iness  and customer 
success .

Making a Difference

Each year, through our volunteering and giving programs, Oracle employees  donate tens  of thousands of volunteer hours  and mi l l ions  of dol lars  (matched by 
Oracle) to a  wide variety of causes. Oracle and our employees  a lso rise to the occas ion in times of cris is . 
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During fiscal  2025, Oracle donated tens  of mi l l ions  of dol lars  to advance education, promote health, s trengthen communities  and protect the environment. We 
also have two nonprofi t foundations  that focus  on chi ldren and young people. Oracle Health Foundation makes  pediatric case grants  avai lable global ly that 
fund medical  care ranging from hearing a ids  to major surgeries . Oracle Education Foundation teaches  young people how to innovate, solve problems with 
technology and shape a better future. Since 2014, Oracle has  partnered with Des ign Tech High School , a  publ ic charter school  for which we bui l t a  home at our 
Redwood Shores, Cal i fornia  campus in 2016.

Seasonality and Cyclicality

Our quarterly revenues have historical ly been affected by a  variety of seasonal  factors , including the structure of our sales  force incentive compensation plans, 
which are common in the IT industry. In each fiscal  year, our total  revenues and operating margins  are typical ly highest in our fourth fiscal  quarter and lowest 
in our fi rst fi scal  quarter. See “Cloud and License Bus iness” in Item 7 of this  Annual  Report for more information regarding the seasonal i ty and cycl ical i ty of the 
revenues, expenses  and margins  of our cloud and l icense bus iness , which is  our largest bus iness .

Competition

We face intense competition in a l l  aspects  of our bus iness . The nature of the IT industry creates  a  competitive landscape that i s  constantly evolving as  fi rms 
emerge, expand or are acquired, as  technology evolves  and as  customer demands and competitive pressures  otherwise change.

Our customers  are demanding less  complexity and lower total  cost in the implementation, sourcing, integration and ongoing maintenance of their IT 
environments . Our enterprise cloud, l icense and hardware offerings  compete directly with certain offerings  from some of the largest and most competitive 
companies  in the world, including Adobe Systems Incorporated, Alphabet Inc., Amazon.com, Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc., Intel  Corporation, International  Bus iness  
Machines  Corporation, Microsoft Corporation, Salesforce, Inc. and SAP SE, as  wel l  as  other companies  l ike Hewlett-Packard Enterprise and Workday, Inc. In 
addition, due to the low barriers  to entry in many of our market segments , new technologies  and new and growing competitors  frequently emerge to chal lenge 
our offerings . Our competitors  range from companies  offering broad IT solutions  across  many of our l ines  of bus iness  to vendors  providing point solutions, or 
offerings  focused on a speci fic functional i ty, product area or industry. In addition, as  we expand into new market segments , we face increased competition as  
we compete with existing competitors , as  wel l  as  fi rms that may be partners  in other areas  of our bus iness  and other fi rms with whom we have not previous ly 
competed. For example, fol lowing our acquis i tion of Cerner Corporation, we also face competition from large healthcare IT providers  such as  Al lscripts  
Healthcare Solutions, Inc., Arcadia Solutions, athenahealth, Inc., Epic Systems Corporation and InterSystems Corporation, among others . Moreover, we or our 
competitors  may take certain strategic actions—including acquis i tions, partnerships  and joint ventures  or repositioning of product l ines—which invite even 
greater competition in one or more product offering categories . 

Key competitive factors  in each of the segments  in which we currently compete and may compete in the future include: total  cost of ownership, performance, 
scalabi l i ty, rel iabi l i ty, securi ty, functional i ty, efficiency, ease of use, speed to production and qual i ty of technical  support. Our products  and services  sales  and 
the relative strength of our products  and services  versus  those of our competitors  are a lso directly and indirectly affected by the fol lowing, among other factors :

•market adoption of cloud-based IT offerings , including Oracle Cloud Services  offerings;

•our abi l i ty to develop AI technologies  and features  and to have access  to AI technologies  of competitors ; 

•the ease of deployment, use, transacting for and maintenance of our products  and services  offerings;

•compatibi l i ty between Oracle products  and services  deployed within local  IT environments  and publ ic cloud IT environments , including our Oracle 
Cloud environments;

•the broader “platform” competition between our industry standard Java technology platform and the .NET programming environment of Microsoft;

•operating system competition among our Oracle Solaris  and Linux operating systems, with a l ternatives  including Microsoft’s  Windows Server and other 
UNIX and Linux operating systems;
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•the adoption of open source al ternatives  to commercial  software by enterprise software customers;

•products , features  and functional i ty developed internal ly by customers  and their IT staff; 

•products , features  and functional i ty customized and implemented for customers  by consultants , systems integrators  or other third parties ; and

•the attractiveness  of offerings  from business  process ing outsourcers .

For more information about the competitive risks  we face, refer to Item 1A Risk Factors  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report. 

Governmental Regulation

We operate global ly and are subject to numerous U.S. federal , s tate and foreign laws and regulations  covering a  wide variety of subject matters . For information 
about governmental  regulations  appl icable to our bus iness , refer to Item 1A Risk Factors  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report.

Available Information

Our Annual  Reports  on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports  on Form 10-Q, Current Reports  on Form 8-K and amendments  to those reports  fi led pursuant to Sections  
13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act are avai lable, free of charge, on the SEC website at www.sec.gov and our Investor Relations  website at 
www.oracle.com/investor as  soon as  reasonably practicable after we electronical ly fi le such materia ls  with, or furnish them to, the SEC. We use our Investor 
Relations  website as  a  means of disclos ing materia l  non-publ ic information. Accordingly, investors  should monitor our Investor Relations  website, in addition 
to fol lowing our press  releases, SEC fi l ings  and publ ic conference cal ls  and webcasts . In addition, information regarding our environmental  pol icy and global  
sustainabi l i ty ini tiatives  and solutions  are a lso avai lable on our website at www.oracle.com/social -impact. The information posted on or access ible through 
our website is  not incorporated into this  Annual  Report. The references  to our websites  are intended to be inactive textual  references  only.

Information About Our Executive Officers

Our executive officers  are l i s ted below:
 

Name  Office(s)
Lawrence J. El l i son  Chairman of the Board of Directors  and Chief Technology Officer
Safra A. Catz  Chief Executive Officer and Director
Jeffrey O. Henley  Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Clayton Magouyrk  Pres ident, Oracle Cloud Infrastructure
Michael  Sici l ia  Pres ident, Industries
Stuart Levey  Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Legal  Officer
Maria  Smith  Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Accounting Officer

Mr. El l i son, 80, has  been our Chairman of the Board and Chief Technology Officer s ince September 2014. He served as  our Chief Executive Officer from June 
1977, when he founded Oracle, unti l  September 2014. He has  served as  a  Director s ince June 1977. He previous ly served as  our Chairman of the Board from May 
1995 to January 2004.

Ms. Catz, 63, has  been our Chief Executive Officer s ince September 2014. She served as  our Pres ident from January 2004 to September 2014, our Chief Financial  
Officer most recently from Apri l  2011 unti l  September 2014 and a Director s ince October 2001. She was previous ly our Chief Financial  Officer from November 
2005 unti l  September 2008 and our Interim Chief Financial  Officer from Apri l  2005 unti l  July 2005. Prior to being named our Pres ident, she held various  other 
pos itions  with us  s ince joining Oracle in 1999. She previous ly served as  a  director of The Walt Disney Company. 

Mr. Henley, 80, has  served as  our Vice Chairman of the Board s ince September 2014. He previous ly served as  our Chairman of the Board from January 2004 to 
September 2014 and has  served as  a  Director s ince June 1995. He served as  our Executive Vice Pres ident and Chief Financial  Officer from March 1991 to July 
2004.
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Mr. Magouyrk, 38, has  been our Pres ident, Oracle Cloud Infrastructure s ince June 2025. From December 2019 to June 2025, he served as  an Executive Vice 
Pres ident in various  roles , including Executive Vice Pres ident, Cloud Infrastructure and Executive Vice Pres ident, Oracle Cloud Infrastructure Engineering. Prior 
to being named Executive Vice Pres ident, Mr. Magouyrk held various  other pos itions  with us  s ince joining Oracle in 2014. Prior to joining Oracle, he was a  
senior engineer at Amazon and Amazon Web Services  from 2008 to 2014.

Mr. Sici l ia , 54, has  been our Pres ident, Industries  s ince June 2025. From October 2019 to June 2025, he served as  an Executive Vice Pres ident in various  roles , 
including Executive Vice Pres ident, Industries  and Executive Vice Pres ident, Global  Bus iness  Units . Prior to being named Executive Vice Pres ident, Mr. Sici l ia  
held various  other pos itions  with us  s ince joining Oracle in 2009. Prior to joining Oracle, he was Chief Technology Officer at Primavera Systems and held other 
pos itions  from 1993 to 2008.

Mr. Levey, 62, has  been our Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Legal  Officer s ince October 2022. Prior to joining Oracle, Mr. Levey served as  Chief Executive Officer 
of Diem Association from August 2020 unti l  June 2022, and as  Chief Legal  Officer of HSBC Holdings , plc from January 2012 to August 2020.

Ms. Smith, 59, has  been our Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Accounting Officer s ince December 2022. She served as  our Senior Vice Pres ident, Corporate 
Control ler from December 2020 to December 2022, as  our Senior Vice Pres ident, Ass istant Corporate Control ler from September 2017 to December 2020, and as  
our Vice Pres ident, Global  Control lers  Organization and Mergers  and Acquis i tions  from November 2012 to September 2017. She held various  other pos itions  
with us  s ince joining Oracle in 1999.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in rapidly changing economic and technological  environments  that present numerous risks , many of which are driven by factors  that we cannot 
control  or predict. The fol lowing discuss ion, as  wel l  as  our discuss ion in Item 7 Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of 
Operations, highl ights  some of these risks . The risks  described below are not exhaustive and you should careful ly cons ider these risks  and uncertainties  before 
investing in our securi ties .

Business and Operational Risks

We may be unsuccessful in developing and selling new products and services, integrating acquired products and services and enhancing our existing products and 
services.   Our industry is  characterized by rapid technological  advances, intense competition, changing del ivery models , evolving standards  in communications  
infrastructure, increas ingly sophisticated customer needs and frequent new product introductions  and enhancements . We have continued to refresh and release 
new offerings  of our cloud products  and services , but i f we are unable to develop new or sufficiently di fferentiated products  and services , enhance and improve 
our product offerings  and support services  in a  timely manner or pos ition and price our products  and services  to meet demand, customers  may not purchase or 
subscribe to our l icense, hardware or cloud offerings  or renew l icense support, hardware support or cloud subscriptions  contracts . Renewals  of these contracts  
are important to our future success . In addition, we cannot provide any assurance that the standards  on which we choose to develop new products  wi l l  a l low us  
to compete effectively for bus iness  opportunities  in emerging areas.

In addition, our bus iness  may be adversely affected i f:
•we do not continue to develop and release new or enhanced products  and services  within the anticipated time frames;

•infrastructure costs  to del iver new or enhanced products  and services  take longer or result in greater costs  than anticipated;

•supply chain costs , energy costs  or other costs  to develop, produce or distribute our products  and services  result in greater costs  than anticipated;

•we are unable to accurately anticipate, plan for and manage future data center capacity needs in a  timely manner to meet current or expected customer 
demand;
•we fai l  to meet our contractual  service level  commitments;

•there is  a  delay in market acceptance of and di fficulty in trans itioning new and existing customers  to new, enhanced or acquired product l ines  or services;

•sanctions, tari ffs , export controls , geopol i tical  instabi l i ty and related market disruptions  or other regulatory, legis lative or other trade and non-tari ff barriers , 
including retal iatory measures, impede or prevent us  from serving certain customers  or restrict our customers  from operating in speci fic jurisdictions;
•inflation, trade pol icy, geopol i tical  conditions  and other macroeconomic factors  reduce customer demand for our products  and services  or cause us  to be 
unable to meet current or expected customer demand;
•there are changes  in IT trends  that we do not adequately anticipate or timely address  with our product development efforts ;

•we do not optimize complementary product l ines  and services  in a  timely manner; or

•we fai l  to adequately integrate, support or enhance acquired product l ines  or services .

In addition, our profi tabi l i ty and revenues could be adversely impacted i f we lose one or more of our key customers  for any reason, including as  a  result of any 
of the factors  discussed above. Any such loss  could a lso l imit or reduce our growth in future periods.

Our AI products may not operate as anticipated, which could adversely affect our reputation, revenues and profitability.   Machine learning and AI, including 
generative AI, agentic AI and LLMs, are increas ingly driving innovations  in technology, and AI technology and services  are highly competitive and rapidly 
evolving. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, s igni ficant resources  to bui ld and support our AI products . In addition, we rely on partners  and 
suppl iers  to produce some of our AI products . If we are unable to introduce new AI products  or i f our AI products  fa i l  to operate as  anticipated or as  wel l  as  
competing products  or otherwise do not meet customer needs, or i f our competitors ’ AI products  achieve higher market acceptance than ours , we may fa i l  to 
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recoup our investments  in AI and our bus iness  and reputation may be harmed. Further, i f we do not continue to invest s igni ficant resources  to develop and 
support our AI products , we may fa l l  behind technological  developments  and evolving industry standards, which would l ikewise harm our abi l i ty to compete. In 
addition, AI technologies  are rapidly changing and present evolving legal , regulatory and ethical  i ssues, including cla ims of bias , discrimination, a  perceived 
lack of transparency, as  wel l  as  sometimes unpredictable behaviors  or improper use of copyrighted or other protected materia l , such as  personal  and patient 
health information, any of which could expose us  or our customers  to reputational  or legal  risk and inhibit adoption of our AI products . Regulatory uncertainty, 
including the lack of comprehensive federal  legis lation and a patchwork of existing and proposed frameworks  and regulatory ini tiatives  in numerous 
jurisdictions, may expose us  to compl iance chal lenges  and uncertainties . Our fa i lure to adapt to these changes, or any fa i lure by our employees, contractors , 
partners , suppl iers  or agents  to comply with laws and regulations  appl icable to our AI products  or our related pol icies  and procedures, could result in legal , 
financial  and reputational  consequences  including, but not l imited to, being required to adjust or l imit our product offerings  or our use of AI in certain 
jurisdictions  to comply with new and evolving AI laws and regulations.

If we do not successfully execute our Oracle Cloud strategy, including our offerings of Oracle Cloud Services, our revenues and profitability may decline.   We 
provide our cloud and other offerings  to customers  worldwide via  a  variety of deployment models , including via  our cloud-based OCA and OCI offerings . As  
these bus iness  models  continue to evolve, we may not be able to compete effectively, generate s igni ficant revenues or maintain the profi tabi l i ty of our cloud 
offerings . Additional ly, the increas ing prevalence of various  cloud offering models  by us  and our competitors  may unfavorably impact the pricing of our cloud 
and l icense offerings . If we do not successful ly execute our cloud computing strategy or anticipate the cloud computing needs of our customers, our reputation 
as  a  cloud services  provider could be harmed and our revenues and profi tabi l i ty could decl ine.

As  customer demand for our cloud offerings  increases, we experience volati l i ty in our reported revenues and operating results  due to the di fferences  in timing of 
revenue recognition between our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense and hardware product arrangements  relative to our cloud offering arrangements . 
Customers  predominantly purchase our cloud offerings  on a subscription bas is , and revenues from these offerings  are general ly recognized ratably or as  
services  are consumed over the terms of the subscriptions. Consequently, any deterioration in sales  activi ty associated with our cloud offerings  may not be 
immediately observable in our consol idated statements  of operations. This  i s  in contrast to revenues associated with our l icense and hardware product 
arrangements , which are general ly recognized in ful l  at the time of del ivery of the related l icenses  and hardware products . In addition, we may not be able to 
accurately anticipate customer trans itions  from or be able to sufficiently backfi l l  reduced customer demand for our l icense, hardware and support offerings  
relative to the expected increase in customer adoption of and demand for our Oracle Cloud Services , which could adversely affect our revenues and 
profi tabi l i ty.

If we are unable to secure data center capacity at affordable rates or do not accurately plan for and manage our infrastructure capacity requirements, our 
profitability may decline.   As  a  part of our Oracle Cloud strategy, we plan our investment levels  based on estimates  of future revenues and customer demand and 
future anticipated rates  of growth. In recent periods, our cloud services  and l icense support expenses  have grown to meet current and expected demand for our 
cloud offerings , including investments  to increase our existing data center capacity and to establ ish data centers  in new geographic locations. In connection 
with these investments , we entered, and expect to continue to enter, into long-term lease commitments  with third-party data center providers  and other 
s igni ficant commitments  with suppl iers  of chips  and other data center infrastructure. If we underestimate customer demand or our data center capacity needs, 
we may face shortages  of avai lable infrastructure, l imiting our abi l i ty to support customer growth and potentia l ly caus ing us  to lose bus iness  to competitors . 
Conversely, i f we overestimate customer demand or our data center capacity needs, we could be locked into multi -year commitments  for excess  data center 
space, resulting in lower profi tabi l i ty and cash flows because our third-party data center vendors  general ly require us  to pay s igni ficant contract termination 
fees  to early exi t such obl igations. Data centers  in geographies  that we rely on may also be unavai lable on commercial ly reasonable terms or at a l l . Moreover, 
we do not control  the operation of these third-party data centers , and they may suffer interruptions  in service from events  beyond our control , including from 
acts  of government, natural  events , power loss , break-ins  or misconduct by those third parties . We have faced, and may continue to face, ris ing costs  for data 
center energy demands. In addition, we rely on third-party suppl iers  to provide equipment and components  required to outfi t these data centers  on a timely 
bas is . Ongoing or future delays  or the inabi l i ty to meet customer demand could cause the loss  of additional  sales , delay our revenue recognition or increase our 
costs , a l l  of which could adversely affect the margins  of our bus iness . We typical ly depreciate these assets  over their estimated useful  l ives , which could be 
shortened should our cloud strategies  change, which could adversely affect our profi tabi l i ty.
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Our products and services may not function properly if we experience significant coding, manufacturing or configuration errors in our cloud, license and hardware 
offerings.   Despite testing prior to the release and throughout the l i fecycle of a  product or service, our cloud, l icense and hardware offerings  sometimes contain 
coding, manufacturing or configuration errors  that can impact their function, performance and securi ty, and result in other negative consequences. The 
detection and correction of any errors  in released cloud, l icense or hardware offerings  can be time consuming and costly. Errors  in our cloud, l icense or 
hardware offerings , or errors  embedded in third-party software products  or services  incorporated into our own products , can affect their abi l i ty to properly 
function, integrate or operate with other cloud, l icense or hardware offerings; result in service interruptions, delays  or outages  of our cloud offerings; create 
securi ty vulnerabi l i ties  in our products  or services; delay the development or release of new products  or services  or new vers ions  of products  or services; and 
adversely affect market acceptance of our products  or services . If we experience any of these errors , or i f there are delays  in releas ing our cloud, l icense or 
hardware offerings  or new vers ions  of these offerings , our sales  could be affected and revenues could decl ine. In addition, we run Oracle’s  bus iness  operations  
as  wel l  as  cloud and other services  that we offer to our customers  on our products  and networks. Therefore, any flaws could affect our and our customers’ 
abi l i ties  to conduct bus iness  operations  and to ensure accuracy in financial  processes  and reporting, and may result in unanticipated costs  and interruptions. 
Enterprise customers  rely on our cloud, l icense and hardware offerings  and related services  to run their bus inesses , and errors  in our cloud, l icense and 
hardware offerings  and related services  could expose us  to product l iabi l i ty, performance and warranty cla ims as  wel l  as  s igni ficant harm to our brand and 
reputation, which could impact our future sales .

If we are unable to compete effectively, the results of operations and prospects for our business could be harmed.   We face intense competition in a l l  aspects  of 
our bus iness . The nature of the IT industry creates  a  competitive landscape that i s  constantly evolving as  fi rms emerge, expand or are acquired, as  technology 
evolves  and as  del ivery models  change. Our enterprise cloud, l icense and hardware offerings  compete directly with certain offerings  from some of the largest 
and most competitive companies  in the world, many of which have wel l -developed customer bases  and strong brand recognition. In addition, due to the low 
barriers  to entry in many of our market segments , new technologies  and new, agi le and growing competitors  frequently emerge to chal lenge our offerings . We 
bel ieve many vendors  spend amounts  in excess  of what Oracle spends to develop and market appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  including databases, 
middleware products , appl ication development tools , bus iness  appl ications, col laboration products  and bus iness  intel l igence, compute, storage and 
networking products , among others , which compete with Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure offerings . 

In addition, use of our competitors ’ technologies  can influence a customer’s  purchas ing decis ion or create an environment that makes  i t less  efficient to uti l i ze 
or migrate to Oracle products  and services . For example, we offer our customers  multicloud services  whereby our customers  can combine cloud services  from 
multiple clouds  with the goal  of optimizing cost, functional i ty and performance. OCI’s  multicloud services  work with a  number of our competitors ’ products , 
including Microsoft Azure, Amazon Web Services  and Google Cloud. This  multicloud strategy could lead our customers  to migrate away from our cloud offerings  
to our competitors ’ products  or l imit their purchases  of additional  Oracle products , ei ther of which could adversely affect our revenues and profi tabi l i ty.

Our competitors  may also seek to attract or retain customers  who might otherwise purchase our products  and services  by offering competing products  and 
services  on terms that we may not general ly find acceptable. We could lose customers  i f our competitors  introduce new competitive products , add new 
functional i ty, acquire competitive products , reduce prices , better execute on their sales  and marketing strategies , offer more flexible bus iness  practices , provide 
debt or equity financing to customers  or form strategic a l l iances  with other companies . Mergers , consol idations  or a l l iances  among our competitors , or 
acquis i tions  of our competitors  by large companies , may result in increased competition. 

If our competitors  offer deep discounts  on certain products  or services  or develop products  that the marketplace cons iders  more valuable, we may need to lower 
prices , introduce pricing models  and offerings  or offer other terms that are less  favorable to us  to compete successful ly. Any such changes  may reduce revenues 
and margins  and could adversely affect operating results . Additional ly, the increas ing prevalence of cloud del ivery models  offered by us  and our competitors  
may unfavorably impact the pricing of our other cloud and l icense, hardware and services  offerings , and we have incurred increased cloud del ivery expenses  as  
we expand our cloud operations  and update our infrastructure, a l l  of which could reduce our revenues and profi tabi l i ty. Our l icense support fees  and hardware 
support fees  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of our net l icense fees  and net new hardware products  fees , respectively. Our competitors  may offer lower 
pricing on their support offerings , which could put pressure on us  to further discount our offerings . If we do not adapt our pricing models  to reflect changes  in 
customer use of our products , changes  in customer demand or increased competition, our revenues could decrease.
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Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and our financial results.   Our customers  
depend on our support organization to resolve technical  i ssues  related to our appl ications  and infrastructure offerings . We may be unable to respond quickly 
enough to accommodate short-term increases  in customer demand for support services  or resolve issues  efficiently. Increased customer demand for these 
services , without corresponding revenues, could increase costs  and adversely affect our operating results . Any fa i lure to maintain high-qual i ty technical  
support, or even the perception that our support i s  insufficient, could adversely affect our reputation, hinder our abi l i ty to sel l  and renew our appl ications  and 
infrastructure offerings  to existing and prospective customers, and negatively impact our bus iness , operating results  and financial  pos ition.

We may not receive significant revenues from our current research and development efforts for several years, if at all.   Developing our various  product offerings  
is  expensive and the return on investment is  often long. An important element of our corporate strategy is  to commit s igni ficant resources  to research and 
development, as  wel l  as  related product and service opportunities , both through internal  investments  and the acquis i tion of intel lectual  property from acquired 
companies . Accelerated product and service introductions  and short l i fecycles  require high levels  of research and development spending, which could adversely 
affect our operating results  i f not offset by revenue increases. We bel ieve that continued investment in research and development is  essentia l  to maintaining our 
competitive pos ition. However, our investments  in research and development may fa i l  to yield competitive products  and services  and we do not expect to receive 
s igni ficant revenues from these investments  for several  years , i f at a l l .

Our cloud offerings and hardware offerings are complex, and if we cannot successfully manage this complexity, including the sourcing of technologies and 
components, the results of these businesses will suffer.   We depend on suppl iers  to develop, manufacture and del iver on a timely bas is  the necessary 
technologies  and components  for our hardware products  that we market and sel l  to our customers  and that we use as  a  part of our cloud infrastructure to 
del iver our cloud offerings , and there are some technologies  and components  that can only be purchased from a s ingle vendor due to price, qual i ty, technology, 
avai labi l i ty or other bus iness  constraints . Our supply chain operations  are affected by industry consol idation and component constraints  or shortages, natural  
disasters , pol i tical  unrest (such as  the tens ions  between China and Taiwan), publ ic health crises , changes  to trade laws or regulations, tari ffs  and customs 
controls , port stoppages, shipping interruptions  or other transportation disruptions  or s lowdowns, and other factors  affecting the countries  or regions  where 
these s ingle source component vendors  are located or where the products  are being shipped. If disruption caused by one or more of the risks  described above 
occurs , our cloud and l icense bus iness  and hardware bus iness  and related operating results  could be materia l ly and adversely affected.

Supply chain shortages  have in some instances  resulted in increases  to the costs  of production of our hardware products  that we may not be able to pass  on to 
our customers. In addition, we have in some instances  responded to such shortages  by committing to higher purchases  and balances  of hardware products  that 
we market and sel l  to our customers  and that we use as  a  part of our cloud infrastructure to del iver our cloud offerings , relative to our historical  pos itions. For 
example, industry supply capacity for AI accelerators , including graphics  process ing units , i s  competitive, and we at times have to accept less  favorable terms 
with suppl iers  to avoid supply constraints . Whi le this  permits  us  to secure cloud infrastructure capacity, i t has  increased excess  and obsolescence risk of such 
hardware products  and could adversely impact our profi tabi l i ty and cash flows. We expect these factors  wi l l  continue to impact us  in the future.

We outsource most of our manufacturing, assembly, del ivery and technology of, and certain component des igns  for, our hardware products  to a  variety of 
companies , many of which are located outs ide the U.S. From time to time, these partners  experience production problems or delays  or cannot meet our demand 
for products  on a timely or cost-effective bas is , including as  a  result of changes  to trade laws or regulations, tari ffs , sanctions  and export or import controls . 
Ongoing or future delays  or cost increases  in manufacturing could cause the loss  of additional  sales , delayed revenue recognition or an increase in our 
hardware products  expenses, a l l  of which could adversely affect the margins  of our cloud and l icense bus iness  and hardware bus iness . These chal lenges  could 
arise i f we al ter our manufacturing strategies , suppl iers , or locations.

Our periodic workforce restructurings and reorganizations can be disruptive.   We periodical ly restructure or make other adjustments  to our workforce in 
response to management changes, product changes, performance issues, changes  in strategies , acquis i tions  and other internal  and external  cons iderations. 
These types  of restructurings  have resulted, and may in the future result, in increased restructuring costs  and temporari ly reduced productivi ty whi le employees  
adjust to the restructuring. These types  of restructurings  may also lead to shortages  of sufficiently ski l led employees  in certain roles , loss  of valuable 
insti tutional  knowledge and damage to employee morale and retention. 
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Hiring freezes  or s lowdowns can also result in decreased productivi ty whi le existing employees  take on additional  roles  and responsibi l i ties , and may also lead 
to a  shortage of sufficiently ski l led employees  in certain roles . In addition, we may not achieve or sustain the expected growth, resource redeployment or cost 
savings  benefi ts  of these restructurings , or may not do so within our expected timeframe. These effects  could recur in connection with future acquis i tions  and 
other restructurings , and our revenues and other results  of operations  could be negatively affected.

We may lose key employees or may be unable to hire enough qualified employees.   We rely on hiring qual i fied employees  and retaining our senior management, 
including our Chairman of the Board, Chief Technology Officer and founder; our Chief Executive Officer; other executive team members; and key employees. In the 
technology industry, especial ly in the AI field, competition for highly ski l led bus iness , product development and technical  personnel  i s  intense and ongoing. 

We may also face ris ing compensation costs  without corresponding gains  in productivi ty or sales . We may not be successful  in recruiting new personnel  and in 
retaining and motivating existing personnel . With rare exceptions, we do not have long-term employment agreements  with our employees. Members  of our 
senior management team have left Oracle over the years  for a  variety of reasons, and any future departures  may be disruptive to our operations.

To manage expenses, we hire personnel  in countries  where advanced technical  and other expertise are avai lable at lower costs . When we make adjustments  to 
our workforce, we may incur expenses  associated with workforce reductions  that delay the benefi t of a  more efficient workforce structure. We are experiencing 
increased competition for employees  in these countries  as  the trend toward global ization continues, which has  affected our employee retention efforts  and 
increased our expenses  in an effort to offer a  competitive compensation program. In addition, changes  to immigration and labor law pol icies  may adversely 
impact our access  to technical  and profess ional  ta lent.

Our general  compensation program includes  restricted stock units  (RSUs) and performance-based equity, which are important tools  in attracting and retaining 
employees  in our industry. If our stock price stagnates  or decl ines , our abi l i ty to retain or attract employees  may be harmed. We continual ly evaluate our 
compensation practices  and cons ider changes  from time to time, which may have an impact on our abi l i ty to retain employees  and the amount of stock-based 
compensation expense that we record. Any changes  in our compensation practices  or those of our competitors  could affect our abi l i ty to retain and motivate 
existing personnel  and recruit new personnel .

There are risks associated with our cloud and license and hardware indirect sales channels which could affect our future operating results.   Our cloud and l icense 
and hardware indirect channel  networks  cons ist primari ly of resel lers , system integrators/implementers , consultants , education providers , internet service 
providers , network integrators  and ISVs. Our relationships  with these channel  participants  are important elements  of our cloud, software and hardware 
marketing and sales  efforts . Our financial  results  could be adversely affected i f: 
•our contracts  with channel  participants  were terminated or our relationships  with channel  participants  were to deteriorate;

•any of our competitors  enter into strategic relationships  with or acquire a  s igni ficant channel  participant; 

•the financial  condition or operations  of our channel  participants  were to weaken; or 

•the level  of demand for our channel  participants ’ products  and services  were to decrease. 

We may not successful ly maintain, expand or develop our relationships  with channel  participants . If we are not successful , we may lose sales  opportunities , 
customers  and revenues. In addition, we do not control  channel  participants , some of whom operate in jurisdictions  with elevated corruption risks . Our 
compl iance pol icies  and procedures  may fa i l  to prevent or detect violations  of anti -corruption or other laws, and channel  participants  may violate such laws, 
a l l  of which could subject us  to l i tigation or regulatory risk and result in l iabi l i ty. 

Acquisitions present many risks and we may not achieve the financial and strategic goals that were contemplated at the time of a transaction.   We regularly 
review and cons ider strategic acquis i tions  of companies , products , services  and technologies  as  a  part of our corporate strategy, and we expect to continue 
making acquis i tions  in the future. However, our strategic acquis i tion program carries  several  risks , including but not l imited to:
•business  disruption and management distraction due to acquis i tion, trans ition or integration activi ties ;

•chal lenges  in managing acquired technologies  or l ines  of bus iness , entering new markets  where we have no, or l imited, direct prior experience or market 
pos itions, or retaining key personnel  from the acquired companies;
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•acquis i tions  that do not meet strategic expectations, including due to di fficulties  integrating acquired companies , negative impacts  from imposed bus iness  
practices  or di fferent go-to-market strategies , and the risk of overpaying or fa i l ing to real ize expected returns  on our investments , each or a l l  of which could 
adversely affect our bus iness  or operating results  and potentia l ly cause impairment to assets  that we recorded as  a  part of an acquis i tion, including intangible 
assets  and goodwi l l ;
•negative financial  impacts  from (1) assumed cla ims or l iabi l i ties ; (2) assumed costly or disruptive pre-existing contractual  relationships; and (3) unfavorable 
revenue recognition or other accounting treatment as  a  result of an acquired company’s  bus iness  practices;
•fa i lure to identi fy or accurately assess  s igni ficant l iabi l i ties  or shortcomings  prior to final ization of an acquis i tion;

•fa i lure to real ize expected revenue growth from an acquis i tion for a  number of reasons, including (1) more customers  than expected decl ining to renew or 
terminating their contracts ; (2) di fficulty sel l ing acquired products  or service offerings  to our customer base; (3) acquired customers  decl ining to purchase our 
technologies  due to di ffering bus iness  practices; or (4) contract models  uti l i zed by an acquired company confl icting with our revenue recognition methods;
•integration di fficulties , including al igning acquired compl iance programs, technologies , products , services , supply chain operations, environmental  practices  
or infrastructure with our existing l ines  of bus iness;
•product and service inconsistencies  across  multiple product l ines  or services  offerings , leading to customer confus ion and delays;

•higher than anticipated costs  related to supporting, developing and del ivering acquired products  or services , expanding general  and administrative functions  
for new bus iness  models  or complying with complex regulations  appl icable to an acquired bus iness;
•labor chal lenges, including di fficulties  obtaining timely approvals  from works  counci ls  or s imi lar bodies  under appl icable employment laws;

•regulatory and judicia l  chal lenges, including delays  or restrictions  from governmental  authori ties  under foreign direct investment, foreign subs idy, 
competition and anti trust laws, potentia l ly requiring asset divesti tures , other concess ions  or a  termination of the acquis i tion process;
•l imitations  on our potentia l  other uses  for our cash; and

•financial  constraints  that may require us  to incur additional  debt to pay for acquis i tions  or delay or not proceed with an acquis i tion i f we cannot obtain the 
necessary funding to complete the acquis i tion in a  timely manner or on favorable terms.

The occurrence of any of these risks  could have a materia l  adverse effect on our bus iness , results  of operations, financial  condition or cash flows, particularly 
in the case of a  larger acquis i tion or several  concurrent acquis i tions.

We are subject to risks with respect to environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters.   We are subject to evolving, and sometimes confl icting, laws, 
regulations, pol icies  and stakeholder expectations  relating to matters  beyond our core products  and services , including ESG matters , such as  environmental  
sustainabi l i ty, cl imate change, human capital  and workforce matters . The Nomination and Governance Committee of our Board oversees  and periodical ly 
reviews our ESG programs and our management evaluates  i f cl imate or environmental  risks  could s igni ficantly impact our core or strategic bus iness  functions, 
including service del ivery and support, product development and deployment, supply chain management, faci l i ty operations, employee recruitment and 
retention or brand reputation. Any fa i lure to identi fy and address  these risks  could adversely affect our reputation, bus iness , financial  performance and growth.

Further, in an effort to be responsive to customer, employee and other stakeholder interests  and expectations, we publ icly disclose certain ESG-related goals  
and statistics . If we fa i l  to meet these goals , or are perceived as  fa i l ing to meet our ESG goals , our revenues, reputation and brand may be harmed. In addition, 
views on ESG and related matters  diverge within and among di fferent stakeholder groups, including stockholders , customers  and employees, as  wel l  as  
government actors . Efforts  to meet evolving and increas ingly divergent stakeholder expectations  on ESG and related matters  may place a  strain on our 
employees  and systems, and i f we are targeted by those who disagree with our publ ic pos itions  on ESG and related issues, or i f we do not otherwise successful ly 
manage ESG-related expectations  across  our stakeholders , i t could erode stakeholder trust, impact our reputation or subject us  to l i tigation, which could 
adversely affect our bus iness  and reputation. 
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Data Privacy, Cybersecurity and Intellectual Property Risks

If our security measures for our products and services are compromised and as a result, our data, our customers’ data or our IT systems are accessed improperly, 
made unavailable, or improperly modified, our products and services may be perceived as vulnerable, our brand and reputation could be damaged, the IT services 
we provide to our customers could be disrupted, and customers may stop using our products and services, any of which could reduce our revenue and earnings, 
increase our expenses and expose us to legal claims and regulatory actions.   Our products  and services , including Oracle Cloud Services , s tore, retrieve, process  
and manage third-party data, such as  our customers’ data, as  wel l  as  our own data. We bel ieve that Oracle has  been and is  a  target for computer hackers , 
cyberattacks  and other perpetrators  or threat actors  because Oracle stores  and processes  large amounts  of data, including sens itive data such as  health 
sciences  (including patient health information), financial  services , retai l , hospital i ty, telecommunications  and government data. We and our third-party 
vendors  are regularly subject to attempts  by third parties  (which may include individuals  or groups of hackers  and sophisticated organizations, such as  state-
sponsored organizations, nation-states  and individuals  sponsored by them) to identi fy and exploit product and service vulnerabi l i ties , penetrate or bypass  our 
securi ty measures, and gain unauthorized access  to our or our customers’, partners ’ and suppl iers ’ software, hardware and cloud offerings , networks  and 
systems. Such mal icious  attacks  can lead, and have led, to the compromise of personal  information or the confidentia l  information or data of Oracle or our 
customers. Attempts  of this  nature typical ly involve IT-related viruses , worms, and other mal icious  software programs that attack networks , systems, products  
and services , exploit potentia l  securi ty vulnerabi l i ties  of networks , systems, products  and services , create system disruptions  and cause shutdowns or denials  
of service. Third parties  may attempt to fraudulently induce customers, partners , employees  or suppl iers  into disclos ing sens itive information such as  user 
names, passwords  or other credentia ls  to gain access  to our data, our customers’, suppl iers ’ or partners ’ data or the IT systems of Oracle, our customers, 
suppl iers  or partners . Our products  and services , including our Oracle Cloud Services , may also be accessed or modified improperly as  a  result of customer, 
partner, employee, contractor or suppl ier error or malfeasance.

When a cyberattack or other securi ty event or incident results  in unauthorized access  to, or modification or exfi l tration of, our customers’ or suppl iers ’ data, 
other external  data, our own data or our IT systems, or i f the services  we provide to our customers  are disrupted, or i f our products  or services  are reported to 
have (or are perceived as  having) securi ty vulnerabi l i ties , we have incurred and could incur s igni ficant expenses  and could suffer substantia l  damage to our 
brand and reputation. If our customers  lose confidence in the securi ty and rel iabi l i ty of our products  and services , including our cloud offerings , they may 
reduce or terminate their spending with us . In addition, cyberattacks  and other securi ty events  or incidents  have resulted and could result in: s igni ficant 
investigation and remediation costs ; loss  or destruction of data; operational  disruptions; inappropriate use of proprietary and sens itive data; lawsuits ; 
indemnity obl igations; regulatory investigations  and financial  penalties ; and increased legal  l iabi l i ty, including in some cases  contractual  costs  for customer 
noti fication and fraud monitoring. Our remediation efforts  may not be successful . 

Because the techniques  used to obtain unauthorized access  to, or sabotage IT systems, constantly evolve, grow more complex over time, and often are not 
detected unti l  launched against a  target, we may be unable to anticipate or implement adequate measures  to prevent such techniques. Our internal  IT systems 
continue to evolve and we are often early adopters  of new technologies . However, our bus iness  pol icies  and internal  securi ty controls  may not keep pace with 
emerging threats . We may not detect or confi rm any securi ty breach and loss  of information for a  s igni ficant period of time after the securi ty breach.

Our products  operate in conjunction with and are dependent on a wide variety of third-party products , components  and services . If a  securi ty vulnerabi l i ty 
exists  in one of these components , a  targeted exploit could lead to increased costs , l iabi l i ty cla ims, customer dissatis faction, reduced revenue, or harm to our 
reputation or competitive pos ition. We also have an active acquis i tion program and have acquired a number of companies , products , services  and technologies  
over the years . Whi le we make s igni ficant efforts  to address  any IT securi ty i ssues  with respect to our acquired companies , we may sti l l  inheri t such risks  when 
we integrate these companies  within Oracle.

Our business practices with respect to data could give rise to operational interruption, liabilities or reputational harm as a result of governmental regulation, 
legal requirements or industry standards relating to privacy and data protection.   As  regulatory focus  on privacy issues  continues  to increase and worldwide 
laws and regulations  concerning the handl ing of personal  information expand and become more complex and stringent, potentia l  ri sks  related to data 
col lection and use within our bus iness  wi l l  intens i fy. In addition, U.S. federal  and state as  wel l  as  foreign governments  have enacted or are cons idering enacting 
legis lation or regulations, or may in the near future interpret existing legis lation or regulations, in a  manner that could s igni ficantly impact our abi l i ty, as  wel l  
as  the 



Table of Contents

 

 

24

abi l i ty of our customers, partners  and data providers , to col lect, augment, analyze, use, transfer (including across  national  borders) and share personal  and 
other information that i s  integral  to certain services  we provide. We are a lso subject to data privacy and other related regulations  governing the healthcare 
industry and patient information, including but not l imited to regulations  governing electronic health data transmiss ions, the process ing of patient information, 
healthcare fraud and healthcare information sharing.

Fol lowing the European Union’s  (EU) General  Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), the rate of global  cons ideration and adoption of privacy laws has  increased, 
giving rise to more global  jurisdictions  in which regulatory inquiries  and audits  may be requested of Oracle, and i f we are not deemed to be in compl iance, 
could result in enforcement actions  and/or fines . This  i s  true in the U.S. where, for example, a  number of states  have enacted privacy laws, the U.S. Congress  has  
been cons idering several  privacy and securi ty-related bi l l s  at the federal  level , the federal  government is  pursuing a  range of cybersecuri ty ini tiatives  pertaining 
to cri tical  infrastructure companies  and government contractors , and a number of other state legis latures  have passed or are cons idering privacy laws. 
Regulators  global ly are a lso imposing greater monetary fines  for privacy violations. The GDPR provides  for monetary penalties  of up to €20 mi l l ion, or up to 4% 
of an organization’s  worldwide revenue of the preceding financial  year, whichever is  greater. These penalties  can be s igni ficant. For example, a  U.S.-based 
technology company was fined €1.2 bi l l ion for a l leged GDPR violations  in 2023. The U.S. Federal  Trade Commiss ion continues  to fine companies  for unfair and 
deceptive data protection practices , and these fines  may increase in s ize. Taken together, the laws or regulations  associated with the enhanced protection of 
personal  and other types  of data could greatly increase the s ize of potentia l  fines  related to data protection, and our cost of providing our products  and services  
could result in changes  to our bus iness  practices  or even prevent us  from offering certain services  in jurisdictions  in which we operate. Although we have 
implemented contracts , di l igence programs, pol icies  and procedures  des igned to address  compl iance with appl icable laws and regulations, there can be no 
assurance that our employees, contractors , partners , suppl iers , data providers  or agents  wi l l  not violate such laws and regulations  or our contracts , pol icies  
and procedures. Additional ly, publ ic perception and standards  related to the privacy of personal  information can shi ft rapidly, in ways  that may affect our 
reputation or influence regulators  to enact regulations  and laws that may l imit our abi l i ty to provide certain products  and services . For example, numerous 
jurisdictions, including the EU, have passed or are cons idering laws and regulations  that would impose additional  data privacy and other compl iance 
requirements  on the use of AI and could require us  to adjust or l imit our product offerings  in such jurisdictions.

We make statements  about our use and disclosure of personal  information through our privacy pol icy, information provided on our website and press  
statements . Any fa i lure, or perceived fa i lure, by us  to comply with these publ ic statements  or with U.S. federal , s tate, or foreign laws and regulations, including 
laws and regulations  regulating privacy, data securi ty, or consumer protection, publ ic perception, standards, sel f-regulatory requirements  or legal  obl igations, 
could result in lost or restricted bus iness , proceedings, actions  or fines  brought against us  or levied by governmental  enti ties  or others , or could adversely 
affect our bus iness  and harm our reputation.

Third parties have claimed, and in the future may claim, infringement or misuse of intellectual property rights and/or breach of license agreement provisions.   We 
periodical ly receive notices  from, or have lawsuits  fi led against us  by, third parties  cla iming infringement or other misuse of their intel lectual  property rights  
and/or breach of our agreements  with them. These third parties  include enti ties  that do not des ign, manufacture, or distribute products  or services  or that 
acquire intel lectual  property for the sole purpose of monetization through infringement assertions. We expect to continue to receive such cla ims as :

•we continue to expand into new bus inesses  and acquire companies;

•the number of products  and competitors  in our industry segments  grows;

•the use and support of third-party code (including open source code) becomes more prevalent in the industry;

•the use of AI and support of LLMs becomes more prevalent in the industry;

•the volume of i ssued patents  continues  to increase; and

•non-practicing enti ties  continue to assert intel lectual  property infringement in our industry segments .

Responding to any such cla im, regardless  of i ts  val idi ty, could: 
•be time consuming, costly and result in l i tigation;

•divert management’s  time and attention from developing our bus iness;

•require us  to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty and l icens ing agreements  that we would not normal ly find acceptable;
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•require us  to stop sel l ing or to redes ign certain of our products ;

•require us  to release source code to third parties , poss ibly under open source l icense terms;

•require us  to satis fy indemnification obl igations  to our customers; or

•otherwise adversely affect our bus iness , results  of operations, financial  condition or cash flows.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights.   We rely on copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws, confidentia l i ty procedures, 
controls  and contractual  commitments  to protect our intel lectual  property. Despite our efforts , these protections  may be l imited. Unauthorized third parties  may 
try to copy or reverse engineer our products  or otherwise use our intel lectual  property. Our patents  may be inval idated or ci rcumvented. Any of our pending or 
future patent appl ications  may not be issued with the cla im scope we seek, i f at a l l . In addition, the laws of some countries  do not provide the same level  of 
intel lectual  property protection as  U.S. laws and courts . If we cannot protect our intel lectual  property against unauthorized copying or use, or other 
misappropriation, we may not remain competitive.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Adverse litigation results could affect our business.   We are subject to various  legal  proceedings. Li tigation can be lengthy, expensive and disruptive to our 
operations, and can divert our management’s  attention away from running our core bus iness . The results  of our l i tigation also cannot be predicted with 
certainty. Even favorable judgments  have been, and may in the future be, subject to appeals  leading to protracted l i tigation, additional  costs  and the prospect 
that our des ired outcome wi l l  be overturned. An adverse decis ion could result in monetary damages or injunctive rel ief that could affect our bus iness , operating 
results  or financial  condition. Additional  information regarding certain of the lawsuits  we are involved in is  discussed under Note 15 of Notes  to Consol idated 
Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report.

We may be subjected to increased taxes due to changes in U.S. or international tax laws or from adverse resolutions of tax audits and controversies.   As  a  
multinational  corporation, we incur income taxes  as  wel l  as  non-income-based taxes  (such as  payrol l , sa les , use, property and value-added taxes) in both the 
U.S. and various  foreign jurisdictions. Signi ficant uncertainties  exist with respect to the appl ication of the various  taxes  to the bus inesses  in which we engage, 
often requiring that we make judgments  in determining our tax l iabi l i ties  and worldwide provis ion for income taxes. We are regularly under audit by tax 
authori ties  in the U.S. and international ly, which has  led to disagreements  regarding our treatment of various  i tems, including our intercompany transfer prices  
and calculations  and the appl icabi l i ty of withholding taxes  to our cross-border transactions. Any unfavorable resolution of these tax audits  and controvers ies  
could cause our tax l iabi l i ties  to increase and may have a materia l  and adverse impact on our provis ion for income taxes  and effective tax rate. Although we 
bel ieve that our income and non-income-based tax estimates  are reasonable, there is  no assurance that the final  determination of tax audits  or disputes  wi l l  
not be di fferent from what is  reflected in our historical  income tax provis ions  and tax accruals .

Countries  around the world continual ly cons ider and make changes  to relevant tax, accounting and other laws, treaties , regulations, guidance and 
interpretations. For example, the U.S. Congress  is  cons idering extending tax provis ions  enacted as  part of the 2017 Tax Cuts  and Jobs  Act, as  wel l  as  making 
other changes  to federal  tax law, some of which could have an adverse impact on us . Various  other legis lative proposals , i f enacted, could substantia l ly ra ise 
U.S. income taxes  on our domestic and international  profi ts . Such unfavorable tax proposals  create the potentia l  for added volati l i ty in our quarterly provis ion 
for income taxes  and could have a materia l  adverse impact on our future income tax provis ions  and effective tax rate.

Other countries  a lso continue to cons ider changes  to their tax laws that could negatively affect us  by increas ing taxes  imposed on our international  revenue 
streams, operations  and cross-border transactions, including the imposition of taxes  targeted at digi ta l  technology bus inesses  and changes  in withholding tax 
rules . A project led by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), an international  association comprised of 38 countries  including 
the U.S., over the last several  years  has  resulted in changes  to the bas ic des ign of the international  tax system, including the implementation of a  15% minimum 
tax in over 50 countries , as  wel l  as  proposed changes  that would provide greater taxing rights  to market jurisdictions  where customers  or users  are located. 
There can be no assurance that these enacted changes, which are subject to ongoing OECD guidance and interpretations  by the various  adopting countries , and 
any contemplated changes, i f implemented by countries , wi l l  not materia l ly increase the level  of income tax on our international  profi ts .
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Our future income tax provis ions  and effective tax rate could materia l ly increase under the tax changes  discussed above or i f other changes  are made to 
appl icable tax laws and rules  in the U.S. or in other countries  in which we do bus iness . Our provis ion for income taxes  a lso could be adversely affected by 
changes  in the mix of income earned or losses  incurred in jurisdictions  with di ffering statutory tax rates , fluctuations  in our stock price and level  of stock-based 
compensation expense, changes  in the valuation of our deferred tax assets  or l iabi l i ties  and by other factors .

Our international sales and operations and global customer base subject us to additional risks that can adversely affect our operating results.   We derive a  
substantia l  portion of our revenues from, and have s igni ficant operations, outs ide of the U.S., and in both our U.S. and non-U.S. operations  we serve customers  
based in or with ties  to numerous jurisdictions  around the world. Compl iance with international  and U.S. laws and regulations  that apply to our international  
operations  increases  our cost of doing bus iness . These laws and regulations  include data privacy requirements , labor relations  laws, tax laws, foreign 
currency-related regulations, competition/anti trust regulations, anti -bribery laws and other laws prohibiting payments  to governmental  officia ls  such as  the 
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices  Act (FCPA), market access  regulations, tari ffs , and import, export and general  trade regulations, including but not l imited to 
sanctions  and embargos. Violations  of these laws and regulations  can result in monetary fines , civi l  and/or criminal  penalties , enforcement actions  against us , 
our officers  or our employees, and prohibitions  on the conduct of our bus iness , including disgorgement, the loss  of trade privi leges, and other remedial  
measures. Any such violations  could result in prohibitions  on our abi l i ty to offer our products  and services  in one or more countries  or terri tories  or to certain 
enti ties , could delay or prevent potentia l  acquis i tions  and could a lso materia l ly damage our reputation, our brand, our international  expansion efforts , our 
abi l i ty to attract and retain employees, our bus iness  and our operating results . 

Changes  to sanctions  or export control  regulations  in the U.S. and the other jurisdictions  where we currently operate or have deal ings , or in the future may 
operate or have deal ings , can require suspension or termination of bus iness  (including financial  transactions) in or with certain countries  and terri tories  or 
with certain customers. In addition, we continue to closely monitor international  relations  and i t i s  di fficult to anticipate the effect geopol i tical  developments  
may have on us . Compl iance with any further sanctions, export controls  or other regulatory restrictions  (and any countermeasures  thereto) taken by the U.S. or 
other countries  could prevent us  from serving certain customers  or restrict us  or our customers  from operating in speci fic jurisdictions, which could have an 
adverse effect on our operations  and results  of operations. For example, the U.S. enacted a law making i t unlawful , beginning in January 2025, to provide 
internet hosting services  to TikTok that are used to enable the distribution, maintenance, or updating of TikTok for users  within the U.S. The Pres ident issued 
executive orders  that prohibit enforcement unti l  a  future date, and also prohibit the imposition of penalties  at any time for providing services  during the time 
period covered by the prohibition of enforcement, and ordered the Attorney General  to noti fy relevant service providers  that continuing to provide services  
during the prohibition of enforcement does  not violate the statute. If the prohibition is  l i fted or expires  without a  resolution that satis fies  relevant legal  
requirements , we may no longer be able to provide those services  to TikTok, and i f we cannot redeploy that capacity in a  timely manner, our revenues and profi ts  
would be adversely impacted. 

Our success  depends, in part, on our abi l i ty to anticipate and manage these risks . We monitor our operations  and investigate a l legations  of improprieties  
relating to transactions  and the way in which such transactions  are recorded. Where warranted, we provide information and report our findings  to government 
authori ties  who may conduct their own investigations, and we respond to their requests  or demands for information. No assurance can be given that such 
authori ties  wi l l  not take action or that our compl iance program wi l l  prove effective. There is  no guarantee that our compl iance pol icies  and procedures  wi l l  be 
fol lowed at a l l  times or wi l l  effectively detect and prevent a l l  violations  of laws, including economic and financial  sanction laws and embargoes. In addition, 
we are currently navigating a  period of geopol i tical  and regulatory volati l i ty.

We face a  variety of other risks  and chal lenges  in managing an organization operating global ly, including those related to: 
•general  economic conditions  in each country or region;

•pol i tical  unrest, terrorism and war, including but not l imited to the current Russ ia-Ukraine war and i ts  potentia l  economic and geopol i tical  impacts  on 
Europe, where a materia l  portion of our bus iness  is  carried out;
•the potentia l  for other hosti l i ties , including but not l imited to further destabi l i zation in the Middle East and tens ions  between China and Taiwan;

•publ ic health, socia l  and supporting infrastructure stabi l i ty risks , particularly in areas  in which we have s igni ficant operations;
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•fluctuations  in currency exchange rates  and related impacts  on customer demand and our operating results ;

•difficulties  in access ing or transferring funds  from or converting currencies  in certain countries  that could lead to a  devaluation of our net assets , in 
particular our cash assets , in that country’s  currency;
•regulatory changes, including unexpected government austeri ty measures  in certain countries  that may impair bank deposits  or other cash assets  that we 
hold in these countries  or that impose additional  taxes  that we may be required to pay in these countries ;
•common local  bus iness  behaviors  or regulatory requirements  that confl ict with our bus iness  ethics , practices  and conduct pol icies ;

•longer payment cycles  and di fficulties  in col lecting accounts  receivable;

•overlapping tax regimes; and

•weaker protection for intel lectual  property rights  in some countries .

The variety of risks  and chal lenges  l i s ted above could a lso disrupt or otherwise negatively impact our supply chain operations  and sales  of our products  and 
services  in affected countries  or regions.

As  the majori ty shareholder of Oracle Financial  Services  Software Limited, a  publ icly traded company in India, and Oracle Corporation Japan, a  publ icly traded 
company in Japan, we face several  additional  risks , including being subject to local  securi ties  regulations  and being unable to exert ful l  control  that we would 
otherwise have i f these enti ties  were whol ly-owned subs idiaries .

The healthcare industry is highly regulated, and thus, we are subject to several laws, regulations and industry initiatives, non-compliance with certain of which 
could adversely affect our healthcare business.   As  a  participant in the healthcare industry, certain of our operations  and relationships , and those of our 
customers, are regulated by several  U.S. federal , s tate, local  and foreign governmental  enti ties . These regulations  impact us  both directly and indirectly, in terms 
of government program requirements  appl icable to our customers  for the use of health IT. Even though we may not be directly regulated by speci fic healthcare 
laws and regulations, our products  and services  must be capable of being used by our customers  in a  way that compl ies  with those laws and regulations. There 
are s igni ficant, wide-ranging and rapidly evolving regulations  worldwide, covering healthcare fraud, information sharing, e-prescribing, medical  cla ims 
process ing and transmiss ion, healthcare devices , the use of AI in healthcare, the securi ty and privacy of patient data and interoperabi l i ty standards, that may 
be directly or indirectly appl icable to our operations  and relationships  or the bus iness  practices  of our customers. Speci fic risks  include, but are not l imited to, 
the fol lowing:

•Medical  device regulations  in the U.S. and other countries  may now or in the future apply to certain of our healthcare products  and services . If any of our 
healthcare products  and services  are deemed to be actively regulated medical  devices  by regulatory agencies  in countries  where we do bus iness , we could be 
subject to extens ive requirements  governing pre- and post-marketing activi ties , including pre-market noti fication clearance or recal ls .
•Certi fied electronic health record technology (CEHRT) requirements  continue to evolve and remain necessary to participate in federal  healthcare programs 
in order to receive reimbursement for health i tems and services  provided by certain of our customers  to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries . We expect the 
regulations  establ ishing the certi fication and interoperabi l i ty standards  for CEHRT wi l l  continue to be updated to emphasize interoperabi l i ty, consumer 
engagement, patient safety and health information privacy and securi ty.

Complying with these regulations  global ly i s  expensive and could subject us  to unanticipated and s igni ficant delays . If we fa i l  to comply sufficiently with these 
and other regulations, i t could negatively impact our abi l i ty to continue to develop, distribute and del iver certain of our healthcare products  and services , and 
we could suffer fines  or penalties .

Our sales to local, state, federal and foreign government customers expose us to business volatility and risks, including government budgeting cycles and 
appropriations, government shutdowns, procurement regulations, governmental policy shifts, early termination of contracts, audits, investigations, sanctions and 
penalties.   We derive revenues from contracts  with the U.S. government, state and local  governments , and foreign governments  and are subject to procurement 
laws relating to the award, administration and performance of those contracts .

Governmental  enti ties  are various ly pursuing pol icies  that affect our abi l i ty to sel l  our products  and services . Changes  in government procurement pol icy, 
priori ties , regulations, technology ini tiatives  and/or requirements  may negatively impact our potentia l  for growth in the government sector. For example, the 
U.S. government imposes  
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evolving cybersecuri ty requirements , including, for example, the FedRAMP authorization process  and the Department of Defense (DoD) Cybersecuri ty Maturi ty 
Model  Certi fication. These requirements  may impact our l ines  of bus iness  in the U.S. federal  government market. Compl iance with these cybersecuri ty 
requirements  is  complex and costly, and any fa i lure or a l leged fa i lure to meet, or delays  in meeting, the required securi ty controls  could result in l iabi l i ty, l imit 
our abi l i ty to sel l  products  and services , directly or indirectly, to the DoD and other federal  and state government enti ties  that implement s imi lar cybersecuri ty 
requirements  and adversely affect our reputation and sales .

We are a lso subject to early termination of our contracts . Many governmental  enti ties  have the right to terminate contracts  at any time for a  variety of reasons, 
including without cause. For example, the U.S. federal  government may terminate any of our government contracts  and subcontracts  at i ts  convenience, or for 
default based on our performance. U.S. federal , s tate and local  government and foreign government contracts  are general ly subject to government funding 
authorizations/appropriations. Contracts  may also be terminated due to a  lack of government funds.

There is  increased pressure on governments  and their agencies , both domestical ly and international ly, to reduce spending as  governments  continue to face 
s igni ficant defici t reduction pressures. This  may adversely impact spending on government programs and result in termination of government contracts , delays  
in contract awards  and paus ing of payments  during cost efficiency reviews. In addition, an extended federal  government shutdown in the U.S. could cause 
delays  in approvals  and decis ion making, which could negatively impact our results  of operations.

Government contracts  laws and regulations  impose certain risks , and certain of our government contracts  and contracting practices  are currently, and may in 
the future be, subject to audits  and investigations. Any violations  of law or a l leged violations  of law could subject us  to civi l  and criminal  penalties  and 
administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts , refund of fees  received, treble damages, settlement payments , forfei ture of profi ts , suspension of 
payments , fines  and suspensions  or debarment from future government bus iness , as  wel l  as  adverse publ ici ty and reputational  damage.

Environmental and other related laws and regulations subject us to a number of risks and could result in significant liabilities and costs.   Our cloud and hardware 
operations  are subject to extens ive, evolving and sometimes inconsistent state, federal  and international  regulations  related to ESG matters . Some of these 
regulations  establ ish speci fic metrics , targets , and disclosure frameworks  for a  variety of ESG issues, including environmental  sustainabi l i ty, supply chain 
labor practices , workforce health and safety, proper handl ing and disposal  of certain chemicals  and materia ls , and local  testing and label ing requirements . 
Regulatory, market, carbon tax and competitive pressures  regarding the greenhouse gas  emiss ions  and energy mix for our data center operations  have increased 
and are expected to continue to increase.

Compl iance with these ever-changing and sometimes divergent ESG laws in a  timely manner could increase our product des ign, development, procurement, 
manufacturing, del ivery, cloud operations, insurance premiums and administration costs , l imit our abi l i ty to manage excess  and obsolete non-compl iant 
inventory, change our sales  activi ties , or otherwise impact future financial  results  of our cloud and hardware bus inesses. Fai lure to comply with these laws can 
subject us  to s igni ficant l iabi l i ty, including fines , penalties  and poss ible prohibition of sales  of our products  and services  in certain regions. Additional ly, new 
or updated regulated disclosure requirements  could result in revis ions  to our previous  ESG-related disclosure, which could expose us  to l iabi l i ty or 
reputational  harm.

Financial Risks

Our operations can be difficult for us to predict because our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate significantly based on a number of factors.   Our 
revenues, particularly certain of our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues and hardware revenues, can be di fficult to forecast. A substantia l  portion of 
our cloud l icense, on-premise l icense and hardware contracts  i s  completed in the latter part of a  quarter. Because a s igni ficant portion of our cost structure is  
largely fixed in the short term, sales  and revenue shortfal ls  tend to have a disproportionately negative impact on our profi tabi l i ty. We typical ly have a number 
of large transactions  each quarter, which increases  the risk of fluctuations  in our quarterly results . If we lose one or more of our key customers  for any reason, 
or we experience a delay in even a smal l  number of these large transactions, our quarterly sales , revenues and profi tabi l i ty could fa l l  s igni ficantly short of our 
predictions. In addition, sudden shi fts  in regional  or global  economic or pol i tical  activi ty may cause our sales  forecasts  to be inaccurate.
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In addition, we hold a  portfol io of marketable and non-marketable debt and equity investments , including investments  in Ampere Computing Holdings  LLC 
(Ampere), a  privately held related party enti ty in which we had an ownership interest of approximately 29% as  of May 31, 2025. Any impairment charges  and 
effect of changes  in the fa ir values  of certain of these investments  are recorded as  unreal ized gains  or losses  as  a  component of consol idated net income in each 
period. The timing and amount of impairment charges  or changes  in fa i r value, i f any, of these investments  depends on factors  beyond our control , including the 
perceived and actual  performance of the companies  or funds  in which we invest, and are a lso subject to the general  conditions  of publ ic and private equity 
markets , which are uncertain and have in the past varied, and may in the future vary, materia l ly by period. Changes  in the fa ir values  of these investments , 
including Ampere, have contributed, and may in the future contribute, to volati l i ty in our net income that is  not reflective of our core bus inesses.

On March 19, 2025, SoftBank Group Corp. announced that i t had entered into an agreement with Ampere and certain of i ts  equity holders  to acquire a l l  of the 
equity interests  of Ampere (the Ampere Acquis i tion). The transaction is  subject to customary clos ing conditions, including regulatory approvals , that are beyond 
our control . If the Ampere Acquis i tion closes , we wi l l  cease to be an investor in Ampere. During the period prior to clos ing the Ampere Acquis i tion, the amount of 
our investments  in Ampere could increase for a  variety of reasons  and we wi l l  continue to recognize our share of loss  in Ampere’s  net earnings  unti l  the closure 
of the acquis i tion. If the Ampere Acquis i tion does  not close, we wi l l  continue to be exposed to the risk associated with our investments  in Ampere as  discussed 
above.

Changes in currency exchange rates can adversely affect customer demand and our revenue and profitability.   We conduct a  s igni ficant number of transactions  
and hold cash in currencies  other than the U.S. Dol lar. Changes  in the values  of major foreign currencies , particularly the Austral ian Dol lar, Bri tish Pound, 
Brazi l ian Real , Canadian Dol lar, Euro, Indian Rupee, Japanese Yen and Saudi  Riyal , relative to the U.S. Dol lar can s igni ficantly affect our total  assets , revenues, 
operating results  and cash flows, which are reported in U.S. Dol lars . Fluctuations  in foreign currency rates , including the strengthening of the U.S. Dol lar against 
the Euro and most other major international  currencies , adversely affects  our revenue growth by reducing the U.S. Dol lar value of our foreign currency earnings  
and affecting actual  demand for our products  and services  as  they may become relatively more expensive for foreign currency-based enterprises  to purchase. 
Currency variations  can also negatively impact profi t margins  on sales  of our products  in countries  outs ide of the U.S. General ly, a  stronger U.S. Dol lar 
adversely affects , and a weaker U.S. Dol lar favorably affects , our reported revenues and operating results . In addition, our reported assets  general ly are 
adversely affected when the dol lar strengthens relative to other currencies  as  a  portion of our consol idated cash and bank deposits , among other assets , are 
held in foreign currencies  and reported in U.S. Dol lars .

In addition, we incur foreign currency transaction gains  and losses , primari ly related to subl icense fees  and other intercompany agreements  among us  and our 
subs idiaries  that we expect to cash settle in the near term, which are charged to earnings  in the period incurred. We have a program which primari ly uti l i zes  
foreign currency forward contracts  des igned to offset the risks  associated with certain foreign currency exposures. We may suspend the program from time to 
time. As  part of this  program, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts  so that increases  or decreases  in our foreign currency exposures  are offset at 
least in part by gains  or losses  on the foreign currency forward contracts  in an effort to mitigate the risks  and volati l i ty associated with our foreign currency 
transaction gains  or losses . A large portion of our consol idated operations  is  international , and we expect that we wi l l  continue to real ize gains  or losses  with 
respect to our foreign currency exposures, net of gains  or losses  from our foreign currency forward contracts , including the cost to obtain such contracts . For 
example, we experience foreign currency gains  and losses  when i t i s  not poss ible or cost-effective to hedge our foreign currency exposures, our hedging efforts  
are ineffective or we suspend our foreign currency forward contract program. Our ultimate real ized loss  or gain with respect to currency fluctuations  wi l l  
general ly depend on the s ize and type of cross-currency exposures  that we enter into, the currency exchange rates  associated with these exposures  and changes  
in those rates , whether we have entered into foreign currency forward contracts  to offset these exposures  and any related fees  paid to purchase such contracts , 
and other factors . Al l  of these factors  can from time to time materia l ly impact our results  of operations, financial  pos ition and cash flows.

We have incurred foreign currency losses  associated with the devaluation of currencies  in certain highly inflationary economies  relative to the U.S. Dol lar. We 
could incur future losses  in other countries  where we do bus iness  should their currencies  become des ignated as  highly inflationary. 

There are risks associated with our outstanding and future indebtedness.   As  of May 31, 2025, we had an aggregate of $92.6 bi l l ion of outstanding indebtedness  
that wi l l  mature between calendar year 2025 and calendar year 2065. Our abi l i ty to pay interest and repay the principal  for our indebtedness  is  dependent 
upon our abi l i ty to manage our 
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business  operations, generate sufficient cash flows to service such debt and the other factors  discussed in this  Risk Factors  section. There can be no assurance 
that we wi l l  be able to manage any of these risks  successful ly.

We have been refinancing portions  of our outstanding debt as  i t matures  and we may continue to do so in the future. There is  a  risk that we may not be able to 
refinance existing debt or that the terms of any refinancing may not be as  favorable as  the terms of our existing debt. Furthermore, i f prevai l ing interest rates  or 
other factors  at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates  upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that refinanced indebtedness  would 
increase.

Should we incur future increases  in interest expense, our abi l i ty to uti l i ze certain of our foreign tax credits  to reduce our U.S. federal  income tax could be 
l imited, which could unfavorably affect our provis ion for income taxes  and effective tax rate. In addition, changes  to our outlook or credit rating or a  
withdrawal  by any rating agency could negatively affect the value of both our debt and equity securi ties  and increase the interest amounts  we pay on certain 
outstanding or future debt. These risks  could adversely affect our financial  condition and results  of operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price could become more volatile and your investment could lose value.   Al l  of the factors  discussed within this  Risk Factors  section could affect our 
stock price. The timing of announcements  in the publ ic market by us  or by our competitors  regarding new cloud services , AI advancements , products , product 
enhancements , technological  advances, data center capacity, acquis i tions  or major transactions  could a lso affect our stock price. Changes  in the amounts  and 
frequency of stock repurchases  or dividends could affect our stock price. Our stock price could a lso be affected by factors , some of which are beyond our 
control , including, among others : speculation in the press , socia l  media and the analyst community; changes  in recommendations  or earnings-related estimates  
by financial  analysts ; changes  in investors ’ or analysts ’ valuation measures  for our stock; negative analyst surveys  or channel  check surveys; earnings  
announcements  where our financial  results  di ffer from our guidance or investors ’ expectations; our credit ratings; dissemination of inaccurate information or 
mis information about our bus iness  and results  of operations  (including through the mal icious  use of generative AI tools); the enforcement or non-enforcement 
of laws and regulations; and market trends  unrelated to our performance. The stock market in general , and the market for technology companies  in particular, 
has  experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations  that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies . A 
s igni ficant drop in our stock price could a lso expose us  to the risk of securi ties  class  action lawsuits , which could result in substantia l  costs  and divert 
management’s  attention and resources, which could adversely affect our bus iness .

We cannot guarantee that our stock repurchase program will be fully implemented or that it will enhance long-term stockholder value.   Our repurchase program 
does  not have an expiration date and we are not obl igated to repurchase a speci fied number or dol lar value of shares. Further, our stock repurchase program 
may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time. Our stock repurchase program may not enhance long-term stockholder value.

General Risks

Economic, political and market conditions can adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, including our revenue growth and 
profitability, which in turn could adversely affect our stock price.    Our bus iness  is  influenced by a  range of factors  that are beyond our control  and that we have 
no comparative advantage in forecasting. These include: 

•general  economic and bus iness  conditions;

•overal l  demand for enterprise cloud, l icense and hardware products  and services;

•governmental  budgetary constraints  or shi fts  in government spending priori ties ; and

•general  legal , regulatory and pol i tical  developments .

Macroeconomic developments  such as  the global  or regional  economic effects  resulting from elevated inflation and interest rates , l imited l iquidity, adverse 
developments  affecting financial  insti tutions, the current wars , evolving trade pol icies  between the U.S. and international  trade partners , including the 
imposition of tari ffs  and other trade measures  or restrictions, or the occurrence of s imi lar events  in other countries  that lead to uncertainty or instabi l i ty in 
economic, pol i tical  or market conditions  could negatively affect our bus iness , operating results , financial  condition and outlook, which, in turn, could 
adversely affect our stock price. Any general  weakening of, and related decl ining 



Table of Contents

 

 

31

corporate confidence in, the global  economy or the curtai lment of government or corporate spending could cause current or potentia l  customers  to reduce or 
el iminate their IT budgets  and spending, which could cause customers  to delay, decrease or cancel  purchases  of our products  and services  or cause customers  
not to pay us  or to delay paying us  for previous ly purchased products  and services . If any parties  with whom we conduct bus iness  or invest our cash or cash 
equivalents  are unable to meet their obl igations  to us , our bus iness  could be adversely affected. Bank fa i lures  or i ssues  in the broader U.S. or global  financial  
systems may have an impact on the broader capital  markets  and, in turn, our abi l i ty to access  those markets .

In addition, international , regional  or domestic pol i tical  unrest and the related potentia l  impact on global  stabi l i ty, trade wars , terrorist attacks  and the 
potentia l  for other hosti l i ties  in various  parts  of the world, publ ic health crises  and natural  disasters  continue to contribute to a  cl imate of economic and 
pol i tical  uncertainty that could adversely affect our results  of operations  and financial  condition, including our revenue growth and profi tabi l i ty. These factors  
general ly have the strongest effect on our sales  of cloud l icense and on-premise l icense, hardware and related services  and, to a  lesser extent, a lso may affect 
our renewal  rates  for l icense support and our subscription-based cloud offerings .

Business disruptions could adversely affect our operating results.   A s igni ficant portion of our cri tical  bus iness  operations  are concentrated in a  few geographic 
areas, some of which include emerging market international  locations  that may be less  stable relative to running such bus iness  operations  solely within the U.S. 
We are a  highly automated bus iness  and a disruption or fa i lure of our systems, supply chains  and processes  could cause delays  in completing sales , providing 
services , including some of our cloud offerings , and enabl ing a  seamless  customer experience with respect to our customer facing back-office processes. 
Although the Oracle Cloud is  des igned to automatical ly redirect traffic to an al ternate faci l i ty, in the event of a  severe impact to one faci l i ty, a  major natural  
disaster, pol i tical , socia l  or other disruption to infrastructure that supports  our operations  or other catastrophic event or the effects  of cl imate change (such as  
increased storm severi ty, drought and pandemics) that results  in the destruction or disruption of any of our cri tical  bus iness  operations, supply chains  or IT 
systems could severely affect our abi l i ty to conduct normal  bus iness  operations  and, as  a  result, our future operating results  could be materia l ly and adversely 
affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None. 
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity 

Our overal l  information securi ty risk management approach is  des igned to enable us  to assess , identi fy and manage major risk exposures, including from 
materia l  ri sks  from cybersecuri ty threats , in a  timely manner. As  part of our information securi ty risk management program, we perform risk assessments  in 
which we map and priori tize information securi ty risks  identi fied through the processes  described below. These assessments  inform our information securi ty 
risk management strategies  and overs ight processes  and we view cybersecuri ty risks  as  one of the key risk categories  we face.

We bel ieve that Oracle is  a  target for computer hackers , cyber threats  and other bad actors  because our products  and services  store, retrieve, process  and 
manage large amounts  of data, including sens itive data. We and our vendors  are regularly subject to attempts  by third parties  to identi fy and exploit product 
and service vulnerabi l i ties , penetrate or bypass  our securi ty measures  and gain unauthorized access  to our or our customers’, partners ’ and suppl iers ’ 
software, hardware and cloud offerings , networks  and systems.

If a  large scale cyberattack or other major securi ty incident results  in unauthorized access  to or modification or exfi l tration of a  s igni ficant amount of our 
customers’ or suppl iers ’ data, other external  data, our own data or our IT systems, or i f the services  we provide to our customers  are disrupted, or i f our 
products  or services  are reported to have (or are perceived as  having) securi ty vulnerabi l i ties , we could incur s igni ficant expenses  and suffer substantia l  
damage to our brand and reputation, and this  could result in a  materia l  impact on our bus iness . Refer to “Data Privacy, Cybersecuri ty and Intel lectual  Property 
Risks” in Risk Factors  included in Item 1A within this  Annual  Report for additional  discuss ion of the chal lenges  we encounter with respect to cybersecuri ty risks .

During fiscal  2025, Oracle experienced cybersecuri ty incidents  that, to date, have not had a materia l  impact on our bus iness , including our bus iness  strategy, 
results  of operations  or financial  condition.

Our corporate securi ty and information securi ty programs are des igned to help us  prevent, prepare for, detect, respond to and recover from cybersecuri ty 
threats . We leverage industry standard securi ty frameworks  to evaluate our securi ty controls . Relevant personnel  col laborate with subject matter experts  
throughout the process  to identi fy and assess  materia l  cybersecuri ty threats , evaluate their severi ty, and explore ways  to mitigate a  potentia l  securi ty incident. 
We continual ly conduct securi ty and privacy reviews to pinpoint risks  associated with our products , services  and enterprise. We also employ various  
monitoring tools  to track suspicious  or anomalous  activi ty across  our networks , systems, and data, and we s imulate cyber threats  to proactively address  
vulnerabi l i ties . Final ly, we routinely tra in our employees  on cybersecuri ty matters .

This  program includes  processes  for triaging, assess ing the severi ty of, escalating, containing, investigating and remediating information securi ty events , as  
wel l  as  meeting legal  obl igations  and minimizing customer impact and brand and reputational  damage. In addition, we maintain insurance to protect against 
potentia l  losses  aris ing from a cybersecuri ty incident. Periodic tabletop exercises  are conducted to test and reinforce our incident response controls , with 
incident severi ty and priori ty assessed on an ongoing bas is .

We also conduct external  and internal  risk management audits  to assess  and report on our internal  incident response preparedness  and help identi fy areas  for 
continued focus  and improvement. We conduct periodic penetration testing to identi fy vulnerabi l i ties  in our products , services , and systems. We also undergo 
securi ty-related industry certi fications  and attestations  by external  auditors , including System and Organization Controls  (SOC) 1, SOC 2, International  
Organization for Standardization (ISO) 27001, 27017 and 27018, Cloud Securi ty Al l iance Securi ty Trust Assurance and Risk (CSA STAR), Payment Card Industry 
Data Securi ty Standard (PCI DSS) and other compl iance frameworks. Additional ly, our vendor risk management program identi fies  and mitigates  risks  
associated with third-party service providers , including those within our supply chain and those with access  to our customer or employee data or systems. We 
use the findings  from these and other processes  to review our information securi ty practices , procedures  and technologies .

Cybersecuri ty i s  an important area of focus  for our Board. Our information securi ty risk management program is  des igned to a l low our Board to establ ish a  
mutual  understanding with management of the effectiveness  of our information securi ty risk management practices  and capabi l i ties , including the divis ion of 
responsibi l i ties  for reviewing our information securi ty risk exposure and risk tolerance, tracking emerging information risks  and ensuring proper escalation of 
certain key risks  for periodic review by the Board of Directors  and i ts  committees. As  
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part of i ts  broader risk overs ight activi ties , the Board oversees  risks  from cybersecuri ty risks , both directly and through the Finance and Audit Committee of the 
Board (the F&A Committee). As  reflected in i ts  charter, the F&A Committee ass ists  the Board with the management and assessment of privacy and data securi ty 
risk and is  responsible for reviewing and discuss ing with management privacy and data securi ty risk exposures, including, among other things , the potentia l  
impacts  of those exposures  on our bus iness , financial  results , operations  and reputation. The F&A Committee also oversees  our internal  controls  over financial  
reporting, including with respect to financial  reporting-related information systems.

As  an element of i ts  information securi ty risk management overs ight activi ties , the F&A Committee reviews the results  of our incident response control  tests , 
external  and internal  audits  and penetration testing and oversees  our vendor risk management program. The F&A Committee also receives  quarterly updates  
regarding cybersecuri ty matters  from senior management. In turn, the F&A Committee reports  to the ful l  Board on a quarterly bas is  regarding the F&A 
Committee’s  cybersecuri ty risk overs ight activi ties . We also have Board members  with expansive knowledge and expertise in the area of cybersecuri ty. In 
addition to these regularly scheduled updates, our Chief Privacy Officer and Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty may 
also report to the F&A Committee on how certain information securi ty risks  are being managed and progress  towards  agreed mitigation goals , as  wel l  as  any 
potentia l  materia l  ri sks  from cybersecuri ty threats  that have been detected by the information securi ty team.

Robert Duhart, Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty i s  responsible for the day-to-day identi fication, assessment and 
management of the information securi ty risks  we face. Our Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty has  extens ive 
experience in managing cybersecuri ty and has  served in various  leadership roles  in information technology and cybersecuri ty at several  large publ ic 
companies , the U.S. Department of Defense and the Federal  Bureau of Investigation. Most recently, he served as  the Chief Information Securi ty Officer, 
eCommerce and Deputy Chief Information Securi ty Officer at a  major retai ler. Our Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty 
earned a master’s  degree in technology management from George Mason Univers i ty – Costel lo Col lege of Bus iness , and a Chief Information Securi ty Officer 
Executive Certi ficate from Carnegie Mel lon Univers i ty – Heinz Col lege of Information Systems and Publ ic Pol icy.

Our Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty i s  supported by team members  who have relevant educational  and industry 
experience. These team members  provide regular reports  to the Senior Vice Pres ident, Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty and work closely 
with our Chief Privacy Officer and include personnel  dedicated to information securi ty, product securi ty, and phys ical  securi ty. Informed by the processes  and 
practices  discussed under “Risk Management and Strategy” above, team members  escalate cybersecuri ty threats  and incidents  to the Senior Vice Pres ident, 
Cloud Securi ty and Head of Global  Information Securi ty who assesses  the severi ty of such threats  and incidents  for inclus ion in quarterly update to the F&A 
Committee where appropriate. In addition to the ordinary-course Board and F&A Committee reporting and overs ight described above, we also maintain 
disclosure controls  and procedures  des igned for prompt reporting to the Board and timely publ ic disclosure, as  appropriate, of materia l  events  covered by our 
risk management framework, including cybersecuri ty risks .

Item 2. Properties

Our properties  cons ist of owned and leased office faci l i ties  for cloud operations, sa les , support, research and development, services , manufacturing and 
administrative and other functions. Our headquarters  faci l i ty cons ists  of approximately 0.9 mi l l ion square feet in Austin, Texas, a l l  of which we own. We also 
own or lease offices  and certain other faci l i ties  for current use cons isting of approximately 26.9 mi l l ion square feet in various  other locations  in the U.S. and 
abroad. Approximately 10.4 mi l l ion square feet, or 37%, of our total  owned and leased offices  and certain other faci l i ties  are sublet or are being actively 
marketed for sublease or dispos ition. We lease our principal  internal  manufacturing faci l i ty for our hardware products  in Hi l l sboro, Oregon. Additional ly, our 
cloud operations  del iver our Oracle Cloud Services  through the use of global  data centers , substantia l ly a l l  of which were leased through colocation suppl iers . 
We bel ieve that our faci l i ties  are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our bus iness . 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The materia l  set forth in Note 12 (pertaining to information regarding contingencies  related to our income taxes) and Note 15 (pertaining to information 
regarding legal  contingencies) of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  in Item 15 of this  Annual  Report i s  incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appl icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is  traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol  “ORCL.” According to the records  of our transfer agent, we had 6,574 stockholders  
of record as  of May 31, 2025. 

For equity compensation plan information, please refer to Item 12 in Part III  of this  Annual  Report.

Stock Repurchase Program

Our Board has  approved a program for us  to repurchase shares  of our common stock. As  of May 31, 2025, approximately $6.4 bi l l ion remained avai lable for 
stock repurchases  pursuant to our stock repurchase program. 

Our stock repurchase authorization does  not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activi ty wi l l  depend on factors  such as  our working capital  
needs, our cash requirements  for acquis i tions  and dividend payments , our debt repayment obl igations  or repurchases  of our debt, our stock price and economic 
and market conditions. Our stock repurchases  may be effected from time to time through open market purchases  or pursuant to a  Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. Our 
stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

The fol lowing table summarizes  the stock repurchase activi ty for the three months  ended May 31, 2025 and the approximate dol lar value of shares  that may yet 
be purchased pursuant to our stock repurchase program:
 

(in millions, except per share amounts)  
Total Number of

Shares
Purchased   

Average Price
Paid per
Share   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced
Program   

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Program  
Ma rch 1, 2025—Ma rch 31, 2025   0.3  $ 150.68   0.3  $ 6,462.3 
Apri l  1, 2025—Apri l  30, 2025   0.4  $ 133.53   0.4  $ 6,412.3 
Ma y 1, 2025—Ma y 31, 2025   0.3  $ 156.46   0.3  $ 6,362.3 

Tota l   1.0  $ 146.22   1.0    
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return 

The graph below compares  the cumulative total  s tockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total  return of the S&P 500 Index and the Dow 
Jones  U.S. Technology Total  Return Index for each of the last five fiscal  years  ended May 31, 2025, assuming an investment of $100 at the beginning of such 
period and the reinvestment of any dividends. The comparisons  in the graphs  below are based upon historical  data and are not indicative of, nor intended to 
forecast, future performance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Oracle Corporation, the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Technology Total Return Index

 
*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2020 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS

 
  5/20   5/21   5/22   5/23   5/24   5/25  
Ora cl e  Corpora ti on   100.0   148.8   138.0   206.8   232.0   331.5 
S&P 500 Inde x   100.0   140.3   139.9   144.0   184.6   209.5 
Dow Jone s  U.S. Te chnol ogy Tota l  Re turn Inde x   100.0   148.0   142.0   168.9   236.8   272.4 
 

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  with an overview of our bus inesses  and s igni ficant trends. 
This  overview is  fol lowed by a  summary of our cri tical  accounting estimates  that we bel ieve are important to understanding s igni ficant assumptions  and 
judgments  incorporated in our reported financial  results . We then provide a more detai led analys is  of our results  of operations  and financial  condition for 
fi scal  2025 compared to fiscal  2024. A discuss ion regarding our financial  condition and results  of operations  for fi scal  2024 compared to fiscal  2023 can be 
found in Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024, as  fi led with the SEC on June 20, 2024, which is  avai lable free of charge on the SEC’s  website at www.sec.gov and on our Investor 
Relations  website at www.oracle.com/investor.

Business Overview

Oracle provides  products  and services  that address  enterprise IT needs. Our products  and services  include enterprise appl ications  and infrastructure offerings  
that are del ivered worldwide through a variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models . These models  include on-premise, cloud-based and hybrid 
deployments  (an approach that combines  both on-premise and cloud-based deployments). Accordingly, we offer choice and flexibi l i ty to our customers  and 
faci l i tate the product, service and deployment combinations  that best suit our customers’ needs. Through our worldwide sales  force and Oracle Partner 
Network, we sel l  to customers  a l l  over the world including bus inesses  of many s izes , government agencies , educational  insti tutions  and resel lers .

We have three bus inesses: cloud and l icense; hardware; and services; each of which comprises  a  s ingle operating segment. The descriptions  set forth below as  a  
part of this  Item 7 Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  and the information contained within Item 1 
Bus iness  and Note 13 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report provide additional  information related to our 
bus inesses  and operating segments  and al ign to how our chief operating decis ion makers  (CODMs), which are our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology 
Officer, view our operating results  and al locate resources.

Cloud and License Business 

Our cloud and l icense bus iness , which represented 86% and 84% of our total  revenues in fi scal  2025 and 2024, respectively, markets , sel ls  and del ivers  a  broad 
spectrum of enterprise appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  through our cloud and l icense offerings . Revenue streams included in our cloud and l icense 
bus iness  are:

•Cloud services  and l icense support revenues, which include:

ocloud services  revenues, which are earned by providing customers  access  to Oracle Cloud appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  via  cloud-
based deployment models  that Oracle develops, provides  unspeci fied updates  and enhancements  for, deploys , hosts , manages  and supports  and that 
customers  access  by entering into a  subscription agreement with us  for a  stated period. Oracle Cloud Services  arrangements  general ly: are bi l led in 
advance of the cloud services  being del ivered; have durations  of one to four years ; are renewed at the customer’s  option; and are recognized as  
revenues ratably over the contractual  period of the cloud contract or, in the case of usage model  contracts , as  the cloud services  are consumed over 
time; and 

ol i cense support revenues, which are earned by providing Oracle l icense support services  to customers  that have elected to purchase support 
services  in connection with the purchase of Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure software l icenses  for use in cloud, on-premise and other IT 
environments . Substantia l ly a l l  l i cense support customers  renew their support contracts  with us  upon expiration in order to continue to benefi t from 
technical  support services  and the periodic i ssuance of unspeci fied updates  and enhancements , which current l icense support customers  are enti tled 
to receive. License support contracts  are general ly: priced as  a  percentage of the net fees  paid by the customer to purchase a cloud l icense and/or on-
premise l icense; bi l led in advance of the support services  being performed; renewed at the customer’s  option; and recognized as  revenues ratably 
over the contractual  period that the support services  are provided, which is  general ly one year.
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•Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues, which include revenues from the l icens ing of our software products  including Oracle Appl ications, 
Oracle Database, Oracle Middleware and Java, among others , which our customers  deploy within cloud-based, on-premise or other IT environments . Our 
cloud l icense and on-premise l icense transactions  are general ly perpetual  in nature and are general ly recognized as  revenues up front at the point in 
time when the software is  made avai lable to the customer to download and use. Revenues from usage-based royalty arrangements  for distinct cloud 
l icenses  and on-premise l icenses  are recognized at the point in time when the software end user usage occurs . The timing of a  few large l icense 
transactions  can substantia l ly affect our quarterly l icense revenues due to the point-in-time nature of revenue recognition for l icense transactions, 
which is  di fferent than the typical  revenue recognition pattern for our cloud services  and l icense support revenues in which revenues are recognized over 
time. Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense customers  have the option to purchase and renew l icense support contracts , as  further described above.

Providing choice and flexibi l i ty to our customers  as  to when and how they deploy Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  are important elements  
of our corporate strategy. In recent periods, customer demand for our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  del ivered through our Oracle Cloud Services  
has  increased. To address  customer demand and enable customer choice, we have certain programs for customers  to pivot their appl ications  and infrastructure 
software l icenses  and the related l icense support to the Oracle Cloud for new deployments  and to migrate to and expand with the Oracle Cloud for their existing 
workloads. The proportion of our cloud services  revenues relative to our total  revenues has  increased and we expect this  trend to continue. Cloud services  
revenues represented 43%, 37% and 32% of our total  revenues during fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenue growth is  affected by many factors , including the strength of general  economic and bus iness  conditions, including the 
effects  of inflation, tari ffs  and trade pol icy, geopol i tical  conditions  and other macroeconomic factors  on customer demand; governmental  budgetary 
constraints ; the strategy for and competitive pos ition of our offerings; customer satis faction with our offerings; the continued renewal  of our cloud services  and 
l icense support customer contracts  by the customer contract base; substantia l ly a l l  customers  continuing to purchase l icense support contracts  in connection 
with their l icense purchases; the pricing of l icense support contracts  sold in connection with the sales  of l icenses; the pricing, amounts  and volumes of l icenses  
and cloud services  sold; our abi l i ty to manage Oracle Cloud capacity requirements  to meet existing and prospective customer demand; and foreign currency 
rate fluctuations.

On a constant currency bas is , we expect that our total  cloud and l icense revenues general ly wi l l  continue to increase due to:

•expected growth in our cloud services  offerings; and

•continued demand for our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense and l icense support offerings .

We bel ieve these factors  should contribute to future growth in our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  revenues, which should enable us  to continue to make 
investments  in research and development and our cloud operations  to develop, improve, increase the capacity of and expand the geographic footprint of our 
cloud and l icense products  and services .

Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ margin has  historical ly trended upward over the course of the four quarters  within a  particular fi scal  year due to the historical  
upward trend of our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenues over those quarterly periods  and because the majori ty of our costs  for this  bus iness  are general ly 
fixed in the short term. The historical  upward trend of our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenues over the course of the four quarters  within a  particular fi scal  
year is  primari ly due to the addition of new cloud services  and l icense support contracts  to the customer contract base, which we general ly recognize as  
revenues ratably or based upon customer usage over the respective contractual  terms and the renewal  of existing customers’ cloud services  and l icense support 
contracts  over the course of each fiscal  year, which we general ly recognize as  revenues in a  s imi lar manner; and the historical  upward trend of our cloud 
l icense and on-premise l icense revenues, which we general ly recognize at a  point in time upon del ivery; in each case over those four fiscal  quarterly periods. 
Our margin for this  bus iness  may be adversely impacted due to increases  in supply chain and energy costs , the impact of tari ffs  and trade pol icy and other 
factors .



Table of Contents

 

 

39

Hardware Business 

Our hardware bus iness , which represented 5% and 6% of our total  revenues in fi scal  2025 and 2024, respectively, provides  a  broad selection of enterprise 
hardware products  and hardware-related software products  including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers , s torage, industry-speci fic hardware offerings , 
operating systems, vi rtual ization, management and other hardware-related software and related hardware support. Each hardware product and i ts  related 
software, such as  an operating system or fi rmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as  a  combined performance obl igation. 
The revenues for this  combined performance obl igation are general ly recognized at the point in time that the hardware product and i ts  related software are 
del ivered to the customer and ownership is  transferred to the customer. We expect to continue to make investments  in research and development to improve 
existing hardware products  and services  and to develop new hardware products  and services . The majori ty of our hardware products  are sold through indirect 
channels , including independent distributors  and value-added resel lers . Our hardware support offerings  provide customers  with unspeci fied software updates  
for software components  that are essentia l  to the functional i ty of our hardware products  and associated software products . Our hardware support offerings  
can also include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  support services . Hardware support contracts  are entered into and renewed at the option 
of the customer, are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net hardware products  fees  and are general ly recognized as  revenues ratably as  the hardware 
support services  are del ivered over the contractual  terms.

We general ly expect our hardware bus iness  to have lower operating margins  as  a  percentage of revenues than our cloud and l icense bus iness  due to the 
incremental  costs  we incur to produce and distribute these products  and to provide support services , including direct materia ls  and labor costs . 

Our quarterly hardware revenues are di fficult to predict. Our hardware revenues, cost of hardware and hardware operating margins  that we report are affected 
by many factors , including our manufacturing partners ’ abi l i ties  to timely and cost-effectively manufacture or del iver a  few large hardware transactions; our 
strategy for and the pricing and pos ition of our hardware products  relative to competitor offerings; customer demand for competing offerings , including cloud 
infrastructure offerings; the strength of general  economic and bus iness  conditions, including the effects  of inflation, tari ffs  and trade pol icy, geopol i tical  
conditions  and other macroeconomic factors  on customer demand; governmental  budgetary constraints ; whether customers  decide to purchase hardware 
support contracts  at or in close proximity to the time of hardware product sale; the percentage of our hardware support contract customer base that renews i ts  
support contracts ; the effect of tari ffs  and other trade barriers  on our costs , and our abi l i ty to pass  such costs  on to customers; the geographic locations  of our 
customers; the close association between hardware products , which have a fini te l i fe, and customer demand for related hardware support as  hardware 
products  age; customer decis ions  to ei ther maintain or upgrade their existing hardware infrastructure to newly developed technologies  that are avai lable; and 
foreign currency rate fluctuations.

Services Business 

Our services  bus iness , which represented 9% and 10% of our total  revenues in fi scal  2025 and 2024, respectively, helps  customers  and partners  maximize the 
performance of their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies . We bel ieve that our services  are di fferentiated based on our focus  on 
Oracle technologies , extens ive experience, broad sets  of intel lectual  property and best practices . Our services  offerings  include consulting services  and 
advanced customer services . Our services  bus iness  has  lower margins  than our cloud and l icense and hardware bus inesses. Our services  revenues are affected 
by many factors  including our strategy for, and the competitive pos ition of, our services; customer demand for our cloud and l icense and hardware offerings  
and the related services  that we may market and sel l  in connection with these offerings; general  economic conditions; governmental  budgetary constraints ; 
personnel  reductions  in our customers’ IT departments; tighter controls  over customer discretionary spending; and foreign currency rate fluctuations. 

Acquisitions

Our selective and active acquis i tion program is  another important element of our corporate strategy. Historical ly, we have invested bi l l ions  of dol lars  to 
acquire a  number of complementary companies , products , services  and 
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technologies . As  compel l ing opportunities  become avai lable, we may acquire companies , products , services  and technologies  in furtherance of our corporate 
strategy.

We bel ieve that we can fund our future acquis i tions  with our internal ly avai lable cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  balances, cash generated 
from operations, additional  borrowings  or from the issuance of additional  securi ties . We estimate the financial  impact of any potentia l  acquis i tion with regard 
to earnings , operating margin, cash flows and return on invested capital  targets , among others , before deciding to move forward with an acquis i tion.

Investment in Ampere Computing Holdings LLC

From time to time s ince 2017, we have made investments  in Ampere, a  related party enti ty, in the form of equity and convertible debt instruments . The total  
carrying value of our investments  in Ampere, after accounting for losses  under the equity method of accounting, was  $1.6 bi l l ion and $1.5 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 
2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Our equity investments  in Ampere represent an ownership interest of approximately 29% as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024. We also own convertible debt 
investments  in Ampere which, under the terms of an agreement with Ampere and other co-investors , wi l l  mature in June 2026 and are convertible into equity 
securi ties  at the holder’s  option under certain ci rcumstances. During the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2025, we invested an aggregate of $341 mi l l ion in 
convertible debt instruments  issued by Ampere. In accordance with the terms of an agreement with other co-investors , we are a lso a  counterparty to certain put 
(exercisable by a  co-investor) and cal l  (exercisable by Oracle) options  at prices  of approximately $500 mi l l ion to $1.5 bi l l ion, respectively, to acquire 
additional  equity interests  in Ampere from our co-investors  through January 2027.

On March 19, 2025, SoftBank Group Corp. announced that i t had entered into an agreement with Ampere and i ts  equity holders  to acquire a l l  of the equity 
interests  of Ampere. The transaction is  subject to customary clos ing conditions, including regulatory approvals . When the Ampere Acquis i tion closes , we wi l l  
cease to be an investor in Ampere. During the period prior to the clos ing of the Ampere Acquis i tion, the amount of our investments  in Ampere could increase for 
a  variety of reasons  and we wi l l  continue to recognize our share of loss  in Ampere’s  net earnings  unti l  the closure of the acquis i tion.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our consol idated financial  s tatements  are prepared in accordance with U.S. general ly accepted accounting principles  (GAAP), which requires  us  to make certain 
estimates, judgments  and assumptions  that can affect the reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l i ties , revenues, expenses  and related disclosures. Cri tical  
accounting estimates  are those estimates  that involve a  s igni ficant level  of estimation uncertainty and have had, or are reasonably l ikely to have, a  materia l  
impact on our financial  condition or results  of operations. We bel ieve that the estimates, judgments  and assumptions  upon which we rely are reasonable based 
upon information avai lable to us  at the time that these estimates, judgments  and assumptions  are made. To the extent that there are di fferences  between these 
estimates, judgments  or assumptions  and actual  results , our financial  s tatements  wi l l  be affected. We have cri tical  accounting estimates  in the areas  of income 
taxes  and non-marketable investments . Refer to Note 1 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for more 
discuss ion of our s igni ficant accounting pol icies .

Income Taxes 

Judgment is  required in determining our worldwide income tax provis ion. In the ordinary course of a  global  bus iness , there are many transactions  and 
calculations  where the ultimate tax outcome is  uncertain. Some of these uncertainties  arise as  a  consequence of revenue sharing and cost reimbursement 
arrangements  among related enti ties , the process  of identi fying i tems of revenues and expenses  that qual i fy for preferentia l  tax treatment and the segregation of 
foreign and domestic earnings  and expenses  to avoid double taxation. Although we bel ieve that our estimates  are reasonable, the final  tax outcome of these 
matters  could be di fferent from that which is  reflected in our historical  income tax provis ions  and accruals . Such di fferences  could have a materia l  effect on our 
income tax provis ion and net income in the period in which such determination is  made.
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We record a valuation al lowance to reduce our deferred tax assets  to the amount that i s  more l ikely than not to be real ized. In order for us  to real ize our 
deferred tax assets , we must be able to generate sufficient taxable income in those jurisdictions  where the deferred tax assets  are located. We cons ider future 
growth, forecasted earnings , future taxable income, the mix of earnings  in the jurisdictions  in which we operate, historical  earnings , taxable income in prior 
years , i f carryback is  permitted under the law, and prudent and feas ible tax planning strategies  in determining the need for a  valuation al lowance. In the event 
we were to determine that we would not be able to real ize a l l  or part of our net deferred tax assets  in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets  
valuation al lowance would be charged to earnings  in the period in which we make such a determination, or goodwi l l  would be adjusted at our final  
determination of the valuation al lowance related to an acquis i tion within the measurement period. If we later determine that i t i s  more l ikely than not that the 
net deferred tax assets  would be real ized, we would reverse the appl icable portion of the previous ly provided valuation al lowance as  an adjustment to our 
provis ion for income taxes  at such time.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provis ion based on estimates  and assumptions  that could di ffer from the actual  results  reflected in income tax 
returns  fi led during the subsequent year. Adjustments  based on fi led returns  are general ly recorded in the period when the global  tax impl ications  are known, 
which can materia l ly impact our effective tax rate.

The amount of income tax we pay is  subject to ongoing audits  by federal , s tate and foreign tax authori ties , which often result in proposed assessments . Our 
estimate of the potentia l  outcome for any uncertain tax issue may require certain judgments . 

We account for uncertain tax issues  pursuant to the Financial  Accounting Standards  Board's  Accounting Standards  Codification (ASC) 740, Income Taxes, which 
contains  a  two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax pos itions  taken or expected to be taken in a  tax return. The fi rst step is  to determine i f 
the weight of avai lable evidence indicates  that i t i s  more l ikely than not that the tax pos ition wi l l  be sustained in an audit, including resolution of any related 
appeals  or l i tigation processes. The second step is  to measure the tax benefi t as  the largest amount that i s  more than 50% l ikely to be real ized upon ultimate 
settlement. Although we bel ieve that we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax pos itions, no assurance can be given with respect to the final  outcome of 
these matters . We adjust reserves  for our uncertain tax pos itions  due to changing facts  and ci rcumstances, such as  the clos ing of a  tax audit, judicia l  rul ings  
and refinement of estimates  or real ization of earnings  or deductions  that di ffer from our estimates. To the extent that the final  outcome of these matters  i s  
di fferent than the amounts  recorded, such di fferences  general ly wi l l  impact our provis ion for income taxes  in the period in which such a determination is  made. 
Our provis ions  for income taxes  include the impact of reserve provis ions  and changes  to reserves  that are cons idered appropriate and also include the related 
interest and penalties .

Non-Marketable Investments

We assess  our non-marketable debt and equity investments  for credit losses  and impairment on a quarterly bas is  and as  facts  and ci rcumstances  change. Our 
analys is  includes  an assessment of various  qual i tative and quanti tative factors , including the investee’s  historical  financial  results , current financial  
projections, rate of cash usage and assumptions  regarding product acceptance and opportunity within the market. This  analys is  requires  s igni ficant judgment 
in evaluating underlying factors . In some instances, investee speci fic information avai lable to us  to make this  assessment may be l imited or may be avai lable 
on a delayed bas is . If the investment is  determined to be impaired, we adjust the carrying amount of such investment to i ts  estimated fa ir value by recognizing a  
charge, which is  included in non-operating income (expenses), net in our consol idated statements  of operations. Estimating the fa ir value of an investment upon 
impairment involves  a  s igni ficant level  of estimation, uncertainty and judgment. We may incur future losses  due to impairments , which could have a materia l  
impact on our results  of operations  and financial  pos ition.
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Results of Operations

Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information 

In our results  of operations  discuss ion below, we provide an overview of our total  consol idated revenues, total  consol idated operating expenses  and total  
consol idated operating margin, a l l  of which are presented on a GAAP bas is . We also present a  GAAP-based discuss ion below for substantia l ly a l l  of the other 
expense i tems as  presented in our consol idated statements  of operations  that are not directly attributable to our three bus inesses.

In addition, we discuss  below the results  of each of our three bus inesses—cloud and l icense, hardware and services—which are our operating segments  as  
defined pursuant to ASC 280, Segment Reporting. The financial  reporting for our three bus inesses  that i s  presented below is  presented in a  manner that i s  
cons istent with that used by our CODMs. Our operating segment presentation below reflects  revenues, direct costs  and sales  and marketing expenses  that 
correspond to and are directly attributable to each of our three bus inesses. We also uti l i ze these inputs  to calculate and present a  segment margin for each of 
our three bus inesses  in the discuss ion below.

Consistent with our internal  management reporting processes , research and development expenses, general  and administrative expenses, s tock-based 
compensation expenses, amortization of intangible assets , certain other expense al locations, acquis i tion related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, 
interest expense, non-operating income (expenses), net and provis ion for income taxes  are not attributed to our three operating segments  because our 
management does  not view the performance of our three bus inesses  including such i tems and/or i t i s  impracticable to do so. Refer to “Supplemental  Disclosure 
Related to Certain Charges” below for additional  discuss ion of certain of these i tems and Note 13 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included 
elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for a  reconci l iation of the summations  of total  segment margin as  presented in the discuss ion below to total  income before 
income taxes  as  presented per our consol idated statements  of operations  for fi scal  2025 and 2024.

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international  operations  have provided, and are expected to continue to provide, a  s igni ficant portion of each of our bus inesses ’ revenues and expenses. As  
a  result, each of our bus inesses ’ revenues and expenses  and our total  revenues and expenses  wi l l  continue to be affected by changes  in the U.S. Dol lar against 
major international  currencies . In order to provide a framework for assess ing how our underlying bus inesses  performed, excluding the effects  of foreign 
currency rate fluctuations, we compare the percent change in the results  from one period to another period in this  Annual  Report us ing constant currency. To 
present this  information, current and comparative prior period results  for enti ties  reporting in currencies  other than U.S. Dol lars  are converted into U.S. Dol lars  
at constant exchange rates  (i .e., the rates  in effect on May 31, 2024, which was the last day of our prior fi scal  year) rather than the actual  exchange rates  in 
effect during the respective periods. For example, i f an enti ty reporting in Euros  had revenues of 1.0 mi l l ion Euros  from products  sold on May 31, 2025 and 
2024, our financial  s tatements  would reflect reported revenues of $1.13 mi l l ion in fi scal  2025 (us ing 1.13 as  the appl icable average exchange rate for the 
period) and $1.09 mi l l ion in fi scal  2024 (us ing 1.09 as  the appl icable average exchange rate for the period). The constant currency presentation, however, 
would trans late the fiscal  2025 results  us ing the fiscal  2024 exchange rate and indicate, in this  example, no change in revenues between the periods  compared. 
In each of the tables  below, we present the percent change based on actual , unrounded results  in reported currency and in constant currency.
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Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    

(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Total Revenues by Geography:           
Americas  $ 36,339  10% 11% $ 33,122 
EMEA   14,025  8% 7%  13,030 
Asia Pacific   7,035  3% 5%  6,809 

Total revenues   57,399  8% 9%  52,961 
Total Operating Expenses   39,721  6% 6%  37,608 
Total Operating Margin  $ 17,678  15% 16% $ 15,353 
Total Operating Margin %  31%       29%  
% Revenues by Geography:           
Americas  63%       62%  
EMEA  25%       25%  
Asia Pacific  12%       13%  
Total Revenues by Business:           
Cloud and license  $ 49,230  11% 11% $ 44,464 
Hardware   2,936  -4% -4%  3,066 
Services   5,233  -4% -3%  5,431 

Total revenues  $ 57,399  8% 9% $ 52,961 
% Revenues by Business:           
Cloud and license  86%       84%  
Hardware  5%       6%  
Services  9%       10%  
 

(1)Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa 

Total  revenues increased by $4.4 bi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to a  $4.8 bi l l ion increase in cloud and l icense revenues, 
partia l ly offset by a  $198 mi l l ion decrease in services  revenues and a $130 mi l l ion decrease in hardware revenues, in each case during fiscal  2025 relative to 
fiscal  2024. Excluding the unfavorable effects  of foreign currency rate fluctuations  of 1% in fiscal  2025 on total  revenues, the constant currency increase in our 
cloud and l icense bus iness  revenues was primari ly due to growth in our cloud services  revenues as  customers  purchased our appl ications  and infrastructure 
technologies  and also renewed their related cloud contracts . In constant currency, appl ications  cloud services  and l icense support and infrastructure cloud 
services  and l icense support contributed 26% and 74%, respectively, of the growth in cloud services  and l icense support revenues in fi scal  2025. In our 
hardware bus iness , the constant currency decrease in revenues in fi scal  2025 was due to the emphasis  we placed on the marketing and sale of our growing 
cloud-based infrastructure technologies . In our services  bus iness , the constant currency decrease in revenues in fi scal  2025 was attributable to a  decrease in 
revenues from each of our primary services  offerings . The Americas , the EMEA and the As ia  Paci fic regions  contributed 74%, 19% and 7%, respectively, to the 
constant currency total  revenue growth during fiscal  2025.

Total  GAAP operating expenses  increased by $2.1 bi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. The increase in GAAP operating expenses  in 
reported currency during fiscal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was primari ly due to a  $2.1 bi l l ion increase in cloud services  and l icense support expenses  
primari ly due to higher infrastructure expenses  and higher employee-related expenses, including higher expenses  relating to stock-based compensation, that 
were incurred to support the growth in our cloud services  revenues; a  $945 mi l l ion increase in research and development expenses  primari ly due to an $813 
mi l l ion increase in employee-related expenses, including higher stock-based compensation expenses, and a $112 mi l l ion increase in infrastructure expenses; a  
$377 mi l l ion increase in sales  and marketing expenses; and a $54 mi l l ion increase in general  and administrative expenses  primari ly due to higher employee-
related expenses, including higher stock-based compensation expenses. These increases  in GAAP operating expenses  in reported currency during fiscal  2025 
relative to fiscal  2024 were partia l ly offset by a  $703 mi l l ion decrease in expenses  for the amortization of intangible assets  as  certain of our assets  were ful ly 
amortized; a  $249 mi l l ion decrease in services  expenses  primari ly due to decreases  in external  contractor and employee-related expenses; a  $239 mi l l ion 
decrease in acquis i tion related and other expenses  due to lower asset impairment and l i tigation-related charges; a  $109 mi l l ion decrease in hardware expenses  
due to lower hardware product and support costs ; and a $105 mi l l ion decrease in restructuring expenses.

(1)
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In constant currency, our total  operating margin and total  operating margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to 
higher revenues.

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our consol idated financial  information, we bel ieve that the fol lowing information is  helpful  to an overal l  understanding of our past financial  
performance and prospects  for the future. 

Our operating results  reported pursuant to GAAP included the fol lowing bus iness  combination accounting adjustments  and expenses  related to acquis i tions  
and certain other expenses, including stock-based compensation, that affected our GAAP net income:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024  
Amortization of intangible assets  $ 2,307  $ 3,010 
Acquis i tion related and other   75   314 
Restructuring   299   404 
Stock-based compensation, operating segments   1,597   1,382 
Stock-based compensation, R&D and G&A   3,077   2,592 
Income tax effects   (2,514)   (2,459)
  $ 4,841  $ 5,243 
 

(1)Represents the amortization of intangible assets, all of which were acquired in connection with our acquisitions. As of May 31, 2025, estimated future amortization related to intangible assets was as follows (in millions): 

 Fiscal 2026  $ 1,639 
 Fiscal 2027   672 
 Fiscal 2028   635 
 Fiscal 2029   561 
 Fiscal 2030   522 
 Thereafter   558 
 Total intangible assets, net  $ 4,587 

(2)Acquisition related and other expenses consist of personnel-related costs for transitional and certain other employees, certain business combination adjustments including certain adjustments after the measurement period 
has ended and certain other operating items, net.

(3)Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2025 and 2024 primarily related to employee severance in connection with the Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan (2024 Restructuring Plan). Additional information regarding certain of our 
restructuring plans is provided in management’s discussion below under “Restructuring Expenses,” and in Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

(4)Stock-based compensation was included in the following operating expense line items of our consolidated statements of operations (in millions): 

   Year Ended May 31,  
   2025   2024  

 Cloud services and license support  $ 609  $ 525 
 Hardware   29   23 
 Services   202   167 

 Sales and marketing   757   667 
 Stock-based compensation, operating segments   1,597   1,382 
 Research and development   2,638   2,225 
 General and administrative   439   367 
 Total stock-based compensation  $ 4,674  $ 3,974 

(5)For fiscal 2025 and 2024, the applicable jurisdictional tax rates applied to our income before income taxes after excluding the tax effects of items within the table above such as for stock-based compensation, amortization 
of intangible assets, restructuring and certain acquisition related and other items, and after excluding the net deferred tax effects associated with a previously recorded income tax benefit that resulted from a partial 
realignment of our legal entity structure. These adjustments resulted in an effective tax rate of 19.7%, instead of 12.1%, for fiscal 2025 and 19.2%, instead of 10.9%, for fiscal 2024, which in each case represented our 
effective tax rates as derived per our consolidated statements of operations. 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(5)
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Cloud and License Business

Our cloud and l icense bus iness  engages  in the sale and marketing of our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  that are del ivered through various  
deployment models  and include: Oracle Cloud Services  offerings; Oracle cloud l icense and on-premise l icense offerings; and Oracle l icense support offerings . 
Our cloud services  del iver appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  on a subscription bas is  via  cloud-based deployment models  that we develop, provide 
unspeci fied updates  and enhancements  for, deploy, host, manage and support. Revenues for our cloud services  are general ly recognized ratably over the 
contractual  term, which is  general ly one to four years , or in the case of usage model  contracts , as  the cloud services  are consumed. Cloud l icense and on-
premise l icense revenues represent fees  earned from granting customers  l icenses, general ly on a perpetual  bas is , to use our database and middleware and our 
appl ications  software products  within cloud and on-premise IT environments  and are general ly recognized up front at the point in time when the software is  
made avai lable to the customer to download and use. License support revenues are typical ly generated through the sale of appl ications  and infrastructure 
software l icense support contracts  related to cloud l icenses  and on-premise l icenses; are purchased by our customers  at their option; and are general ly 
recognized as  revenues ratably over the contractual  term, which is  general ly one year. We continue to place s igni ficant emphasis , both domestical ly and 
international ly, on direct sales  through our own sales  force. We also continue to market certain of our offerings  through indirect channels . Costs  associated 
with our cloud and l icense bus iness  are included in cloud services  and l icense support expenses  and sales  and marketing expenses. These costs  are largely 
personnel- and infrastructure-related and include the cost of providing our cloud services  and l icense support offerings , sa laries  and commiss ions  earned by 
our sales  force for the sale of our cloud and l icense offerings  and marketing program costs .
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Cloud and License Revenues:           
Americas  $ 31,714  12% 13% $ 28,196 
EMEA   11,773  9% 9%  10,771 
Asia Pacific   5,743  4% 6%  5,497 

Total revenues   49,230  11% 11%  44,464 
Expenses:           
Cloud services and license support   10,827  23% 24%  8,783 
Sales and marketing   7,473  4% 5%  7,167 

Total expenses   18,300  15% 15%  15,950 
Total Margin  $ 30,930  8% 9% $ 28,514 
Total Margin %  63%       64%  
% Revenues by Geography:           
Americas  64%       64%  
EMEA  24%       24%  
Asia Pacific  12%       12%  
Revenues by Offerings:           
Cloud services  $ 24,506  24% 24% $ 19,774 
License support   19,523  0% 0%  19,609 
Cloud license and on-premise license   5,201  2% 3%  5,081 

Total revenues  $ 49,230  11%  11% $ 44,464 
Cloud Services and License Support Revenues by Ecosystem:           

Applications cloud services and license support  $ 19,383  7% 7% $ 18,172 
Infrastructure cloud services and license support   24,646  16% 17%  21,211 

Total cloud services and license support revenues  $ 44,029  12% 12% $ 39,383 
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for 
purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  revenues increased by $4.8 bi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to a  $4.7 
bi l l ion increase in cloud services  revenues as  customers  purchased our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  and renewed their related cloud contracts  
and a $120 mi l l ion increase in cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues. These increases  were partia l ly offset by an $86 mi l l ion decrease in l icense 
support revenues in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. In constant currency, appl ications  cloud services  and l icense support and infrastructure cloud services  
and l icense support contributed 26% and 74%, respectively, of the growth in cloud services  and l icense support revenues in fi scal  2025. The Americas , the EMEA 
and the As ia  Paci fic regions  contributed 75%, 19% and 6%, respectively, to the constant currency revenue growth for this  bus iness  during fiscal  2025.

Total  cloud and l icense bus iness ’ expenses  increased by $2.4 bi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the favorable effects  
of currency rate fluctuations  of less  than 1% in fiscal  2025, the constant currency increase in expenses  in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was primari ly due 
to a  $1.6 bi l l ion increase in infrastructure expenses; a  $359 mi l l ion increase in employee-related expenses  for employees  engaged in cloud services  del ivery; 
and a $350 mi l l ion increase in sales  and marketing expenses  to support the increase in our cloud services  revenues. Our cloud services  and l icense support 
expenses  have grown in recent periods, and we expect this  trend to continue during fiscal  2026 as  we increase our existing data center capacity and establ ish 
data centers  in new geographic locations  in order to meet current and expected customer demand.

Excluding the effects  of currency rate fluctuations, our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  margin increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to increases  
in total  revenues for this  bus iness . Total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues in constant currency decreased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to an 
increase in total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

Hardware Business

Our hardware bus iness ’ revenues are generated from the sales  of our Oracle Engineered Systems, server, s torage and industry-speci fic hardware offerings . The 
hardware product and related software, such as  an operating system or fi rmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as  a  
combined performance obl igation. The revenues for this  combined performance obl igation are general ly recognized at the point in time that the hardware 
product is  del ivered to the customer and ownership is  transferred to the customer. Our hardware bus iness  a lso earns  revenues from the sale of hardware 
support contracts  purchased by our customers  at their option and that are general ly recognized as  revenues ratably as  the hardware support services  are 
del ivered over the contractual  term, which is  general ly one year. The majori ty of our hardware products  are sold through indirect channels  such as  independent 
distributors  and value-added resel lers  and we also market and sel l  our hardware products  through our direct sales  force. Operating expenses  associated with 
our hardware bus iness  include the cost of hardware products , which cons ists  of expenses  for materia ls  and labor used to produce these products  by our 
internal  manufacturing operations  or by third-party manufacturers , warranty and related expenses  and the impact of periodic changes  in inventory valuation, 
including the impact of inventory determined to be excess  and obsolete; the cost of materia ls  used to repair customer products  with el igible support contracts ; 
the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales  and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel-related and include variable 
compensation earned by our sales  force for the sales  of our hardware offerings .
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  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Hardware Revenues:           
Americas  $ 1,441  -4% -3% $ 1,494 
EMEA   893  -3% -3%  921 
As ia  Paci fic   602  -8% -7%  651 

Total  revenues   2,936  -4% -4%  3,066 
Expenses:           
Hardware products  and support   742  -13% -12%  855 
Sales  and marketing   276  -7% -6%  296 

Total  expenses   1,018  -12% -11%  1,151 
Total Margin  $ 1,918  0% 1% $ 1,915 
Total Margin %  65%       62%  
% Revenues by Geography:           
Americas  49%       49%  
EMEA  30%       30%  
As ia  Paci fic  21%       21%  
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for 
purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total  hardware revenues decreased by $130 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the unfavorable impact of currency 
rate fluctuations  of less  than 1% in fiscal  2025, the decrease in hardware revenues was primari ly due to our continued emphasis  on the marketing and sale of 
our cloud-based infrastructure technologies , which resulted in reduced sales  volumes of certain of our hardware product l ines  and also impacted the volume of 
hardware support contracts  sold in recent periods. Geographical ly, we experienced constant currency hardware revenue decl ines  in a l l  regions  in fi scal  2025.

Total  hardware expenses  decreased by $133 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. The decrease in hardware expenses  a l igned with 
lower hardware revenues. Excluding the favorable currency rate fluctuations  effect of 1% in fiscal  2025, the constant currency decrease in hardware expenses  
during fiscal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was due to a  $106 mi l l ion decrease in hardware product and support costs  and an $18 mi l l ion decrease in sales  and 
marketing expenses.

In constant currency, our hardware bus iness ’ total  margin and total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to 
lower total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

Services Business

Our services  offerings  are des igned to help maximize the performance of customer investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  and 
include our consulting services  and advanced customer services  offerings . Services  revenues are general ly recognized over time as  the services  are performed. 
The cost of providing our services  cons ists  primari ly of personnel-related expenses, technology infrastructure expenditures , faci l i ties  expenses  and external  
contractor expenses.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Services Revenues:           
Americas  $ 3,184  -7%  -6% $ 3,432 
EMEA   1,359  2%  1%  1,338 
As ia  Paci fic   690  4%  6%  661 

Total  revenues   5,233  -4%  -3%  5,431 
Total Expenses   4,240  -6%  -6%  4,515 
Total Margin  $ 993  8%  9% $ 916 
Total Margin %  19%       17%  
% Revenues by Geography:           
Americas  61%       63%  
EMEA  26%       25%  
As ia  Paci fic  13%       12%  
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain allocations. Also excludes certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for purposes of reporting to and review by our 
CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total  services  revenues decreased by $198 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the effects  of unfavorable currency rate 
fluctuations  of 1% in fiscal  2025, the decrease in total  services  revenues in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was due to a  decrease in revenues in each of our 
primary services  offerings . The constant currency decrease in services  revenues in the Americas  region was partia l ly offset by a  constant currency increase in 
services  revenues in the EMEA and the As ia  Paci fic regions  in fi scal  2025.

Total  services  expenses  decreased by $275 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the favorable effects  of currency rate 
fluctuations  of less  than 1% in fiscal  2025, the constant currency decrease in services  expenses  in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was primari ly due to a  
$158 mi l l ion decrease in external  contractor expenses  and an $81 mi l l ion decrease in employee-related expenses.

In constant currency, our services  bus iness ’ total  margin and total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to 
lower total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

Research and Development Expenses:   Research and development expenses  cons ist primari ly of personnel-related expenditures . We intend to continue to invest 
s igni ficantly in our research and development efforts  because, in our judgment, they are essentia l  to maintaining our competitive pos ition.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Research and development  $ 7,222  8%  9% $ 6,690 
Stock-based compensation   2,638  19%  19%  2,225 

Total  expenses  $ 9,860  11%  11% $ 8,915 
% of Total Revenues  17%       17%  
 

(1)Excluding stock-based compensation

Total  research and development expenses  increased by $945 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the favorable effects  
of currency rate fluctuations  of less  than 1% in fiscal  2025, the increase in research and development expenses  was  primari ly due to an increase in employee-
related expenses, including higher stock-based compensation expenses.

(1)

(1)
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General and Administrative Expenses:   General  and administrative expenses  primari ly cons ist of personnel-related expenditures  for IT, finance, legal  and 
human resources  support functions.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
General  and administrative  $ 1,163  -2%  -1% $ 1,181 
Stock-based compensation   439  20%  20%  367 

Total  expenses  $ 1,602  3%  4% $ 1,548 
% of Total Revenues  3%       3%  
 

(1)Excluding stock-based compensation 

Total  general  and administrative expenses  increased by $54 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024. Excluding the favorable effects  of 
currency rate fluctuations  of 1% in fiscal  2025, the increase in general  and administrative expenses  was  primari ly due to higher stock-based compensation 
expenses.

Amortization of Intangible Assets:   Substantia l ly a l l  our intangible assets  were acquired through our bus iness  combinations. We amortize our intangible assets  
over, and monitor the appropriateness  of, the estimated useful  l ives  of these assets . We also periodical ly review these intangible assets  for potentia l  
impairment based upon relevant facts  and ci rcumstances. Refer to Note 5 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  
Report for additional  information regarding our intangible assets  and related amortization.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Developed technology  $ 642  -5% -5% $ 676 
Cloud services and license support agreements and related relationships   714  -30% -30%  1,026 
Cloud license and on-premise license agreements and related relationships   462  -1% -1%  467 
Other   489  -42% -42%  841 

Total amortization of intangible assets  $ 2,307  -23% -23% $ 3,010 

Amortization of intangible assets  decreased by $703 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to a  reduction in expenses  
associated with certain of our intangible assets  that became ful ly amortized.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses:   Acquis i tion related and other expenses  cons ist of personnel-related costs  for trans itional  and certain other 
employees, certain bus iness  combination adjustments , including adjustments  after the measurement period has  ended, and certain other operating i tems, net.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Tra ns i ti ona l  a nd othe r e mpl oye e -re l a te d cos ts  $ 3  -81% -81% $ 19 
Bus i ne s s  combi na ti on a djus tme nts , ne t   (26)  125% 125%  (12)
Othe r, ne t   98  -68% -68%  307 

Tota l  a cqui s i ti on re l a te d a nd othe r e xpe ns e s  $ 75  -76% -76% $ 314 
 

Acquis i tion related and other expenses  decreased by $239 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 due to a  $209 mi l l ion decrease in 
other expenses  related to certain asset impairment and l i tigation-related charges  and a $30 mi l l ion total  decrease in trans itional  and other employee-related 
costs  and bus iness  combination adjustments , net.

(1)
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Restructuring Expenses:   Restructuring expenses  resulted from the execution of management-approved restructuring plans  that were general ly developed to 
improve our cost structure and/or operations, often in conjunction with our acquis i tion integration strategies  and/or other strategic ini tiatives . Restructuring 
expenses  cons ist of employee severance costs , contract termination costs  and certain other exi t costs  to improve our cost structure prospectively. For 
additional  information regarding our restructuring plans, see Note 7 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Restructuring expenses  $ 299  -26% -26% $ 404 

Restructuring expenses  in fi scal  2025 and 2024 primari ly related to the 2024 Restructuring Plan, which is  substantia l ly complete. Our management approved, 
committed to and ini tiated the 2024 Restructuring Plan in order to restructure and further improve efficiencies  in our operations. We may incur additional  
restructuring expenses  in future periods  due to the ini tiation of new restructuring plans  or from changes  in estimated costs  associated with existing 
restructuring plans.

The majori ty of the ini tiatives  undertaken by the 2024 Restructuring Plan were effected to implement our continued emphasis  in developing, marketing, sel l ing 
and del ivering our cloud-based offerings . Certain of the cost savings  real ized pursuant to the 2024 Restructuring Plan ini tiatives  were offset by investments  in 
resources  and geographies  that we bel ieve better address  the development, marketing, sale and del ivery of our cloud-based offerings , including investments  in 
the development and del ivery of our second-generation cloud infrastructure.

Interest Expense:
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Interest expense  $ 3,578  2% 2% $ 3,514 

Interest expense increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to the issuance of $14.0 bi l l ion of senior notes  in fi scal  2025, partia l ly offset by 
lower interest expense due to scheduled repayments  of borrowings  made during fiscal  2025 and 2024.

Non-Operating Income (Expenses), net:   Non-operating income (expenses), net cons ists  primari ly of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses , the 
noncontrol l ing interests  in the net profi ts  of our majori ty-owned subs idiaries  (primari ly Oracle Financial  Services  Software Limited and Oracle Corporation 
Japan), net losses  related to marketable and non-marketable investments , including losses  attributable to equity method investments  (primari ly Ampere) and 
net other income and expenses, including net unreal ized gains  and losses  from our investment portfol io related to our deferred compensation plan and non-
service net periodic pens ion income and losses .
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Interest income  $ 578  28% 28% $ 451 
Foreign currency losses , net   (147)  -35% -37%  (228)
Noncontrol l ing interests  in income   (184)  -1% -1%  (186)
Losses  from marketable and non-marketable investments , net   (278)  -8% -8%  (303)
Other income, net   91  -46% -46%  168 

Total  non-operating income (expenses), net  $ 60  * * $ (98)
 

* Not meaningful
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Our non-operating income (expenses), net increased by $158 mi l l ion in reported currency in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to a  $127 mi l l ion 
increase in interest income, an $81 mi l l ion decrease in foreign currency losses  and a $25 mi l l ion decrease in losses  from marketable and non-marketable 
investments . These contributors  to the increase in non-operating income (expenses), net were partia l ly offset by a  $77 mi l l ion decrease in other income, net, 
which was primari ly attributable to lower gains  associated with an investment portfol io that we held for our employee deferred compensation plan, and for 
which an equal  and offsetting amount was  recorded to our operating expenses  during the same period.

Provision for Income Taxes:   Our effective income tax rates  for each of the periods  presented were the result of the mix of income earned and losses  incurred in 
various  tax jurisdictions  that apply a  broad range of income tax rates . Refer to Note 12 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  
Annual  Report for a  discuss ion regarding the di fferences  between the effective income tax rates  as  presented for the periods  below and the U.S. federal  s tatutory 
income tax rates  that were in effect during these periods. Future effective tax rates  could be adversely affected by an unfavorable shi ft of earnings  weighted to 
jurisdictions  with higher tax rates , by unfavorable changes  in tax laws and regulations, by adverse rul ings  in tax-related l i tigation, or by shortfal ls  in stock-
based compensation real ized by employees  relative to stock-based compensation that was  recorded for book purposes, among others .
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
     Percent Change    
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Provis ion for income taxes  $ 1,717  35% 36% $ 1,274 

Effective tax rate  12.1%       10.9%  

Provis ion for income taxes  increased in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to an unfavorable jurisdictional  mix of earnings  of $380 mi l l ion, the 
absence of the real ization of a  one-time tax attribute of $238 mi l l ion, higher income before provis ion for income taxes  of $195 mi l l ion and the absence of the 
revaluation benefi t of net deferred tax assets  due to a  change in tax rate of $105 mi l l ion, partia l ly offset by a  combination of the absence of changes  in 
unrecognized tax benefi ts  of $233 mi l l ion and an increase in tax benefi ts  related to stock-based compensation of $223 mi l l ion.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

  As of May 31,  

(Dollars in millions)  2025   Change  2024  
Working capital  $ (8,064)  -10% $ (8,990)
Cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  $ 11,203  5% $ 10,661 

Working capital:   The increase in working capital  as  of May 31, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2024 was primari ly due to favorable impacts  from net income 
and proceeds from the issuance of senior notes , net of i ssuance costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion (refer to Note 6 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included 
elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for additional  information) during fiscal  2025. This  increase was partia l ly offset by $21.2 bi l l ion of cash used for capital  
expenditures; $4.9 bi l l ion of long-term borrowings  that were reclass i fied to current l iabi l i ties ; $4.7 bi l l ion of cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders ; 
$600 mi l l ion of cash used for repurchases  of our common stock; $294 mi l l ion of cash used for purchases, net of sales  and maturi ties  of non-current 
investments; and $247 mi l l ion of net cash used for our employee stock programs during fiscal  2025. Our working capital  may be impacted by some or a l l  of the 
aforementioned factors  in future periods, the amounts  and timing of which are variable.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities:   Cash and cash equivalents  primari ly cons ist of deposits  held at major banks, money market funds  and other 
securi ties  with original  maturi ties  of 90 days  or less . Marketable securi ties  cons ist primari ly of time deposits  with original  maturi ties  at the time of purchase 
greater than 90 days. The increase in cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  as  of May 31, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2024 was primari ly due to 
cash inflows from our operations; proceeds from the issuance of senior notes , net of i ssuance 
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costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion and the issuance of commercial  paper, net of repayments , of $1.9 bi l l ion during fiscal  2025 (refer to Note 6 of Notes  to Consol idated 
Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for additional  information); and $1.1 bi l l ion of cash inflows from other financing activi ties , net. 
This  increase was partia l ly offset by $21.2 bi l l ion of cash used for capital  expenditures; $10.2 bi l l ion of cash used for scheduled repayments  of borrowings; 
$4.7 bi l l ion of cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders ; $600 mi l l ion of cash used for repurchases  of our common stock; $496 mi l l ion of cash used for 
purchases, net of sales  and maturi ties  of investments; and $247 mi l l ion of net cash used for our employee stock programs during fiscal  2025. Our cash and 
cash equivalents  may be impacted by some or a l l  of the aforementioned factors  in future periods, the amounts  and timing of which are variable.
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Change  2024  
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  $ 20,821  12% $ 18,673 
Net cash used for investing activi ties  $ (21,711)  195% $ (7,360)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activi ties  $ 1,098  * $ (10,554)
 

* Not meaningful

Cash flows from operating activities:   Our largest source of operating cash flows is  cash col lections  from our customers  fol lowing the purchase and renewal  of 
their cloud services  and l icense support agreements . Customers  for these cloud services  and l icense support agreements  are general ly bi l led in advance of 
services  being provided. Over the course of a  fi scal  year, we also generate cash from the sales  of new l icenses, hardware offerings  and other services . Our 
primary uses  of cash from operating activi ties  are typical ly for employee-related expenditures , materia l  and manufacturing costs  related to the production of 
our hardware products , taxes, interest payments  and leased faci l i ties .

Net cash provided by operating activi ties  increased by $2.1 bi l l ion in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to higher net income adjusted for certain 
non-cash charges, partia l ly offset by certain cash unfavorable working capital  changes, net.

Cash flows from investing activities:   The changes  in cash flows from investing activi ties  primari ly relate to our investments  in capital  assets  primari ly to 
support the growth in our cloud and l icense bus iness  and acquis i tions, purchases, maturi ties  and sales  of our investments  in marketable securi ties  and other 
instruments .

Net cash used for investing activi ties  increased by $14.4 bi l l ion in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 primari ly due to the increase in capital  expenditures .

Cash flows from financing activities:   The changes  in cash flows from financing activi ties  primari ly relate to borrowings  and repayments  related to our debt 
instruments , s tock repurchases, dividend payments  and net proceeds related to employee stock programs. 

Net cash provided by financing activi ties  was  $1.1 bi l l ion in fi scal  2025 compared to the net cash used for financing activi ties  of $10.6 bi l l ion in fi scal  2024. 
The increase in net cash provided by financing activi ties  in fi scal  2025 relative to fiscal  2024 was primari ly due to proceeds from the issuance of senior notes , 
net of i ssuance costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion; higher issuances  of commercial  paper notes  of $2.1 bi l l ion, net of repayments; lower net cash used for our employee 
stock programs of $1.1 bi l l ion; higher net cash provided by other financing activi ties  of $1.1 bi l l ion; and lower net cash used for repurchases  of common stock 
of $602 mi l l ion. These increases  were partia l ly offset by higher scheduled repayments  of borrowings  of $6.7 bi l l ion and higher dividend payments  of $352 
mi l l ion. Further, during fiscal  2025, we refinanced our term loan credit agreement that we entered into in fi scal  2023 (Term Loan Credit Agreement), which 
resulted in no net impact on financing cash flows for the period reported.



Table of Contents

 

 

53

Free cash flow:   To supplement our statements  of cash flows presented on a GAAP bas is , we use non-GAAP measures  of cash flows on a trai l ing 4-quarter bas is  
to analyze cash flows generated from our operations. We bel ieve that free cash flow is  a lso useful  as  one of the bases  for comparing our performance with that 
of our competitors . The presentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is  not meant to be cons idered in isolation or as  an al ternative to net income as  an indicator of 
our performance, or as  an al ternative to cash flows from operating activi ties  as  a  measure of l iquidity. We calculate free cash flow as  fol lows:
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Change  2024  
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  $ 20,821  12% $ 18,673 
Capital  expenditures   (21,215)  209%  (6,866)
Free cash flow  $ (394)  * $ 11,807 
Net income  $ 12,443    $ 10,467 
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  as  a  percent of net income  167%     178%  
Free cash flow as  percent of net income  -3%     113%  
 

* Not meaningful

Recent Financing Activities:

Cash Dividends:   In fi scal  2025, we declared and paid aggregate cash dividends of $1.70 per share of outstanding common stock that totaled $4.7 bi l l ion. In 
June 2025, our Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per share of our outstanding common stock payable on July 24, 2025 to stockholders  of 
record as  of the close of bus iness  on July 10, 2025. Future declarations  of dividends and the establ ishment of future record and payment dates  are subject to the 
final  determination of our Board.

Term Loan Credit Agreements:   On June 10, 2024, we terminated the Term Loan Credit Agreement and repaid the principal  amount outstanding together with 
interest accrued up to the date of repayment. Simultaneously, we borrowed up to the maximum commitment amount of $5.6 bi l l ion pursuant to a  term loan 
credit agreement (Term Loan Credit Agreement 2) executed on the same date. In fi scal  2025, we made scheduled repayments  total ing $211 mi l l ion of the Term 
Loan Credit Agreement 2. Refer to Note 6 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for additional  detai ls  about our 
borrowings, including the repayment terms of the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2. Any remaining unpaid principal  balance under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 
2 wi l l  become ful ly due and payable on August 16, 2027, unless  the termination date of the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 is  extended.

Senior Notes:   During fiscal  2025, we issued $14.0 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of senior notes  composed of the fol lowing:

•$500 mi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of floating rate notes  due August 2028;

•$1.5 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 4.80% senior notes  due August 2028;

•$1.5 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 4.20% senior notes  due September 2029;

•$1.25 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 5.25% senior notes  due February 2032;

•$1.75 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 4.70% senior notes  due September 2034;

•$1.75 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 5.50% senior notes  due August 2035;

•$1.75 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 5.375% senior notes  due September 2054;

•$1.75 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 6.00% senior notes  due August 2055;

•$1.25 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 5.50% senior notes  due September 2064; and

•$1.0 bi l l ion aggregate principal  amount of 6.125% senior notes  due August 2065.
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We issued the senior notes  to repay al l  or a  portion of senior notes  due between November 2024 and July 2026, and to pay accrued interest and any related 
premiums, fees  and expenses  in connection therewith; to make scheduled payments  of principal  and interest on borrowings  under our Term Loan Credit 
Agreement 2; to repay al l  or a  portion of commercial  paper notes  outstanding; and to use any remaining net proceeds from the borrowing for general  corporate 
purposes, which may include stock repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our common stock, repayment of other indebtedness  and future acquis i tions. 
Refer to Note 6 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report for additional  information.

Common Stock Repurchase Program:   Our Board has  approved a program for us  to repurchase shares  of our common stock. As  of May 31, 2025, approximately 
$6.4 bi l l ion remained avai lable for stock repurchases  pursuant to our stock repurchase program. We repurchased 3.9 mi l l ion shares  for $600 mi l l ion, 10.6 
mi l l ion shares  for $1.2 bi l l ion and 17.0 mi l l ion shares  for $1.3 bi l l ion in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Our stock repurchase authorization does  not 
have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activi ty wi l l  depend on factors  such as  our working capital  needs, our cash requirements  for 
acquis i tions  and dividend payments , our debt repayment obl igations  or repurchases  of our debt, our stock price and economic and market conditions. Our 
stock repurchases  may be effected from time to time through open market purchases  or pursuant to a  Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. Our stock repurchase program 
may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Contractual Obligations:   Our largest contractual  obl igations  as  of May 31, 2025 cons isted of:

•principal  payments  related to our senior notes  and other borrowings  that were included in our consol idated balance sheet and the related periodic 
interest payments;

•routine tax payments  including those that are payable pursuant to the trans ition tax under the U.S. Tax Cuts  and Jobs  Act of 2017 that were included in 
our consol idated balance sheet;

•lease l iabi l i ties  that were included in our consol idated balance sheet; 

•lease commitments  that have not yet commenced and were not included in our consol idated balance sheet; and

•other contractual  commitments  associated with agreements  that are enforceable and legal ly binding.

In addition, as  of May 31, 2025, we had $12.0 bi l l ion of gross  unrecognized income tax benefi ts , including related interest and penalties , recorded on our 
consol idated balance sheet, the nature of which is  uncertain with respect to settlement or release with the relevant tax authori ties , a l though we bel ieve i t i s  
reasonably poss ible that certain of these l iabi l i ties  could be settled or released during fiscal  2026. We are involved in cla ims and legal  proceedings, which are 
inherently uncertain with respect to outcomes, estimates  and assumptions  that we make as  of each reporting period, are inherently unpredictable, and many 
aspects  are out of our control . Notes  6, 9, 12 and 15 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report include additional  
information regarding our most materia l  contractual  obl igations  and contingencies .

We bel ieve that our current cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  balances, cash generated from operations  and our borrowing arrangements  wi l l  
be sufficient to meet our working capital , capital  expenditures  and contractual  obl igations  requirements . In addition, we bel ieve that we could fund our future 
acquis i tions, dividend payments  and repurchases  of common stock or debt with our internal ly avai lable cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties , cash 
generated from operations, additional  borrowings  or from the issuance of additional  securi ties .

Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is  a  key component of the compensation package we provide to attract and retain certain of our ta lented employees  and 
al ign their interests  with the interests  of existing stockholders .

We recognize that stock-based awards  di lute existing stockholders  and have sought to control  the number of stock-based awards  granted whi le providing 
competitive compensation packages. Consistent with these dual  goals , our cumulative potentia l  di lution s ince June 1, 2022 has  been an annual ized rate of 1.7% 
per year. The potentia l  di lution percentage is  calculated as  the average annual ized new stock-based awards  granted and assumed, net of 
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stock-based awards  forfei ted by employees  leaving the company, divided by the weighted-average outstanding shares  during the calculation period. This  
maximum potentia l  di lution wi l l  only result i f a l l  s tock-based awards  vest and, i f appl icable, are exercised. Of the outstanding stock options  as  of May 31, 
2025, which general ly have a ten-year exercise period, a l l  have exercise prices  lower than the market price of our common stock on such date. In recent years , 
our stock repurchase program has  partia l ly offset the di lutive effect of our stock-based compensation program. However, we may modify the levels  of our stock 
repurchases  in the future depending on a number of factors , including the amount of cash we have avai lable for acquis i tions, to pay dividends, to repay or 
repurchase indebtedness  or for other purposes. As  of May 31, 2025, the maximum potentia l  di lution from al l  outstanding stock-based awards, regardless  of 
when granted and regardless  of whether vested or unvested, was  5.6%.

During fiscal  2025, the Compensation Committee reviewed and approved the annual  organization-wide stock-based award grants  to selected employees; a l l  
s tock-based award grants  to senior officers ; and any individual  grant of RSUs with a  value of $5 mi l l ion or greater. Each member of a  separate executive officer 
committee, referred to as  the Plan Committee, was  a l located a fiscal  2025 equity budget that could be used throughout the fiscal  year to grant equity subject to 
certain l imitations  establ ished by the Compensation Committee.

Stock-based awards  activi ty from June 1, 2022 through May 31, 2025 is  summarized as  fol lows (shares  in mi l l ions):
 
Stock-ba s e d a wa rds  outs ta ndi ng a s  of Ma y 31, 2022   225  

Stock-ba s e d a wa rds  gra nte d a nd a s s ume d   168  
Stock-ba s e d a wa rds  ve s te d a nd i s s ue d a nd, i f a ppl i ca bl e , e xe rci s e d   (209)  
Forfe i ture s , ca nce l l a ti ons  a nd othe r, ne t   (26)  

Stock-ba s e d a wa rds  outs ta ndi ng a s  of Ma y 31, 2025   158  
Annua l i ze d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds  gra nte d a nd a s s ume d, ne t of forfe i ture s  a nd ca nce l l a ti ons   48  
Annua l i ze d s tock re purcha s e s   (11)  
Sha re s  outs ta ndi ng a s  of Ma y 31, 2025   2,807  
Ba s i c we i ghte d-a ve ra ge  s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng from June  1, 2022 through Ma y 31, 2025   2,743  
Stock-ba s e d a wa rds  outs ta ndi ng a s  a  pe rce nt of s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng a s  of Ma y 31, 2025  5.6%   
Tota l  i n the  mone y s tock-ba s e d a wa rds  outs ta ndi ng (ba s e d on the  cl os i ng pri ce  of our common s tock on the  l a s t tra di ng da y of fi s ca l  2025) a s  
a  pe rce nt of s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng a s  of Ma y 31, 2025  5.6%   
Annua l i ze d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds  gra nte d a nd a s s ume d, ne t of forfe i ture s  a nd ca nce l l a ti ons  a nd be fore  s tock re purcha s e s , a s  a  pe rce nt of 
we i ghte d-a ve ra ge  s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng from June  1, 2022 through Ma y 31, 2025  1.7%   
Annua l i ze d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds  gra nte d a nd a s s ume d, ne t of forfe i ture s  a nd ca nce l l a ti ons  a nd a fte r s tock re purcha s e s , a s  a  pe rce nt of 
we i ghte d-a ve ra ge  s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng from June  1, 2022 through Ma y 31, 2025  1.3%   
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements , and the impact of these pronouncements  on our consol idated financial  s tatements , see Note 
1 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Annual  Report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Equity Price Risk

Non-Marketable Equity and Convertible Debt Investments

Our non-marketable equity and convertible debt investments  totaled $2.1 bi l l ion and $2.0 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Our non-
marketable equity investments  in privately owned companies  not accounted for under the equity method are adjusted to fa ir value for observable transactions  
for identical  or s imi lar investments  of the same issuer or for impairment. Our investments  accounted for under the equity method general ly do not fluctuate 
based on market price changes. However, these investments  could be impaired i f the carrying value exceeds the fa ir value and is  not expected to recover. The 
timing and amounts  of changes  in fa i r values  of our non-marketable equity investments  depend on factors  beyond our control , including the perceived and 
actual  performance of the companies  in which we invest. For additional  disclosure regarding the impact to our quarterly results  of operations  from investment 
volati l i ty, please refer to Item 1A Risk Factors  included elsewhere in this  
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Annual  Report. For additional  detai ls  on our non-marketable investments , see Note 1 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  
Annual  Report.

Currency Risk 

Foreign Currency Translation Risk 

As described under “Constant Currency Presentation” above, our international  operations  have provided and are expected to continue to provide a s igni ficant 
portion of our consol idated revenues and expenses  that we report in U.S. Dol lars . As  a  result, our consol idated revenues and expenses  are affected and wi l l  
continue to be affected by changes  in the U.S. Dol lar against major foreign currencies . Fluctuations  in foreign currencies  impact the amount of total  assets , 
l iabi l i ties , earnings  and cash flows that we report for our foreign subs idiaries  upon the trans lation of these amounts  into U.S. Dol lars  for, and as  of the end of, 
each reporting period. For example, the strengthening of the U.S. Dol lar wi l l  reduce the reported amount of our foreign subs idiaries ' cash, cash equivalents , 
trade receivables , deferred revenues, current and non-current l iabi l i ties , total  revenues and total  expenses  that we trans late into U.S. Dol lars  and report in our 
consol idated financial  s tatements  for, and as  of the end of, each reporting period.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk 

We transact bus iness  in various  foreign currencies . Our foreign currency exposures  primari ly arise from various  intercompany transactions. Our principal  
currency exposures  include the Austral ian Dol lar, Brazi l ian Real , Bri tish Pound, Euro, Indian Rupee, Japanese Yen and Saudi  Riyal . We have establ ished a 
program that primari ly uti l i zes  foreign currency forward contracts  to partia l ly offset the risks  that arise from the aforementioned transactions. Under this  
program, our strategy is  to enter into foreign currency forward contracts  for currencies  in which we have s igni ficant exposure so that increases  or decreases  in 
our foreign currency exposures  are offset by gains  or losses  on the foreign currency forward contracts  which mitigate the risks  and volati l i ty associated with 
our foreign currency transactions. We may suspend this  program from time to time. Our foreign currency forward contracts  are general ly short-term in duration 
and we do not use them for trading purposes.

Real ized gains  or losses  with respect to our foreign currency exposures, net of gains  or losses  from our foreign currency forward contracts , including costs  
incurred to enter into these foreign currency forward contracts , are included in non-operating income (expenses), net in our consol idated financial  s tatements . 
Our ul timate real ized gain or loss  with respect to foreign currency exposures  wi l l  general ly depend on the s ize and type of cross-currency transactions  that we 
enter into, the currency exchange rates  associated with these exposures  and changes  in those rates , the net real ized gain or loss  on our foreign currency forward 
contracts  and other factors . Furthermore, as  a  large portion of our consol idated operations  are international , we could experience additional  foreign currency 
volati l i ty in the future, in which the amounts  and timing are unknown. Refer to Note 1 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  
Annual  Report for additional  detai ls  about our foreign currency forward contracts .

Sensitivity Analysis

The fol lowing table sets  forth the hypothetical  potentia l  losses  that we cons ider to be the most materia l  to the reported fa ir values  and/or future earnings  of our 
foreign currency influenced holdings , prior to any income tax effects , resulting from hypothetical  changes  in relevant market rates  as  of or for the reporting 
periods  below:
 

      Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  Hypothetical Change  Impact  2025   2024  
Fore i gn curre ncy ri s k:           
Tota l  re ve nue s  10% de cre a s e  i n fore i gn e xcha nge  ra te s  Ea rni ngs  $ (2,379)  $ (2,259)
Ca s h, ca s h e qui va l e nts  a nd tra de  re ce i va bl e s , ne t  10% de cre a s e  i n fore i gn e xcha nge  ra te s  Fa i r va l ue s  $ (1,788)  $ (1,592)
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The response to this  i tem is  submitted as  a  separate section of this  Annual  Report. See Part IV, Item 15.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this  Annual  Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation under the supervis ion and with the participation of our 
Disclosure Committee and our management, including our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer, of the effectiveness  of the des ign and operation of our 
disclosure controls  and procedures  pursuant to Exchange Act Rules  13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e). 

Based on our management’s  evaluation (with the participation of our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer), as  of the end of the period covered by this  
report, our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer has  concluded that our disclosure controls  and procedures  were effective as  of May 31, 2025 to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us  in reports  that we fi le or submit under the Exchange Act i s  (i ) recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods  speci fied in the SEC rules  and forms and (i i ) accumulated and communicated to our management, including 
our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer as  appropriate to a l low timely decis ions  regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is  responsible for establ ishing and maintaining adequate internal  control  over financial  reporting, as  such term is  defined in Exchange Act 
Rules  13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervis ion and with the participation of our management, including our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness  of our internal  control  over financial  reporting as  of May 31, 2025 based on the guidel ines  establ ished in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework i ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations  of the Treadway Commiss ion’s  2013 framework. Our internal  control  over 
financial  reporting includes  pol icies  and procedures  that provide reasonable assurance regarding the rel iabi l i ty of financial  reporting and the preparation of 
financial  s tatements  for external  reporting purposes  in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

Based on the results  of our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal  control  over financial  reporting was effective as  of May 31, 2025. We 
reviewed the results  of management’s  assessment with the F&A Committee.

The effectiveness  of our internal  control  over financial  reporting as  of May 31, 2025 has  been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered publ ic 
accounting fi rm, as  stated in their report which is  included in Part IV, Item 15 of this  Annual  Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes  in our internal  control  over financial  reporting identi fied in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act 
Rules  13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during our last fi scal  quarter that have materia l ly affected, or are reasonably l ikely to materia l ly affect, our internal  
control  over financial  reporting. 

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer, bel ieves  that our disclosure controls  and procedures  and internal  control  over 
financial  reporting are des igned to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives  and are effective at the reasonable assurance level . However, our 
management does  not expect that our disclosure controls  and procedures  or our internal  control  over financial  reporting wi l l  prevent a l l  errors  and al l  fraud. A 
control  system, no matter how wel l -conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives  of the control  system are 
met. Further, the des ign of a  control  system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints  and the benefi ts  of controls  must be cons idered relative to 
their costs . 
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Because of the inherent l imitations  in a l l  control  systems, no evaluation of controls  can provide absolute assurance that a l l  control  i ssues  and instances  of 
fraud, i f any, have been detected. These inherent l imitations  include the real i ties  that judgments  in decis ion making can be faulty and that breakdowns can 
occur because of a  s imple error or mistake. Additional ly, controls  can be ci rcumvented by the individual  acts  of some persons, by col lus ion of two or more 
people or by management override of the controls . The des ign of any system of controls  a lso is  based in part upon certain assumptions  about the l ikel ihood of 
future events  and there can be no assurance that any des ign wi l l  succeed in achieving i ts  stated goals  under a l l  potentia l  future conditions; over time, controls  
may become inadequate because of changes  in conditions, or the degree of compl iance with pol icies  or procedures  may deteriorate. Because of the inherent 
l imitations  in a  cost-effective control  system, misstatements  due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the quarter ended May 31, 2025, none of our directors  or officers  (as  defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 
trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as  those terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not appl icable.
 
 



Table of Contents

 

 

59

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Pursuant to General  Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, the information required by this  i tem relating to our executive officers  i s  included under the caption 
“Information About Our Executive Officers” in Part I  of this  Annual  Report.

The other information required by this  Item 10 is  incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in our Proxy Statement to be fi led with the SEC 
in connection with the sol ici tation of proxies  for our 2025 Annual  Meeting of Stockholders  (2025 Proxy Statement).

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this  Item 11 is  incorporated herein by reference from the information to be contained in our 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this  Item 12 is  incorporated herein by reference from the information to be contained in our 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this  Item 13 is  incorporated herein by reference from the information to be contained in our 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this  Item 14 is  incorporated herein by reference from the information to be contained in our 2025 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)1. Financial Statements

The fol lowing financial  s tatements  are fi led as  a  part of this  report: 
 

  Page
   

Reports  of Independent Registered Publ ic Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42)  61
Consol idated Financial  Statements:   

Balance Sheets  as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024  64
Statements  of Operations  for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023  65
Statements  of Comprehensive Income for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023  66
Statements  of Stockholders ’ Equity for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023  67
Statements  of Cash Flows for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023  68
Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  69

 
2. Financial Statement Schedules

 

Al l  schedules  are omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is  not appl icable or i s  shown in the financial  s tatements  or notes  herein or 
not present in amounts  sufficient to require submiss ion of the schedule. 

(b) Exhibits 

The information required by this  Item is  set forth in the Index of Exhibits  that i s  after Item 16 of this  Annual  Report on Form 10-K. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders  and the Board of Directors  of Oracle Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consol idated balance sheets  of Oracle Corporation (the Company) as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, the related consol idated 
statements  of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders ’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years  in the period ended May 31, 2025, and the 
related notes  (col lectively referred to as  the “consol idated financial  s tatements”). In our opinion, the consol idated financial  s tatements  present fa i rly, in a l l  
materia l  respects , the financial  pos ition of the Company at May 31, 2025 and 2024, and the results  of i ts  operations  and i ts  cash flows for each of the three 
years  in the period ended May 31, 2025, in conformity with U.S. general ly accepted accounting principles .

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards  of the Publ ic Company Accounting Overs ight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s  internal  
control  over financial  reporting as  of May 31, 2025, based on cri teria  establ ished in Internal  Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations  of the Treadway Commiss ion (2013 framework), and our report dated June 18, 2025 expressed an unqual i fied opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial  s tatements  are the responsibi l i ty of the Company’s  management. Our responsibi l i ty i s  to express  an opinion on the Company’s  financial  
s tatements  based on our audits . We are a  publ ic accounting fi rm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal  securi ties  laws and the appl icable rules  and regulations  of the Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits  in accordance with the standards  of the PCAOB. Those standards  require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial  s tatements  are free of materia l  misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits  included performing procedures  
to assess  the risks  of materia l  misstatement of the financial  s tatements , whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures  that respond to those risks . 
Such procedures  included examining, on a test bas is , evidence regarding the amounts  and disclosures  in the financial  s tatements . Our audits  a lso included 
evaluating the accounting principles  used and s igni ficant estimates  made by management, as  wel l  as  evaluating the overal l  presentation of the financial  
s tatements . We bel ieve that our audits  provide a reasonable bas is  for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The cri tical  audit matter communicated below is  a  matter aris ing from the current period audit of the financial  s tatements  that was  communicated or required 
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates  to accounts  or disclosures  that are materia l  to the financial  s tatements  and (2) involved our 
especial ly chal lenging, subjective or complex judgments . The communication of the cri tical  audit matter does  not a l ter in any way our opinion on the 
consol idated financial  s tatements , taken as  a  whole, and we are not, by communicating the cri tical  audit matter below, providing a  separate opinion on the 
cri tical  audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which i t relates .
 
  Uncertain Tax Positions

Description of the 
matter

 As  discussed in Note 12 of the consol idated financial  s tatements , the Company recognizes  uncertain tax pos itions  and measures  
unrecognized tax benefi ts  related to various  domestic and foreign matters . The Company uses  s igni ficant judgment in the accounting 
for uncertain tax pos itions  related to certain intercompany transfer prices  and calculations, including the interpretation and 
appl ication of tax laws and legal  rul ings  in various  jurisdictions.

Auditing management’s  evaluation of whether an uncertain tax pos ition is  more l ikely than not to be sustained and the measurement 
of the benefi t of various  tax pos itions  was  complex, involved s igni ficant judgment, and was based on interpretations  and appl ication 
of tax laws and legal  rul ings .
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How we addressed 
the matter in our 
audit

 We obtained an understanding, evaluated the des ign, and tested the operating effectiveness  of the controls  over management’s  process  
to assess  the technical  merits  of the Company’s  tax pos itions  related to certain intercompany transfer prices  and calculations, 
including ongoing monitoring activi ties , and management’s  process  to measure the benefi t of those tax pos itions.

To test management’s  assessment of these uncertain tax pos itions, we performed audit procedures  that included, among others , 
evaluating management’s  assumptions  and analys is  which detai led the bas is  and technical  merits  of the uncertain tax pos itions. We 
involved our tax subject matter profess ionals  in assess ing the technical  merits  of these pos itions  and used our knowledge of relevant 
tax laws and experience with related taxing authori ties .

 
 
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as  the Company’s  auditor s ince 2002.

San Jose, Cal i fornia
June 18, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders  and the Board of Directors  of Oracle Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s  internal  control  over financial  reporting as  of May 31, 2025, based on cri teria  establ ished in Internal  Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations  of the Treadway Commiss ion (2013 framework) (the COSO cri teria). In our opinion, 
Oracle Corporation (the Company) maintained, in a l l  materia l  respects , effective internal  control  over financial  reporting as  of May 31, 2025, based on the 
COSO cri teria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards  of the Publ ic Company Accounting Overs ight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consol idated balance 
sheets  of the Company as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, the related consol idated statements  of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders ’ equity and cash 
flows for each of the three years  in the period ended May 31, 2025, and the related notes  and our report dated June 18, 2025 expressed an unqual i fied opinion 
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s  management is  responsible for maintaining effective internal  control  over financial  reporting and for i ts  assessment of the effectiveness  of 
internal  control  over financial  reporting included in the accompanying Management’s  Report on Internal  Control  over Financial  Reporting. Our responsibi l i ty i s  
to express  an opinion on the Company’s  internal  control  over financial  reporting based on our audit. We are a  publ ic accounting fi rm registered with the PCAOB 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal  securi ties  laws and the appl icable rules  and regulations  of 
the Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards  of the PCAOB. Those standards  require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal  control  over financial  reporting was maintained in a l l  materia l  respects .

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal  control  over financial  reporting, assess ing the risk that a  materia l  weakness  exists , testing and 
evaluating the des ign and operating effectiveness  of internal  control  based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures  as  we cons idered 
necessary in the ci rcumstances. We bel ieve that our audit provides  a  reasonable bas is  for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s  internal  control  over financial  reporting is  a  process  des igned to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rel iabi l i ty of financial  reporting and 
the preparation of financial  s tatements  for external  purposes  in accordance with general ly accepted accounting principles . A company’s  internal  control  over 
financial  reporting includes  those pol icies  and procedures  that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records  that, in reasonable detai l , accurately and fa irly reflect 
the transactions  and dispos itions  of the assets  of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions  are recorded as  necessary to permit 
preparation of financial  s tatements  in accordance with general ly accepted accounting principles , and that receipts  and expenditures  of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations  of management and directors  of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquis i tion, use, or dispos ition of the company’s  assets  that could have a materia l  effect on the financial  s tatements .

Because of i ts  inherent l imitations, internal  control  over financial  reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements . Also, projections  of any evaluation of 
effectiveness  to future periods  are subject to the risk that controls  may become inadequate because of changes  in conditions, or that the degree of compl iance 
with the pol icies  or procedures  may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, Cal i fornia
June 18, 2025
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of May 31, 2025 and 2024
 
  May 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2025   2024  

ASSETS       
Curre nt a s s e ts :       

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  $ 10,786  $ 10,454 
Ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s   417   207 
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s , ne t of a l l owa nce s  for cre di t l os s e s  of $557 a nd $485 a s  of Ma y 31, 2025 a nd Ma y 31, 2024, 
re s pe cti ve l y   8,558   7,874 
Pre pa i d e xpe ns e s  a nd othe r curre nt a s s e ts   4,818   4,019 

Tota l  curre nt a s s e ts   24,579   22,554 
Non-curre nt a s s e ts :       

Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt, ne t   43,522   21,536 
Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts , ne t   4,587   6,890 
Goodwi l l   62,207   62,230 
De fe rre d ta x a s s e ts   11,877   12,273 
Othe r non-curre nt a s s e ts   21,589   15,493 

Tota l  non-curre nt a s s e ts   143,782   118,422 
Tota l  a s s e ts  $ 168,361  $ 140,976 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
Curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s :       

Note s  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r borrowi ngs , curre nt  $ 7,271  $ 10,605 
Accounts  pa ya bl e   5,113   2,357 
Accrue d compe ns a ti on a nd re l a te d be ne fi ts   2,243   1,916 
De fe rre d re ve nue s   9,387   9,313 
Othe r curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   8,629   7,353 

Tota l  curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   32,643   31,544 
Non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s :       

Note s  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r borrowi ngs , non-curre nt   85,297   76,264 
Income  ta xe s  pa ya bl e   10,269   10,817 
Ope ra ti ng l e a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s   11,536   6,255 
Othe r non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   7,647   6,857 

Tota l  non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   114,749   100,193 
Commi tme nts  a nd conti nge nci e s       
Ora cl e  Corpora ti on s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty:       

Pre fe rre d s tock, $0.01 pa r va l ue —a uthori ze d: 1.0 s ha re s ; outs ta ndi ng: none   —   — 
Common s tock, $0.01 pa r va l ue  a nd a ddi ti ona l  pa i d i n ca pi ta l —a uthori ze d: 11,000 s ha re s ; outs ta ndi ng: 
2,807 s ha re s  a nd 2,755 s ha re s  a s  of Ma y 31, 2025 a nd 2024, re s pe cti ve l y   37,107   32,764 
Accumul a te d de fi ci t   (15,481)   (22,628)
Accumul a te d othe r compre he ns i ve  l os s   (1,175)   (1,432)

Tota l  Ora cl e  Corpora ti on s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty   20,451   8,704 
Noncontrol l i ng i nte re s ts   518   535 

Tota l  s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty   20,969   9,239 
Tota l  l i a bi l i ti e s  a nd s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty  $ 168,361  $ 140,976 

 

See notes  to consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2025   2024   2023  
Re ve nue s :          

Cl oud s e rvi ce s  a nd l i ce ns e  s upport  $ 44,029  $ 39,383  $ 35,307 
Cl oud l i ce ns e  a nd on-pre mi s e  l i ce ns e   5,201   5,081   5,779 
Ha rdwa re   2,936   3,066   3,274 
Se rvi ce s   5,233   5,431   5,594 

Tota l  re ve nue s   57,399   52,961   49,954 
Ope ra ti ng e xpe ns e s :          

Cl oud s e rvi ce s  a nd l i ce ns e  s upport   11,569   9,427   7,763 
Ha rdwa re   782   891   1,040 
Se rvi ce s   4,576   4,825   4,761 
Sa l e s  a nd ma rke ti ng   8,651   8,274   8,833 
Re s e a rch a nd de ve l opme nt   9,860   8,915   8,623 
Ge ne ra l  a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve   1,602   1,548   1,579 
Amorti za ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts   2,307   3,010   3,582 
Acqui s i ti on re l a te d a nd othe r   75   314   190 
Re s tructuri ng   299   404   490 

Tota l  ope ra ti ng e xpe ns e s   39,721   37,608   36,861 
Ope ra ti ng i ncome   17,678   15,353   13,093 
Inte re s t e xpe ns e   (3,578)   (3,514)   (3,505)
Non-ope ra ti ng i ncome  (e xpe ns e s ), ne t   60   (98)   (462)
Income  be fore  i ncome  ta xe s   14,160   11,741   9,126 
Provi s i on for i ncome  ta xe s   1,717   1,274   623 
Ne t i ncome  $ 12,443  $ 10,467  $ 8,503 
Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re :          

Ba s i c  $ 4.46  $ 3.82  $ 3.15 
Di l ute d  $ 4.34  $ 3.71  $ 3.07 

We i ghte d a ve ra ge  common s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng:          
Ba s i c   2,789   2,744   2,696 
Di l ute d   2,866   2,823   2,766 

 

(1)Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, which is shown separately.
 
 
See notes  to consol idated financial  s tatements .

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Ne t i ncome  $ 12,443  $ 10,467  $ 8,503 
Othe r compre he ns i ve  i ncome , ne t of ta x:          

Ne t fore i gn curre ncy tra ns l a ti on ga i ns  (l os s e s )   369   (17)   (204)
Ne t unre a l i ze d ga i ns  on de fi ne d be ne fi t pl a ns   13   31   271 
Ne t unre a l i ze d (l os s e s ) ga i ns  on ca s h fl ow he dge s   (125)   77   102 
Othe r, ne t   —   (1)   1 

Tota l  othe r compre he ns i ve  i ncome , ne t   257   90   170 
Compre he ns i ve  i ncome  $ 12,700  $ 10,557  $ 8,673 
 
 
 
See notes  to consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023
 

  

Common Stock and
Additional Paid in       

Capital      
Accumulated 

Other   
Total 

Oracle Corporation      Total  

(in millions, except per share data)  
Number of 

Shares   Amount   
Accumulate

d Deficit   
Comprehensive 

Loss   
Stockholders’ 

Equity   
Noncontrolling 

Interests   
Stockholders’

Equity  
Balances as of May 31, 2022   2,665  $ 26,808  $ (31,336)  $ (1,692)  $ (6,220)  $ 452  $ (5,768)
Common stock issued under stock-based compensation plans   79   1,019   —   —   1,019   —   1,019 
Common stock issued under stock purchase plans   2   173   —   —   173   —   173 
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awards in connection with 
acquisitions   —   55   —   —   55   —   55 
Stock-based compensation   —   3,547   —   —   3,547   —   3,547 
Repurchases of common stock   (17)   (166)   (1,120)   —   (1,286)   —   (1,286)
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-
based awards

  (16)   (1,203)   —   —   (1,203)   —   (1,203)
Cash dividends declared ($1.36 per share)   —   —   (3,668)   —   (3,668)   —   (3,668)
Other, net   —   (18)   1   —   (17)   (98)   (115)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net   —   —   —   170   170   (36)   134 
Net income   —   —   8,503   —   8,503   165   8,668 
Balances as of May 31, 2023   2,713   30,215   (27,620)   (1,522)   1,073   483   1,556 
Common stock issued under stock-based compensation plans   68   545   —   —   545   —   545 
Common stock issued under stock purchase plans   2   197   —   —   197   —   197 
Stock-based compensation   —   3,974   —   —   3,974   —   3,974 
Repurchases of common stock   (11)   (117)   (1,083)   —   (1,200)   —   (1,200)
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-
based awards   (17)   (2,040)   —   —   (2,040)   —   (2,040)
Cash dividends declared ($1.60 per share)   —   —   (4,391)   —   (4,391)   —   (4,391)
Other, net   —   (10)   (1)   —   (11)   (99)   (110)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net   —   —   —   90   90   (35)   55 
Net income   —   —   10,467   —   10,467   186   10,653 
Balances as of May 31, 2024   2,755   32,764   (22,628)   (1,432)   8,704   535   9,239 
Common stock issued under stock-based compensation plans   62   447   —   —   447   —   447 
Common stock issued under stock purchase plans   1   206   —   —   206   —   206 
Stock-based compensation   —   4,674   —   —   4,674   —   4,674 
Repurchases of common stock   (4)   (47)   (553)   —   (600)   —   (600)
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-
based awards   (7)   (900)   —   —   (900)   —   (900)
Cash dividends declared ($1.70 per share)   —   —   (4,743)   —   (4,743)   —   (4,743)
Other, net

  —   (37)   —   —   
(37

)   
(228

)   (265)
Other comprehensive income, net   —   —   —   257   257   27   284 
Net income   —   —   12,443   —   12,443   184   12,627 
Balances as of May 31, 2025   2,807  $ 37,107  $ (15,481)  $ (1,175)  $ 20,451  $ 518  $ 20,969 
 
 
See notes  to consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Ca s h fl ows  from ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s :          

Ne t i ncome  $ 12,443  $ 10,467  $ 8,503 
Adjus tme nts  to re conci l e  ne t i ncome  to ne t ca s h provi de d by ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s :          

De pre ci a ti on   3,867   3,129   2,526 
Amorti za ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts   2,307   3,010   3,582 
De fe rre d i ncome  ta xe s   (1,637)   (2,139)   (2,167)
Stock-ba s e d compe ns a ti on   

4,674
   

3,974
   

3,547
 

Othe r, ne t   667   720   661 
Cha nge s  i n ope ra ti ng a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i ti e s , ne t of e ffe cts  from a cqui s i ti ons :          

Incre a s e  i n tra de  re ce i va bl e s , ne t   (653)   (965)   (151)
De cre a s e  i n pre pa i d e xpe ns e s  a nd othe r a s s e ts   266   542   317 
De cre a s e  i n a ccounts  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r l i a bi l i ti e s   (608)   (594)   (281)
De cre a s e  i n i ncome  ta xe s  pa ya bl e   (659)   (127)   (153)
Incre a s e  i n de fe rre d re ve nue s   154   656   781 

Ne t ca s h provi de d by ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s   20,821   18,673   17,165 
Ca s h fl ows  from i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s :          

Purcha s e s  of ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s  a nd othe r i nve s tme nts   (1,272)   (1,003)   (1,181)
Proce e ds  from s a l e s  a nd ma turi ti e s  of ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s  a nd othe r i nve s tme nts   776   572   1,113 
Acqui s i ti ons , ne t of ca s h a cqui re d   —   (63)   (27,721)
Ca pi ta l  e xpe ndi ture s   (21,215)   (6,866)   (8,695)

Ne t ca s h us e d for i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s   (21,711)   (7,360)   (36,484)
Ca s h fl ows  from fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s :          

Pa yme nts  for re purcha s e s  of common s tock   (600)   (1,202)   (1,300)
Proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of common s tock   653   742   1,192 
Sha re s  re purcha s e d for ta x wi thhol di ngs  upon ve s ti ng of re s tri cte d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds   (900)   (2,040)   (1,203)
Pa yme nts  of di vi de nds  to s tockhol de rs   (4,743)   (4,391)   (3,668)
Proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of (re pa yme nts  of) comme rci a l  pa pe r, ne t   1,889   (167)   500 
Proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of s e ni or note s  a nd te rm l oa n cre di t a gre e me nts , ne t of i s s ua nce  cos ts   19,548   —   33,494 
Re pa yme nts  of s e ni or note s  a nd te rm l oa n cre di t a gre e me nts   (15,841)   (3,500)   (21,050)
Othe r fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s , ne t   1,092   4   (55)

Ne t ca s h provi de d by (us e d for) fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s   1,098   (10,554)   7,910 
Effe ct of e xcha nge  ra te  cha nge s  on ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts   124   (70)   (209)
Ne t i ncre a s e  (de cre a s e ) i n ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts   332   689   (11,618)
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t be gi nni ng of pe ri od   10,454   9,765   21,383 
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t e nd of pe ri od  $ 10,786  $ 10,454  $ 9,765 
Non-ca s h i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s :          

Unpa i d ca pi ta l  e xpe ndi ture s  $ 2,970  $ 1,637  $ 588 
Suppl e me nta l  s che dul e  of ca s h fl ow da ta :          

Ca s h pa i d for i ncome  ta xe s  $ 4,020  $ 3,560  $ 3,009 
Ca s h pa i d for i nte re s t  $ 3,374  $ 3,655  $ 3,250 

 
 
See notes  to consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2025

 

1.ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation provides  products  and services  that substantia l ly address  enterprise information technology (IT) needs, including appl ications  and 
infrastructure technologies . We del iver our products  and services  to customers  worldwide through a variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models . 
These models  include on-premise, cloud-based and hybrid deployments . Oracle Cloud Appl ications  and Oracle Cloud Infrastructure (col lectively, Oracle Cloud 
Services) offerings  provide comprehensive and integrated appl ications  and infrastructure services  enabl ing our customers  to choose the best option that meets  
their speci fic bus iness  needs. Customers  may also elect to purchase Oracle software l icenses  and hardware products  and related services  to manage their own 
cloud-based or on-premise IT environments . Customers  that purchase our software l icenses  may elect to purchase l icense support contracts , which provide our 
customers  with rights  to unspeci fied l icense upgrades  and enhancements  during the term of the support period as  wel l  as  technical  support ass istance. 
Customers  that purchase our hardware products  may elect to purchase hardware support contracts , which provide customers  with software updates  and can 
include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  support services . We also offer customers  a  broad set of services  offerings  that are des igned to 
improve customer uti l i zation of their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies .

Oracle Corporation conducts  bus iness  global ly and was incorporated in the state of Delaware.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consol idated financial  s tatements  include our accounts  and the accounts  of our whol ly- and majori ty-owned subs idiaries . Noncontrol l ing interest 
pos itions  of certain of our consol idated enti ties  are reported as  a  separate component of consol idated equity from the equity attributable to Oracle’s  
stockholders  for a l l  periods  presented. The noncontrol l ing interests  in our net income were not s igni ficant to our consol idated results  for the periods  presented 
and therefore have not been presented separately and instead are included as  a  component of non-operating income (expenses), net in our consol idated 
statements  of operations. Intercompany transactions  and balances  have been el iminated. Certain prior year balances  have been reclass i fied to conform to the 
current year presentation. Such reclass i fications  did not affect revenue, income from operations  or net income.

In fiscal  2025, we adopted Accounting Standards  Update (ASU) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (ASU 
2023-07), which did not have a materia l  impact on our consol idated financial  s tatements  for the year ended May 31, 2025.

Use of Estimates

Our consol idated financial  s tatements  are prepared in accordance with United States  (U.S.) general ly accepted accounting principles  (GAAP) as  set forth in the 
Financial  Accounting Standards  Board’s  (FASB) Accounting Standards  Codification (ASC), and we cons ider various  staff accounting bul letins  and other 
appl icable guidance issued by the U.S. Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion. These accounting principles  require us  to make certain estimates, judgments  and 
assumptions. We bel ieve that the estimates, judgments  and assumptions  upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information avai lable to us  at the time 
that these estimates, judgments  and assumptions  are made. These estimates, judgments  and assumptions  can affect the reported amounts  of assets  and 
l iabi l i ties  as  of the date of the financial  s tatements  as  wel l  as  the reported amounts  of revenues and expenses  during the periods  presented. To the extent that 
there are di fferences  between these estimates, judgments  or assumptions  and actual  results , our consol idated financial  s tatements  wi l l  be affected. In many 
cases, the accounting treatment of a  particular transaction is  speci fical ly dictated by GAAP and does  not require management’s  judgment in i ts  appl ication. 
There are a lso areas  in which management’s  judgment in selecting among avai lable a l ternatives  would not produce a materia l ly di fferent result.
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During the fi rst quarter of fi scal  2025, we completed an assessment of the useful  l ives  of our servers  and networking equipment and increased the estimate of 
the useful  l ives  from five years  to s ix years , effective at the beginning of fi scal  2025. Based on the carrying value of our servers  and networking equipment as  of 
May 31, 2024, this  change in accounting estimate decreased our total  operating expenses  by $733 mi l l ion and increased our net income by $573 mi l l ion, or 
$0.21 per bas ic and $0.20 per di luted share, during fiscal  2025.

During the fi rst quarter of fi scal  2023, we completed an assessment of the useful  l ives  of our servers  and increased the estimate of the useful  l ives  from four 
years  to five years  effective at the beginning of fi scal  2023. Based on the carrying value of our servers  as  of May 31, 2022, this  change in accounting estimate 
decreased our total  operating expenses  by $434 mi l l ion during fiscal  2023.

Revenue Recognition 

Our sources  of revenues include:

•cloud and l icense revenues, which include: cloud services  revenues; cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues, which typical ly represent perpetual  
software l icenses  purchased by customers  for use in both cloud and on-premise IT environments; and l icense support revenues;

•hardware revenues, which include the sale of hardware products , including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers  and storage products , and industry-
speci fic hardware; and hardware support revenues; and 

•services  revenues, which are earned from providing cloud-, l icense- and hardware-related services  including consulting and advanced customer 
services .

Cloud services  revenues include revenues from Oracle Cloud Services  offerings , which del iver appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  via  cloud-based 
deployment models  that we develop functional i ty for, provide unspeci fied updates  and enhancements  for, deploy, host, manage, upgrade and support and that 
customers  access  by entering into a  subscription agreement with us  for a  stated period.

Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues primari ly represent amounts  earned from granting customers  perpetual  l icenses  to use our database, 
middleware, appl ication and industry-speci fic software products , which our customers  use for cloud-based, on-premise and other IT environments . The vast 
majori ty of our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense arrangements  include l icense support contracts , which are entered into at the customer’s  option. 

License support revenues are typical ly generated through the sale of l icense support contracts  related to cloud l icense and on-premise l icenses  purchased by 
our customers  at their option. License support contracts  provide customers  with rights  to unspeci fied software product upgrades, maintenance releases  and 
patches  released during the term of the support period and include internet access  to technical  content, as  wel l  as  internet and telephone access  to technical  
support personnel . License support contracts  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net cloud l icense and on-premise l icense fees. Substantia l ly a l l  of our 
customers  elect to purchase and renew their l icense support contracts  annual ly.

Revenues from the sale of hardware products  represent amounts  earned primari ly from the sale of our Oracle Engineered Systems, computer servers , s torage 
and industry-speci fic hardware. Our hardware support offerings  general ly provide customers  with software updates  for the software components  that are 
essentia l  to the functional i ty of the hardware products  purchased and can also include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  support services . 
Hardware support contracts  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net hardware products  fees.

Our services  are offered to customers  as  standalone arrangements  or as  a  part of arrangements  to customers  buying other products  and services . Our 
consulting services  are des igned to help our customers  to, among others , deploy, architect, integrate, upgrade and secure their investments  in Oracle 
appl ications  and infrastructure technologies . Our advanced customer services  are des igned to provide supplemental  support services , performance services  
and higher avai labi l i ty for Oracle products  and services . 
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We apply the provis ions  of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606) as  a  s ingle standard for revenue recognition that appl ies  to a l l  of our 
cloud, l icense, hardware and services  arrangements  and general ly require revenues to be recognized upon the transfer of control  of promised goods or services  
provided to our customers, reflecting the amount of cons ideration we expect to receive for those goods or services . Pursuant to ASC 606, revenues are recognized 
upon the appl ication of the fol lowing steps:

•identi fication of the contract, or contracts , with a  customer;

•identi fication of the performance obl igations  in the contract;

•determination of the transaction price;

•al location of the transaction price to each performance obl igation in the contract; and 

•recognition of revenues when, or as , the contractual  performance obl igations  are satis fied.

Our customers  that contract with us  for the provis ion of cloud services , software, hardware or other services  include bus inesses  of many s izes , government 
agencies , educational  insti tutions  and our channel  partners , which include resel lers  and system integrators .

The timing of revenue recognition may di ffer from the timing of invoicing to our customers. We record an unbi l led receivable, which is  included within accounts  
receivable on our consol idated balance sheets , when revenue is  recognized prior to invoicing. We record deferred revenues on our consol idated balance sheets  
when revenues are to be recognized subsequent to cash col lection for an invoice. Our standard payment terms are general ly net 30 days  but may vary. Invoices  
for cloud l icense and on-premise l icenses  and hardware products  are general ly i ssued when the l icense is  made avai lable for customer use or upon del ivery to 
the customer of the hardware product. Invoices  for l icense support and hardware support contracts  are general ly invoiced annual ly in advance. Cloud 
appl ications  and cloud infrastructure contracts  are general ly invoiced annual ly, quarterly or monthly in advance. Services  are general ly invoiced in advance or 
as  the services  are performed. Most contracts  that contain a  financing component are contracts  financed through our Oracle financing divis ion. The transaction 
price for a  contract that i s  financed through our Oracle financing divis ion is  adjusted to reflect the time value of money and interest revenue is  recorded as  a  
component of non-operating income (expenses), net within our consol idated statements  of operations  based on market rates  in the country in which the 
transaction is  being financed.

Our revenue arrangements  general ly include standard warranty or service level  provis ions  that our arrangements  wi l l  perform and operate in a l l  materia l  
respects  as  defined in the respective agreements , the financial  impacts  of which have historical ly been and are expected to continue to be ins igni ficant. Our 
arrangements  general ly do not include a general  right of return relative to the del ivered products  or services . We recognize revenues net of any taxes  col lected 
from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental  authori ties .

Revenue Recognition for Cloud Services

Revenues from cloud services  provided on a subscription bas is  are general ly recognized ratably over the contractual  period that the cloud services  are 
del ivered, beginning on the date our service is  made avai lable to a  customer. We recognize revenue ratably because the customer receives  and consumes the 
benefi ts  of the cloud services  throughout the contract period. Revenues from cloud services  that are provided on a consumption bas is , such as  metered services , 
are general ly recognized based on the uti l i zation of the services  by the customer. 
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Revenue Recognition for License Support and Hardware Support

Oracle’s  primary performance obl igations  with respect to l icense support contracts  and hardware support contracts  are to provide customers  with technical  
support as  needed and unspeci fied software product upgrades, maintenance releases  and patches  during the term of the support period, i f and when they are 
avai lable, and hardware product repairs , as  appl icable. Oracle is  obl igated to make the l icense and hardware support services  avai lable continuously 
throughout the contract period. Therefore, revenues for l icense support contracts  and hardware support contracts  are general ly recognized ratably over the 
contractual  periods  that the support services  are provided.

Revenue Recognition for Cloud Licenses and On-Premise Licenses

Revenues from distinct cloud l icense and on-premise l icense performance obl igations  are general ly recognized upfront at the point in time when the software is  
made avai lable to the customer to download and use. Revenues from usage-based royalty arrangements  for distinct cloud l icenses  and on-premise l icenses  are 
recognized at the point in time when the software end user usage occurs . For usage-based royalty arrangements  with a  fixed minimum guarantee amount, the 
minimum amount is  general ly recognized upfront when the software is  made avai lable to the royalty customer.

Revenue Recognition for Hardware Products

The hardware product and related software, such as  an operating system or fi rmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as  a  
combined performance obl igation. The revenues for this  combined performance obl igation are general ly recognized at the point in time that the hardware 
product is  del ivered and ownership is  transferred to the customer.

Revenue Recognition for Services 

Services  revenues are general ly recognized over time as  the services  are performed. Revenues for fixed price services  are general ly recognized over time applying 
input methods to estimate progress  to completion. Revenues for consumption-based services  are general ly recognized as  the services  are performed.

Allocation of the Transaction Price for Contracts that have Multiple Performance Obligations 

Many of our contracts  include multiple performance obl igations. Judgment is  required in determining whether each performance obl igation is  distinct. Oracle 
products  and services  general ly do not require a  s igni ficant amount of integration or interdependency; therefore, our products  and services  are general ly not 
combined. We al locate the transaction price for each contract to each performance obl igation based on the relative standalone sel l ing price (SSP) for each 
performance obl igation within each contract. 

We use judgment in determining the SSP for products  and services . For substantia l ly a l l  performance obl igations  except cloud l icenses  and on-premise l icenses, 
we are able to establ ish the SSP based on the observable prices  of products  or services  sold separately in comparable ci rcumstances  to s imi lar customers. We 
typical ly establ ish an SSP range for our products  and services  which is  reassessed on a periodic bas is  or when facts  and ci rcumstances  change. Our cloud 
l icenses  and on-premise l icenses  have not historical ly been sold on a standalone bas is , as  the vast majori ty of a l l  customers  elect to purchase l icense support 
contracts  at the time of a  cloud l icense and on-premise l icense purchase. License support contracts  are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net fees  paid by 
the customer to access  the l icense. We are unable to establ ish the SSP for our cloud l icenses  and on-premise l icenses  based on observable prices  given the 
same products  are sold for a  broad range of amounts  (that i s , the sel l ing price is  highly variable) and a representative SSP is  not discernible from past 
transactions  or other observable evidence. As  a  result, the SSP for a  cloud l icense and an on-premise l icense included in a  contract with multiple performance 
obl igations  is  general ly determined by applying a  res idual  approach whereby al l  other performance obl igations  within a  contract are fi rst a l located a portion 
of the transaction price based upon their respective SSPs, with any res idual  amount of transaction price a l located to cloud l icense and on-premise l icense 
revenues.
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Remaining Performance Obligations from Contracts with Customers

Trade receivables , net of a l lowance for credit losses , and deferred revenues are reported net of related uncol lected deferred revenues in our consol idated 
balance sheets  as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024. The revenues recognized during the year ended May 31, 2025 and 2024 that were included in the opening deferred 
revenues balances  as  of May 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $9.3 bi l l ion and $9.0 bi l l ion, respectively. Revenues recognized from performance 
obl igations  satis fied in prior periods  and impairment losses  recognized on our receivables  were immateria l  during each year ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 
2023.

Remaining performance obl igations  represent contracted revenues that had not yet been recognized, and include deferred revenues; invoices  that have been 
issued to customers  but were uncol lected and have not been recognized as  revenues; and amounts  that wi l l  be invoiced and recognized as  revenues in future 
periods. We have elected the optional  exemption to not disclose the variable cons ideration for contracts  in which the variable cons ideration expected to be 
received over the duration of the contract i s  a l located entirely to the whol ly unsatis fied performance obl igations. The volumes and amounts  of customer 
contracts  that we book and total  revenues that we recognize are impacted by a  variety of seasonal  factors  and the timing of booking of large contracts . In each 
fiscal  year, the amounts  and volumes of contracting activi ty, other than the impact of booking of large contracts , and our total  revenues are typical ly highest in 
our fourth fiscal  quarter and lowest in our fi rst fi scal  quarter. These seasonal  impacts  and the timing of booking of large contracts  influence how our remaining 
performance obl igations  change over time and, combined with foreign exchange rate fluctuations  and other factors , influence the amount of remaining 
performance obl igations  that we report at a  point in time. As  of May 31, 2025, our remaining performance obl igations  were $137.8 bi l l ion, of which we expect to 
recognize approximately 33% as  revenues over the next twelve months, 41% over the subsequent month 13 to month 36, 23% over the subsequent month 37 to 
month 60 and the remainder thereafter.

Sales of Financing Receivables

We offer certain of our customers  the option to acquire certain of our cloud and l icense, hardware and services  offerings  through separate long-term payment 
contracts . We general ly sel l  these contracts  that we have financed for our customers  on a non-recourse bas is  to financial  insti tutions  within 90 days  of the 
contracts ’ dates  of execution. We record the transfers  of amounts  due from customers  to financial  insti tutions  as  sales  of financing receivables  because we are 
cons idered to have surrendered control  of these financing receivables . During fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, $1.6 bi l l ion, $1.4 bi l l ion and $2.0 bi l l ion, 
respectively, of our financing receivables  were sold to financial  insti tutions.

Business Combinations

We apply the provis ions  of ASC 805, Business Combinations (ASC 805), in accounting for our acquis i tions. ASC 805 requires  that we evaluate whether a  
transaction pertains  to an acquis i tion of assets , or to an acquis i tion of a  bus iness . A bus iness  is  defined as  an integrated set of assets  and activi ties  that i s  
capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a  return to investors . Asset acquis i tions  are accounted for by a l locating the cost of the 
acquis i tion to the individual  assets  and l iabi l i ties  assumed on a relative fa ir value bas is ; whereas  the acquis i tion of a  bus iness  requires  us  to recognize 
goodwi l l  separately from the assets  acquired and the l iabi l i ties  assumed at the acquis i tion date fa ir values. Goodwi l l  as  of the bus iness  acquis i tion date is  
measured as  the excess  of cons ideration transferred over the net of the acquis i tion date fa ir values  of the assets  acquired and the l iabi l i ties  assumed. Whi le we 
use our best estimates  and assumptions  to accurately value assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed at the bus iness  acquis i tion date as  wel l  as  any contingent 
cons ideration, where appl icable, our estimates  are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As  a  result, during the measurement period, which may be up 
to one year from the bus iness  acquis i tion date, we record adjustments  to the assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwi l l . 
Upon the conclus ion of a  bus iness  acquis i tion’s  measurement period or final  determination of the values  of assets  acquired or l iabi l i ties  assumed, whichever 
comes fi rst, any subsequent adjustments  are recorded to our consol idated statements  of operations. Costs  to exi t or restructure certain activi ties  of an acquired 
company or our internal  operations  are accounted for as  termination and exit costs  pursuant to ASC 420, Exi t or Disposal  Cost Obl igations, and are accounted 
for separately from the bus iness  combination. A l iabi l i ty 
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for costs  associated with an exit or disposal  activi ty i s  recognized and measured at i ts  fa i r value in our consol idated statement of operations  in the period in 
which the l iabi l i ty i s  incurred.

For a  given bus iness  acquis i tion, we may identi fy certain pre-acquis i tion contingencies  as  of the acquis i tion date and may extend our review and evaluation of 
these pre-acquis i tion contingencies  throughout the measurement period in order to obtain sufficient information to assess  whether we include these 
contingencies  as  a  part of the fa ir value estimates  of assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed and, i f so, to determine their estimated amounts . If we cannot 
reasonably determine the fa ir value of a  non-income tax-related pre-acquis i tion contingency by the end of the measurement period, which is  general ly the case 
given the nature of such matters , we wi l l  recognize an asset or a  l iabi l i ty for such pre-acquis i tion contingency i f: (1) i t i s  probable that an asset existed or a  
l iabi l i ty had been incurred at the bus iness  acquis i tion date and (2) the amount of the asset or l iabi l i ty can be reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the 
measurement period or final  determination of the net asset values  for the bus iness  combination, whichever comes fi rst, changes  in our estimates  of such 
contingencies  wi l l  affect earnings  and could have a materia l  effect on our results  of operations  and financial  pos ition.

In addition, uncertain tax pos itions  and tax-related valuation al lowances  assumed in a  bus iness  combination are ini tia l ly estimated as  of the acquis i tion date. 
We reevaluate these i tems quarterly based upon facts  and ci rcumstances  that existed as  of the bus iness  acquis i tion date with any adjustments  to our 
prel iminary estimates  being recorded to goodwi l l  i f identi fied within the measurement period. Subsequent to the measurement period or our final  determination 
of the tax a l lowance’s  or contingency’s  estimated value, whichever comes fi rst, changes  to these uncertain tax pos itions  and tax-related valuation al lowances  
wi l l  affect our provis ion for income taxes  in our consol idated statement of operations  and could have a materia l  impact on our results  of operations  and 
financial  pos ition.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Investments 

In accordance with ASC 320, Investments—Debt Securities, and based on our intentions  regarding these instruments , we class i fy substantia l ly a l l  of our 
marketable debt securi ties  investments  as  avai lable-for-sale. We carry these securi ties  at fa i r value, and report the unreal ized gains  and losses , net of taxes, as  
a  component of stockholders ’ equity, except for unreal ized losses , i f any, determined to be related to credit losses , which we record within non-operating income 
(expenses), net in the accompanying consol idated statements  of operations. We periodical ly evaluate our investments  to determine i f impairment charges  are 
required. Al l  of our marketable debt securi ties  investments  are class i fied as  current based on the nature of the investments  and their avai labi l i ty for use in 
current operations.

Investments  in equity securi ties , other than any equity method investments , are general ly recorded at their fa i r values, i f the fa ir values  are readi ly 
determinable. Non-marketable equity securi ties  for which the fa ir values  are not readi ly determinable and where we do not have control  of, nor s igni ficant 
influence in, the investee are recorded at cost, less  any impairment, adjusted for observable price changes  from orderly transactions  for identical  or s imi lar 
investments  of the same issuer with any gains  or losses  recorded as  a  component of non-operating income (expenses), net as  of and for each reporting period. 
For investments  through which we have s igni ficant influence in, but not control  of, the investee, we account for such investments  pursuant to the equity method 
of accounting whereby we record our proportionate share of the investee’s  earnings  or losses; amortization of di fferences  between our investment bas is  and 
underlying equity in net assets  of the investee, excluding the component representing goodwi l l ; and impairment, i f any, as  a  component of non-operating income 
(expenses), net for each reporting period.

Our investments  in marketable debt and equity securi ties  totaled $417 mi l l ion and $207 mi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and are included in 
current assets  in the accompanying consol idated balance sheets .

Our non-marketable debt investments  and equity securi ties  and related instruments  totaled $2.1 bi l l ion and $2.0 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively, and are included in other non-current assets  in the accompanying consol idated balance sheets  and are subject to periodic credit losses  and 
impairment reviews. The majori ty of the non-marketable debt and equity investments  held as  of these dates  were with Ampere Computing Holdings  LLC (Ampere), 
a  related party enti ty in which we have an ownership interest of approximately 29% as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024. Our debt investments  in Ampere are in the 
form of convertible debt which, under the terms of an 
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agreement with Ampere and other co-investors , wi l l  mature in June 2026 and are convertible into equity securi ties  at the holder’s  option under certain 
ci rcumstances. During the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2025, we invested an aggregate of $341 mi l l ion in convertible debt instruments  issued by Ampere. We 
fol low the equity method of accounting for our investment in Ampere and our share of loss  under the equity method of accounting is  recorded in the non-
operating income (expenses), net l ine i tem in our consol idated statements  of operations. The total  carrying value of our investments  in Ampere after accounting 
for losses  under the equity method of accounting was $1.6 bi l l ion and $1.5 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. In accordance with the terms of 
an agreement with other co-investors , we are a lso a  counterparty to certain put (exercisable by a  co-investor) and cal l  (exercisable by Oracle) options  at prices  
of approximately $500 mi l l ion to $1.5 bi l l ion, respectively, to acquire additional  equity interests  in Ampere from our co-investors  through January 2027. On 
March 19, 2025, SoftBank Group Corp. announced that i t had entered into an agreement with Ampere and i ts  equity holders  to acquire a l l  of the equity interests  
of Ampere (the Ampere Acquis i tion). The transaction is  subject to customary clos ing conditions, including regulatory approvals . When the Ampere Acquis i tion 
closes , we wi l l  cease to be an investor in Ampere. During the period prior to the clos ing of the Ampere Acquis i tion, we wi l l  continue to recognize our share of 
loss  in Ampere’s  net earnings  unti l  the closure of the acquis i tion.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

We apply the provis ions  of ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (ASC 820), to our assets  and l iabi l i ties  that we are required to measure at fa i r value pursuant to 
other accounting standards, including our investments  in marketable debt and equity securi ties  and our derivative financial  instruments . 

The additional  disclosures  regarding our fa i r value measurements  are included in Note 3. 

Allowances for Credit Losses 

We record al lowances  for credit losses  based upon a speci fic review of a l l  s igni ficant outstanding invoices . For those invoices  not speci fical ly reviewed, 
provis ions  are provided at di ffering rates , based upon the age of the receivable, col lection history and current and expected future economic conditions. We 
write-off a  receivable and charge i t against i ts  recorded al lowance when we have exhausted our col lection efforts  without success .

Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Financial  instruments  that are potentia l ly subject to concentrations  of credit risk cons ist primari ly of cash and cash equivalents , marketable securi ties , 
derivatives , trade receivables  and non-marketable investments . Our cash and cash equivalents  are general ly held with large, diverse financial  insti tutions  
worldwide to reduce the amount of exposure to any s ingle financial  insti tution. Investment pol icies  have been implemented that l imit purchases  of marketable 
debt securi ties  to investment-grade securi ties . Our derivative contracts  are transacted with various  financial  insti tutions  with high credit standings  and any 
exposure to counterparty credit-related losses  in these contracts  i s  largely mitigated with col lateral  securi ty agreements  that provide for col lateral  to be 
received or posted when the net fa i r values  of these contracts  fluctuate from contractual ly establ ished thresholds . We general ly do not require col lateral  to 
secure accounts  receivable. The risk with respect to trade receivables  is  mitigated by credit evaluations  we perform on our customers, the short duration of our 
payment terms for the s igni ficant majori ty of our customer contracts  and by the divers i fication of our customer base. No s ingle customer accounted for 10% or 
more of our total  revenues in fi scal  2025, 2024 or 2023. Refer to “Marketable and Non-Marketable Investments” above for additional  information on our non-
marketable investments .

We outsource the manufacturing, assembly and del ivery of the substantia l  majori ty of our hardware products  that we sel l  to our customers  as  wel l  as  use 
internal ly to del iver our cloud services  to a  variety of companies , many of which are located outs ide the U.S. Further, we have s impl i fied our supply chain 
processes  by reducing the number of third-party manufacturing partners  and the number of locations  where these third-party manufacturers  bui ld our 
hardware products . Any inabi l i ty of these third-party manufacturing partners  to del iver the contracted services  for our hardware products  could adversely 
impact future operating results  of our cloud and l icense and hardware bus inesses. 
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Inventories

Inventories  are stated at the lower of cost or net real izable value. We evaluate our ending inventories  for estimated excess  quanti ties  and obsolescence. This  
evaluation includes  analys is  of sales  levels  by product and projections  of future demand within speci fic time horizons. Inventories  in excess  of future demand 
are written down and charged to hardware expenses. In addition, we assess  the impact of changing technology to our inventories  and we write down inventories  
that are cons idered obsolete. At the point of loss  recognition, a  new, lower-cost bas is  for that inventory is  establ ished, and subsequent changes  in facts  and 
ci rcumstances  do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly establ ished cost bas is . Inventories  are included in prepaid expenses  and other current 
assets  in our consol idated balance sheets  and totaled $303 mi l l ion and $334 mi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Other Receivables 

Other receivables  represent value-added tax and sales  tax receivables  associated with the sale of our products  and services  to third parties . Other receivables  
are included in prepaid expenses  and other current assets  in our consol idated balance sheets  and totaled $855 mi l l ion and $821 mi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 
and 2024, respectively.

Deferred Sales Commissions

We defer sales  commiss ions  earned by our sales  force that are cons idered to be incremental  and recoverable costs  of obtaining a  cloud, l icense support and 
hardware support contract. Ini tia l  sa les  commiss ions  for the majori ty of these aforementioned contracts  are general ly deferred and amortized on a straight-l ine 
bas is  over a  period of benefi t that we estimate to be four years . We determine the period of benefi t by taking into cons ideration the historical  and expected 
durations  of our customer contracts , the expected useful  l ives  of our technologies  and other factors . Sales  commiss ions  for renewal  contracts  relating to certain 
of our cloud-based arrangements  are general ly deferred and then amortized on a straight-l ine bas is  over the related contractual  renewal  period, which is  
general ly one to three years . Amortization of deferred sales  commiss ions  is  included as  a  component of sales  and marketing expenses  in our consol idated 
statements  of operations  and asset balances  for deferred sales  commiss ions  are included in other current assets  and other non-current assets  in our 
consol idated balance sheets . 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less  accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is  computed us ing the straight-l ine method based on estimated 
useful  l ives  of the assets , which range from one to 40 years . Finance lease Right-of-Use (ROU) assets  are amortized over the lease term. Leasehold improvements  
are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful  l ives  of the improvements  or the lease terms, as  appropriate. Property, plant and equipment are 
periodical ly reviewed for impairment whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable at an 
appropriate asset or asset group level . We did not recognize any s igni ficant property impairment charges  in fi scal  2025, 2024 or 2023.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessments

Goodwi l l  represents  the excess  of the purchase price in a  bus iness  combination over the fa ir value of net tangible and intangible assets  acquired. Intangible 
assets  that are not cons idered to have an indefini te useful  l i fe are i temized in Note 5 below and are amortized over their useful  l ives , which general ly range from 
one to 10 years . At least annual ly, we assess  the useful  l ives  of our fini te l ived intangible assets  and may adjust the period over which these assets  are 
amortized whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate that a  shorter amortization period is  more reflective of the period in which these assets  
contribute to our cash flows. 

The carrying amounts  of our goodwi l l  and intangible assets  are reviewed for impairment annual ly and whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate 
that the carrying value of these assets  may not be recoverable. When goodwi l l  i s  assessed for impairment, we have the option to perform an assessment of 
qual i tative factors  of impairment (optional  assessment) prior to necess i tating a  quanti tative impairment test. Should the optional  assessment be used for any 
given fiscal  year, qual i tative factors  cons idered for a  reporting unit include: cost factors ; financial  performance; legal , regulatory, contractual , pol i tical , 
bus iness , or other factors ; enti ty speci fic factors ; 
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industry and market cons iderations; macroeconomic conditions; and other relevant events  and factors  affecting the reporting unit. If we determine in the 
qual i tative assessment that i t i s  more l ikely than not that the fa ir value of the reporting unit i s  less  than i ts  carrying value, a  quanti tative test i s  then performed. 
Otherwise, no further testing is  required. For those reporting units  tested us ing a  quanti tative approach, we compare the fa ir value of each reporting unit with 
the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwi l l . To determine the fa ir value of each reporting unit we uti l i ze estimates, judgments  and assumptions  
including estimated future cash flows the reporting unit i s  expected to generate on a discounted bas is ; the discount rate used as  a  part of the discounted cash 
flow analys is ; future economic and market conditions; and market comparables  of peer companies , among others . If, as  per the quanti tative test, the estimated 
fa ir value of the reporting unit i s  less  than the carrying amount of the reporting unit, impairment is  recognized for the di fference, l imited to the amount of 
goodwi l l  recognized for the reporting unit. Our most recent goodwi l l  impairment analys is  was  performed on March 1, 2025 and did not result in a  goodwi l l  
impairment charge. We did not recognize impairment charges  in fi scal  2024 or 2023.

Recoverabi l i ty of fini te l ived intangible assets  i s  evaluated by comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the future undiscounted cash flows that are 
expected to be generated by the lowest level  associated asset grouping. Recoverabi l i ty of indefini te l ived intangible assets  i s  evaluated by comparison of the 
carrying amount of the asset to i ts  fa i r value. If the asset i s  cons idered to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is  measured as  the di fference between the 
carrying value and the fa ir value of the impaired asset. We did not recognize any intangible asset impairment charges  in fi scal  2025, 2024 or 2023.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, we used derivative financial  instruments  to manage foreign currency and interest rate risks . We do not use derivative 
financial  instruments  for trading purposes. We account for these instruments  in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815), which requires  
that every derivative instrument be recorded on the balance sheet as  ei ther an asset or l iabi l i ty measured at i ts  fa i r value as  of each reporting date. ASC 815 
also requires  that changes  in our derivatives ’ fa i r values  be recognized in earnings , unless  speci fic hedge accounting and documentation cri teria  are met (i .e., 
the instruments  are accounted for as  certain types  of hedges). 

The accounting for changes  in the fa ir value of a  derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting des ignation. For a  derivative 
instrument des ignated as  a  fa i r value hedge, loss  or gain attributable to the risk being hedged is  recognized in earnings  in the period of change with a  
corresponding earnings  offset recorded to the i tem for which the risk i s  being hedged. For a  derivative instrument des ignated as  a  cash flow hedge, during each 
reporting period, we record the change in fa i r value of the derivative to accumulated other comprehensive loss  (AOCL) in our consol idated balance sheets  and 
the change is  reclass i fied to earnings  in the period the hedged i tem affects  earnings.

Leases

We apply the provis ions  of ASC 842, Leases (ASC 842), in accounting for our leases. Accordingly, we determine i f an arrangement is  a  lease at i ts  inception. Lease 
l iabi l i ties  are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments  over the lease term. We general ly use our incremental  
borrowing rate based on the information avai lable at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future payments , because the impl ici t 
rate of the lease is  general ly not known. ROU assets  related to our leases  are measured at lease inception based on the ini tia l  measurement of the lease 
l iabi l i ty, plus  any prepaid lease payments  and less  any lease incentives . Our lease terms that are used in determining our lease l iabi l i ties  at lease inception 
may include options  to extend or terminate the leases  when i t i s  reasonably certain that we wi l l  exercise such options. For operating leases, we general ly 
recognize the lease expense on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term and class i fy both the ROU assets  amortization and imputed interest as  operating 
expenses. For finance leases, ROU assets  are amortized on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term and are class i fied as  operating expense and imputed interest 
i s  class i fied as  interest expense. We have lease agreements  with lease and non-lease components , and in such cases, we general ly account for the components  
as  a  s ingle lease component. We do not recognize lease assets  and lease l iabi l i ties  for any lease with an original  lease term of less  than one year. Abandoned 
operating leases  are accounted for as  ROU asset impairment charges  pursuant to ASC 842.
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ROU assets  related to operating and finance leases  are included in other non-current assets  and property, plant and equipment, net, respectively; short-term 
operating and finance lease l iabi l i ties  are included in other current l iabi l i ties ; and long-term operating and finance lease l iabi l i ties  are included in operating 
lease l iabi l i ties  and other non-current l iabi l i ties , respectively, in our consol idated balance sheets . 

Cash flow movements  related to operating lease activi ties  are included in operating cash flows and those related to finance leases  are included in operating 
cash flows for the portion related to interest and in financing cash flows for the portion related to principal  in our consol idated statements  of cash flows for the 
years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. Note 9 below provides  additional  information regarding our leases.

Legal and Other Contingencies

We are currently involved in various  cla ims and legal  proceedings. Quarterly, we review the status  of each s igni ficant matter and assess  our potentia l  financial  
exposure. Descriptions  of our accounting pol icies  associated with contingencies  assumed as  a  part of a  bus iness  combination are provided under “Bus iness  
Combinations” above. For legal  and other contingencies  that are not a  part of a  bus iness  combination or related to income taxes, we accrue a l iabi l i ty for an 
estimated loss  i f the potentia l  loss  from any cla im or legal  proceeding is  cons idered probable, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Note 15 below 
provides  additional  information regarding certain of our legal  contingencies .

Foreign Currency

We transact bus iness  in various  foreign currencies . In general , the functional  currency of a  foreign operation is  the local  country’s  currency. Consequently, 
revenues and expenses  of operations  outs ide the U.S. are trans lated into U.S. Dol lars  us ing weighted-average exchange rates  whi le assets  and l iabi l i ties  of 
operations  outs ide the U.S. are trans lated into U.S. Dol lars  us ing exchange rates  at the balance sheet dates . The effects  of foreign currency trans lation 
adjustments  are included in stockholders ’ equity as  a  component of AOCL in the accompanying consol idated balance sheets  and related periodic movements  
are summarized as  a  l ine i tem in our consol idated statements  of comprehensive income. Net foreign exchange transaction losses  included in non-operating 
income (expenses), net in the accompanying consol idated statements  of operations  were $147 mi l l ion, $228 mi l l ion and $249 mi l l ion in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation 

We account for share-based payments  to employees, including grants  of service-based restricted stock unit (RSU) awards, service-based employee stock 
options, performance-based stock options  (PSOs) and purchases  under employee stock purchase plans  in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock 
Compensation, which requires  that share-based payments  (to the extent they are compensatory) be recognized in our consol idated statements  of operations  
based on their fa i r values. We account for forfei tures  of stock-based awards  as  they occur. 

For our service-based stock awards, we recognize stock-based compensation expense on a straight-l ine bas is  over the service period of the award, which is  
general ly four years .

For our PSOs, we recognize stock-based compensation expense on a straight-l ine bas is  for tranches  that are probable of achievement over the longer of the (a) 
estimated impl ici t service period for performance-metric achievement or (b) derived service period for market-based metric achievement appl icable for each 
tranche. During our interim and annual  reporting periods, s tock-based compensation expense is  recorded based on expected attainment of performance targets . 
Changes  in our estimates  of the expected attainment of performance targets  that result in a  change in the number of shares  that are expected to vest, or changes  
in our estimates  of impl ici t service periods, may cause the amount of stock-based compensation expense that we record for each interim reporting period to 
vary. Any changes  in estimates  that impact our expectation of the number of shares  that are expected to vest are reflected in the amount of stock-based 
compensation expense that we recognize for each PSO tranche on a cumulative catch-up bas is  during each interim reporting period in which such estimates  are 
a l tered. Changes  in estimates  of the impl ici t service periods  are recognized prospectively. 
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We record deferred tax assets  for stock-based compensation awards  that result in deductions  on certain of our income tax returns  based on the amount of 
stock-based compensation recognized in each reporting period and the fa ir values  attributable to the vested portion of stock awards  assumed in connection 
with a  bus iness  combination at the statutory tax rates  in the jurisdictions  that we are able to recognize such tax deductions. The impacts  of the actual  tax 
deductions  for stock-based awards  that are real ized in these jurisdictions  are general ly recognized in the reporting period that a  restricted stock-based award 
vests  or a  stock option is  exercised with any shortfal l /windfal l  relative to the deferred tax asset establ ished and recorded as  a  discrete detriment/benefi t to our 
provis ion for income taxes  in such period. Note 11 below provides  additional  information regarding our stock-based compensation plans  and related expenses. 

Research and Development Costs and Software Development Costs

Research and development costs  are general ly expensed as  incurred in accordance with ASC 730, Research and Development. Software development costs  
required to be capital ized under ASC 985-20, Costs of Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed, and under ASC 350-40, Internal-Use Software, were not materia l  to 
our consol idated financial  s tatements  in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquis i tion related and other expenses  primari ly cons ist of personnel-related costs  for trans itional  and certain other employees, certain bus iness  combination 
adjustments , including adjustments  after the measurement period has  ended, and certain other operating i tems, net.
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Trans itional  and other employee-related costs  $ 3  $ 19  $ 77 
Bus iness  combination adjustments , net   (26)   (12)   10 
Other, net   98   307   103 

Total  acquis i tion related and other expenses  $ 75  $ 314  $ 190 

Non-Operating Income (Expenses), net

Non-operating income (expenses), net cons ists  primari ly of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses , the noncontrol l ing interests  in the net profi ts  
of our majori ty-owned subs idiaries  (primari ly Oracle Financial  Services  Software Limited and Oracle Corporation Japan), net losses  related to marketable and 
non-marketable investments , including losses  attributable to equity method investments  (primari ly Ampere) and net other income and expenses, including net 
unreal ized gains  and losses  from our investment portfol io related to our deferred compensation plan and non-service net periodic pens ion income and losses .
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Interest income  $ 578  $ 451  $ 285 
Foreign currency losses , net   (147)   (228)   (249)
Noncontrol l ing interests  in income   (184)   (186)   (165)
Losses  from marketable and non-marketable investments , net   (278)   (303)   (327)
Other income (expenses), net   91   168   (6)

Total  non-operating income (expenses), net  $ 60  $ (98)  $ (462)
 
 

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes  in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740). Deferred income taxes  are recorded for the expected tax consequences  of 
temporary di fferences  between the tax bases  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  for financial  reporting purposes  and amounts  recognized for income tax purposes. We 
record a valuation al lowance to reduce our deferred tax assets  to the amount of future tax benefi t that i s  more l ikely than not to be real ized.
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A two-step approach is  appl ied pursuant to ASC 740 in the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax pos itions  taken or expected to be taken in a  tax return. 
The fi rst step is  to determine i f the weight of avai lable evidence indicates  that i t i s  more l ikely than not that the tax pos ition wi l l  be sustained in an audit, 
including resolution of any related appeals  or l i tigation processes. The second step is  to measure the tax benefi t as  the largest amount that i s  more than 50% 
l ikely to be real ized upon ultimate settlement. We recognize interest and penalties  related to uncertain tax pos itions  in our provis ion for income taxes  l ine of 
our consol idated statements  of operations.

A description of our accounting pol icies  associated with tax-related contingencies  and valuation al lowances  assumed as  a  part of a  bus iness  combination is  
provided under “Bus iness  Combinations” above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Income Taxes: In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (ASU 2023-09), which enhances  
the disclosures  required for income taxes  in our annual  consol idated financial  s tatements . ASU 2023-09 is  effective for us  for our annual  reporting for fi scal  
2026 on a prospective bas is . Both early adoption and retrospective appl ication are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption 
of ASU 2023-09 on our consol idated financial  s tatements .

Income Statement: In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures 
(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (ASU 2024-03) and also issued subsequent guidance clari fying the effective date of the ini tia l  
guidance (col lectively, Subtopic 220-40), which enhances  the disclosures  required for expense disaggregation in our annual  and interim consol idated financial  
s tatements . This  guidance is  effective for us  for our annual  reporting for fi scal  2028 and for interim period reporting beginning in fi scal  2029 on a prospective 
bas is . Both early adoption and retrospective appl ication are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of Subtopic 220-40 on 
our consol idated financial  s tatements .

2.CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents  primari ly cons ist of deposits  held at major banks, including time deposits , and money market funds  with original  maturi ties  of 90 
days  or less . Marketable securi ties  primari ly cons ist of time deposits  with original  maturi ties  at the time of purchase greater than 90 days.

The amortized principal  amounts  of our cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  approximated their fa i r values  at May 31, 2025 and 2024. We use the 
speci fic identi fication method to determine any real ized gains  or losses  from the sale of our marketable securi ties  class i fied as  avai lable-for-sale. Such real ized 
gains  and losses  were ins igni ficant for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023. The fol lowing table summarizes  the components  of our cash equivalents  and marketable 
securi ties  held, substantia l ly a l l  of which were class i fied as  avai lable-for-sale:
 
  May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024  
Money market funds  $ 2,220  $ 2,620 
Time deposits  and other   585   310 

Total  investments  $ 2,805  $ 2,930 
Investments  class i fied as  cash equivalents  $ 2,388  $ 2,723 
Investments  class i fied as  marketable securi ties  $ 417  $ 207 

 
As of May 31, 2025 and 2024, a l l  of our marketable debt securi ties  investments  mature within one year. Our investment portfol io is  subject to market risk due to 
changes  in interest rates . As  described above, we l imit purchases  of marketable debt securi ties  to investment-grade securi ties , which have high credit ratings  
and also l imit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. As  stated in our investment pol icy, we are averse to principal  loss  and seek to preserve our 
invested funds  by l imiting default risk and market risk.

Restricted cash that was  included within cash and cash equivalents  as  presented within our consol idated balance sheets  as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024 and our 
consol idated statements  of cash flows for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 was immateria l .
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3.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

We perform fair value measurements  in accordance with ASC 820. ASC 820 defines  fa i r value as  the price that would be received from sel l ing an asset or paid to 
transfer a  l iabi l i ty in an orderly transaction between market participants  at the measurement date. When determining the fa ir value measurements  for assets  
and l iabi l i ties  required to be recorded at their fa i r values, we cons ider the principal  or most advantageous market in which we would transact and cons ider 
assumptions  that market participants  would use when pricing the assets  or l iabi l i ties , such as  inherent risk, transfer restrictions  and risk of nonperformance. 

ASC 820 establ ishes  a  fa i r value hierarchy that requires  an enti ty to maximize the use of observable inputs  and minimize the use of unobservable inputs  when 
measuring fa ir value. An asset’s  or a  l iabi l i ty’s  categorization within the fa ir value hierarchy is  based upon the lowest level  of input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir 
value measurement. ASC 820 establ ishes  three levels  of inputs  that may be used to measure fa ir value: 

•Level  1: quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties ;

•Level  2: inputs  other than Level  1 that are observable, ei ther directly or indirectly, such as  quoted prices  in active markets  for s imi lar assets  or 
l iabi l i ties , quoted prices  for identical  or s imi lar assets  or l iabi l i ties  in markets  that are not active, or other inputs  that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantia l ly the ful l  term of the assets  or l iabi l i ties ; or 

•Level  3: unobservable inputs  that are supported by l i ttle or no market activi ty and that are s igni ficant to the fa ir values  of the assets  or l iabi l i ties .

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Our assets  and l iabi l i ties  measured at fa i r value on a recurring bas is  cons isted of the fol lowing (Level  1 and Level  2 inputs  are defined above): 
 

  May 31, 2025   May 31, 2024  

  
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types      
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types     
(in millions)  Level 1   Level 2   Total   Level 1   Level 2   Total  
Assets :                   

Money market funds  $ 2,220  $ —  $ 2,220  $ 2,620  $ —  $ 2,620 
Time deposits  and other   59   526   585   48   262   310 
Derivative financial  instruments   —   54   54   —   179   179 

Total  assets  $ 2,279  $ 580  $ 2,859  $ 2,668  $ 441  $ 3,109 
Liabi l i ties :                   

Derivative financial  instruments  $ —  $ 26  $ 26  $ —  $ 96  $ 96 
 

Our valuation techniques  used to measure the fa ir values  of our instruments  that were class i fied as  Level  1 in the table above were derived from quoted market 
prices  and active markets  for these instruments  that exist. Our valuation techniques  used to measure the fa ir values  of Level  2 instruments  l i s ted in the table 
above were derived from the fol lowing: non-binding market consensus  prices  that were corroborated by observable market data, quoted market prices  for 
s imi lar instruments , or pricing models , such as  discounted cash flow techniques, with a l l  s igni ficant inputs  derived from or corroborated by observable market 
data including reference rate yield curves, among others . 
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Based on the trading prices  of the $90.3 bi l l ion and $86.5 bi l l ion of senior notes  and other long-term borrowings  and the related fa ir value hedges  (refer to Note 
6 for additional  information) that we had outstanding as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, the estimated fa ir values  of the senior notes  and other long-
term borrowings  and the related fa ir value hedges  us ing Level  2 inputs  at May 31, 2025 and 2024 were $81.3 bi l l ion and $77.2 bi l l ion, respectively. 

4.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, net cons isted of the fol lowing:
 
  Estimated  May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  Useful Life  2025   2024  
Computer, network, machinery and equipment  1-6 years  $ 30,345  $ 20,989 
Bui ldings  and improvements  1-40 years   10,881   6,493 
Furniture, fixtures  and other  5-15 years   466   463 
Land  —  1,352   1,239 
Construction in progress  —  16,510   5,634 

Total  property, plant and equipment  1-40 years   59,554   34,818 
Accumulated depreciation     (16,032)   (13,282)

Total  property, plant and equipment, net    $ 43,522  $ 21,536 
 

(1)Amounts primarily consist of computer equipment to be built and deployed at our data centers.
(2)During the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we completed an assessment of the useful lives of our servers and networking equipment and increased the estimate of the useful lives from five years to six years, effective at the 
beginning of fiscal 2025.

5.INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes  in intangible assets  for fi scal  2025 and the net book value of intangible assets  as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024 were as  fol lows:
 
  Intangible Assets, Gross   Accumulated Amortization   Intangible Assets, Net   

(in millions)  
May 31,

2024   Retirements   
May 31,

2025   
May 31,

2024   Expense   Retirements   
May 31,

2025   
May 31,

2024   
May 31,

2025   
Developed technology  $ 4,235  $ (92)  $ 4,143  $ (2,959)  $ (642)  $ 92  $ (3,509)  $ 1,276  $ 634  
Cloud services and license support 
agreements and related relationships   8,460   (1,312)   7,148   (5,609)   (714)   1,312   (5,011)   2,851   2,137  
Cloud license and on-premise license 
agreements and related relationships   2,563   (41)   2,522   (1,039)   (462)   41   (1,460)   1,524   1,062  
Other   3,533   (710)   2,827   (2,294)   (489)   710   (2,073)   1,239   754  
Total intangible assets, net  $ 18,791  $ (2,155)  $ 16,640  $ (11,901)  $ (2,307)  $ 2,155  $ (12,053)  $ 6,890  $ 4,587  

 

As of May 31, 2025, estimated future amortization expenses  related to intangible assets  were as  fol lows (in mi l l ions): 
 

Fiscal  2026  $ 1,639 
Fiscal  2027   672 
Fiscal  2028   635 
Fiscal  2029   561 
Fiscal  2030   522 
Thereafter   558 

Total  intangible assets , net  $ 4,587 
 

(2)

(1)
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The changes  in the carrying amounts  of goodwi l l , which is  general ly not deductible for tax purposes, for our operating segments  for fi scal  2025 and 2024 were 
as  fol lows:
 

(in millions)  Cloud and License   Hardware   Services   Total Goodwill  
Balances  as  of May 31, 2023  $ 57,060  $ 2,732  $ 2,469  $ 62,261 

Goodwi l l  adjustments , net   12   —   (43)   (31)
Balances  as  of May 31, 2024   57,072   2,732   2,426   62,230 

Goodwi l l  adjustments , net   (23)   —   —   (23)
Balances  as  of May 31, 2025  $ 57,049  $ 2,732  $ 2,426  $ 62,207 
 

(1)Amounts include any changes in goodwill balances for the period presented that resulted from foreign currency translations and certain other adjustments. 

6.NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Notes  payable and other borrowings  cons isted of the fol lowing:
 

    May 31,
    2025  2024

(Amounts in millions)  
Date of

Issuance  Amount   

Effective 
Interest 

Rate  Amount   

Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Fixed-rate senior notes:             

$2,000, 3.40%, due July 2024  July 2014  $ —  N.A $ 2,000  3.43%
$2,000, 2.95%, due November 2024  November 2017   —  N.A  2,000  3.01%
$3,500, 2.50%, due April 2025  April 2020   —  N.A  3,500  2.54%
$2,500, 2.95%, due May 2025  May 2015   —  N.A  2,500  3.05%
€750, 3.125%, due July 2025  July 2013   841  3.17%  808  3.17%
$1,000, 5.80%, due November 2025  November 2022   1,000  5.93%  1,000  5.93%
$2,750, 1.65%, due March 2026  March 2021   2,750  1.67%  2,750  1.67%
$3,000, 2.65%, due July 2026  July 2016   3,000  2.73%  3,000  2.73%
$2,250, 2.80%, due April 2027  April 2020   2,250  2.87%  2,250  2.87%
$2,750, 3.25%, due November 2027  November 2017   2,750  3.29%  2,750  3.29%
$2,000, 2.30%, due March 2028  March 2021   2,000  2.36%  2,000  2.36%
$750, 4.50%, due May 2028  February 2023   750  4.60%  750  4.60%
$1,500, 4.80%, due August 2028  February 2025   1,500  4.94%  —  N.A
$1,500, 4.20%, due September 2029  September 2024   1,500  4.27%  —  N.A
$1,250, 6.15%, due November 2029  November 2022   1,250  6.21%  1,250  6.21%
$3,250, 2.95%, due April 2030  April 2020   3,250  3.00%  3,250  3.00%
$750, 4.65%, due May 2030  February 2023   750  4.75%  750  4.75%
$500, 3.25%, due May 2030  May 2015   500  3.35%  500  3.35%
$3,250, 2.875%, due March 2031  March 2021   3,250  2.92%  3,250  2.92%
$1,250, 5.25%, due February 2032  February 2025   1,250  5.36%  —  N.A
$2,250, 6.25%, due November 2032  November 2022   2,250  6.32%  2,250  6.32%
$1,500, 4.90%, due February 2033  February 2023   1,500  4.95%  1,500  4.95%
$1,750, 4.30%, due July 2034  July 2014   1,750  4.30%  1,750  4.30%
$1,750, 4.70%, due September 2034  September 2024   1,750  4.77%  —  N.A
$1,250, 3.90%, due May 2035  May 2015   1,250  4.00%  1,250  4.00%
$1,750, 5.50%, due August 2035  February 2025   1,750  5.55%  —  N.A
$1,250, 3.85%, due July 2036  July 2016   1,250  3.89%  1,250  3.89%
$1,750, 3.80%, due November 2037  November 2017   1,750  3.86%  1,750  3.86%
$1,250, 6.50%, due April 2038  April 2008   1,250  6.51%  1,250  6.51%
$1,250, 6.125%, due July 2039  July 2009   1,250  6.17%  1,250  6.17%
$3,000, 3.60%, due April 2040  April 2020   3,000  3.64%  3,000  3.64%
$2,250, 5.375%, due July 2040  July 2010   2,250  5.45%  2,250  5.45%
$2,250, 3.65%, due March 2041  March 2021   2,250  3.72%  2,250  3.72%
$1,000, 4.50%, due July 2044  July 2014   1,000  4.50%  1,000  4.50%
$2,000, 4.125%, due May 2045  May 2015   2,000  4.20%  2,000  4.20%
$3,000, 4.00%, due July 2046  July 2016   3,000  4.03%  3,000  4.03%
$2,250, 4.00%, due November 2047  November 2017   2,250  4.05%  2,250  4.05%
$4,500, 3.60%, due April 2050  April 2020   4,500  3.64%  4,500  3.64%
$3,250, 3.95%, due March 2051

 March 2021   
3,250

  3.98%  
3,250

  3.98%
$2,500, 6.90%, due November 2052  November 2022   2,500  6.94%  2,500  6.94%
$2,250, 5.55%, due February 2053  February 2023   2,250  5.62%  2,250  5.62%

(1)

(1)

(1)(2)

(4)

(4)

(4)

(4)

(4)
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    May 31,
    2025  2024

(Amounts in millions)  
Date of

Issuance  Amount   

Effective 
Interest 

Rate  Amount   

Effective 
Interest 

Rate
$1,750, 5.375%, due September 2054  September 2024   1,750  5.43%  —  N.A
$1,250, 4.375%, due May 2055  May 2015   1,250  4.44%  1,250  4.44%
$1,750, 6.00%, due August 2055  February 2025   1,750  6.04%  —  N.A
$3,500, 3.85%, due April 2060  April 2020   3,500  3.89%  3,500  3.89%
$1,500, 4.10%, due March 2061  March 2021   1,500  4.13%  1,500  4.13%
$1,250, 5.50%, due September 2064  September 2024   1,250  5.55%  —  N.A
$1,000, 6.125%, due August 2065  February 2025   1,000  6.17%  —  N.A

Floating-rate senior notes:             
$500, Compounded SOFR plus 0.76%, due August 2028  February 2025   500  5.28%  —  N.A

Term loan credit agreements:             
$790, SOFR plus 1.70%, due August 2025  August 2022   —  N.A  790  6.99%
$170, SOFR plus 1.70%, due August 2025  November 2022   —  N.A  170  6.98%
$3,570, SOFR plus 1.70%, due August 2027  August 2022   —  N.A  3,570  6.99%
$1,100, SOFR plus 1.70%, due August 2027  November 2022   —  N.A  1,100  6.98%
$5,630, SOFR plus 1.35%, due August 2027  June 2024   5,419  6.10%  —  N.A

Commercial paper notes     2,294  4.88%  401  5.43%
Other borrowings due August 2025  November 2016   113  3.53%  113  3.53%

Total senior notes and other borrowings    $ 92,917    $ 87,202   
Unamortized discount/issuance costs     (348)     (302)   
Hedge accounting fair value adjustments     (1)     (31)   

Total notes payable and other borrowings    $ 92,568    $ 86,869   
Notes payable and other borrowings, current    $ 7,271    $ 10,605   
Notes payable and other borrowings, non-current    $ 85,297    $ 76,264   

 

(1)In July 2013, we issued €750 million of 3.125% senior notes due July 2025 (July 2025 Notes). Principal and unamortized discount/issuance costs for the July 2025 Notes in the table above were calculated using foreign 
currency exchange rates, as applicable, as of May 31, 2025 and May 31, 2024, respectively. The July 2025 Notes are registered and traded on the New York Stock Exchange.
(2)In fiscal 2018 we entered into certain cross-currency interest rate swap agreements that have the economic effect of converting our fixed-rate, Euro-denominated debt, including annual interest payments and the payment 
of principal at maturity, to a variable-rate, U.S. Dollar-denominated debt of $871 million based on LIBOR. The effective interest rates as of May 31, 2025 and 2024 after consideration of the cross-currency interest rate swap 
agreements were 7.77% and 8.76%, respectively, for the July 2025 Notes. Refer to Note 1 for a description of our accounting for fair value hedges.
(3)In fiscal 2023, we entered into certain interest rate swap agreements that have the economic effect of converting our $4.7 billion of floating-rate borrowings pursuant to the Term Loan Credit Agreement (defined below) 
until its repayment and subsequently, borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 (defined below) for the same amount to fixed-rate borrowings with a fixed annual interest rate of 3.07%, plus a margin depending on 
the credit rating assigned to our long-term senior unsecured debt, as further discussed below. The effective interest rates after consideration of the interest rate swap agreements were 4.74% for each of fiscal 2025 for 
borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 (defined below) and fiscal 2024 for borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement. Refer to Note 1 for a description of our accounting for cash flow hedges.
(4)In fiscal 2025, we issued $14.0 billion of senior notes and intend to use the net proceeds from the issuance of the senior notes to repay all or a portion of senior notes due between November 2024 and July 2026, and to pay 
accrued interest and any related premiums, fees and expenses in connection therewith; to make scheduled payments of principal and interest on borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 (defined below); to repay 
all or a portion of commercial paper notes outstanding; and to use any remaining net proceeds from the borrowing for general corporate purposes, which may include stock repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our 
common stock, repayment of other indebtedness and future acquisitions. The interest is payable semi-annually for the fixed-rate senior notes and quarterly for the floating-rate senior notes. We may redeem some or all of 
the fixed-rate senior notes of each series prior to their maturity, subject to certain restrictions, and the payment of an applicable make-whole premium in certain instances.

Future principal  payments  (adjusted for the effects  of the cross-currency interest rate swap agreements  associated with the July 2025 Notes) for a l l  of our 
borrowings  at May 31, 2025 were as  fol lows (in mi l l ions): 
 

Fiscal  2026  $ 7,309 
Fiscal  2027   5,743 
Fiscal  2028   10,145 
Fiscal  2029   2,000 
Fiscal  2030   7,250 
Thereafter   60,500 

Total  $ 92,947 
 

(4)

(4)

(4)

(4)

(4)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(2)
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Senior Notes

Interest i s  payable semi-annual ly for the senior notes  l i s ted in the above table, except for the Euro Notes  for which interest i s  payable annual ly and the floating-
rate senior notes  for which interest i s  payable quarterly. We may redeem some or a l l  of the senior notes  of each series  prior to their maturi ty, subject to certain 
restrictions, and the payment of an appl icable make-whole premium in certain instances  except for the floating-rate senior notes , which may not be redeemed 
prior to their maturi ty.

The senior notes  rank pari  passu with a l l  existing and future notes  issued pursuant to our commercial  paper program (see additional  discuss ion regarding our 
commercial  paper program below) and al l  existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness  of Oracle Corporation, including the Revolving Credit Agreement 
and the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2, each as  defined and described further below. Al l  existing and future l iabi l i ties  of the subs idiaries  of Oracle Corporation 
are or wi l l  be effectively senior to the senior notes  and Commercial  Paper Notes  (defined below), borrowings  under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 (defined 
below) and any future borrowings  pursuant to the Revolving Credit Agreement. We were in compl iance with a l l  debt-related covenants  at May 31, 2025.

Revolving Credit Agreement

Our Revolving Credit Agreement provides  for an unsecured $6.0 bi l l ion, five-year revolving credit faci l i ty (the Revolving Faci l i ty) to be used for our working 
capital  purposes  and for other general  corporate purposes. Subject to certain conditions  stated in the Revolving Credit Agreement, we may borrow, prepay and 
reborrow amounts  under the Revolving Faci l i ty during the term of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Al l  amounts  borrowed under the Revolving Credit Agreement 
wi l l  become due on March 8, 2027, unless  the commitments  are terminated earl ier ei ther at our request or, i f an event of default occurs , by the lenders  (or 
automatical ly in the case of certain bankruptcy-related events). Interest i s  based on either (a) a  Term SOFR-based formula plus  a  margin of 87.5 bas is  points  to 
150.0 bas is  points , depending on the credit rating ass igned to our long-term senior unsecured debt, or (b) a  Base Rate formula plus  a  margin up to 50.0 bas is  
points , depending on the same such credit rating, each as  set forth in the Revolving Credit Agreement. As  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, we did not have any 
outstanding borrowing under the Revolving Credit Agreement.

Term Loan Credit Agreements

During fiscal  2023, pursuant to a  term loan credit agreement (Term Loan Credit Agreement) providing for an aggregate term loan commitment of $5.6 bi l l ion, we 
borrowed $4.7 bi l l ion under term loan 1 faci l i ty (Term Loan 1 Faci l i ty) and $960 mi l l ion under term loan 2 faci l i ty (Term Loan 2 Faci l i ty and, together with the 
Term Loan 1 Faci l i ty, the Term Loan Faci l i ties).

The Term Loan Credit Agreement provided for repayment of borrowings  under the Term Loan Faci l i ties  as  fol lows:

•an amount equal  to the amount borrowed reduced by any prepayments  multipl ied by 1.25% on September 30, 2024 and quarterly thereafter unti l  June 
30, 2026;

•an amount equal  to the amount borrowed reduced by any prepayments  multipl ied by 2.50% on September 30, 2026 and quarterly thereafter unti l  June 
30, 2027; and

•any remaining unpaid principal  balance under the Term Loan 1 Faci l i ty wi l l  become ful ly due and payable on August 16, 2027 and any remaining unpaid 
principal  balance under the Term Loan 2 Faci l i ty wi l l  become ful ly due and payable on August 16, 2025 (subject to any extens ion of the Term Loan 2 
Faci l i ty termination date, as  set out below), unless  the outstanding loans  are prepaid earl ier at the request of Oracle or accelerated by the lenders  i f an 
event of default occurs .

Interest was  based on either (a) a  Term SOFR-based formula plus  a  margin of 147.5 bas is  points  to 197.5 bas is  points , depending on the credit rating ass igned 
to our long-term senior unsecured debt, or (b) a  Base Rate formula plus  a  margin of 47.5 bas is  points  to 97.5 bas is  points , depending on the same such credit 
rating, each as  set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement.

We were in compl iance with a l l  covenants  under the Term Loan Credit Agreement as  of May 31, 2024.
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On June 10, 2024, we terminated our Term Loan Credit Agreement and repaid the principal  amount outstanding together with interest accrued up to the date of 
repayment. Simultaneously, we borrowed up to the maximum commitment amount of $5.6 bi l l ion pursuant to a  term loan credit agreement (Term Loan Credit 
Agreement 2) executed on the same date. The cri tical  terms of the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 are s imi lar to the cri tical  terms of the Term Loan Credit 
Agreement, except for terms related to the interest, the consol idation of two term loan faci l i ties  under Term Loan Credit Agreement into a  s ingle faci l i ty under the 
Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 and the options  to extend the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2. Interest i s  based on either (a) a  Term SOFR-based formula plus  a  
margin of 112.5 bas is  points  to 162.5 bas is  points , depending on the credit rating ass igned to our long-term senior unsecured debt, or (b) a  Base Rate formula 
plus  a  margin of 12.5 bas is  points  to 62.5 bas is  points , depending on the same such credit rating, each as  set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 provides  for repayment of borrowing as  fol lows:

•an amount equal  to the amount borrowed reduced by any prepayments  multipl ied by 1.25% on September 30, 2024 and quarterly thereafter unti l  June 
30, 2026;

•an amount equal  to the amount borrowed reduced by any prepayments  multipl ied by 2.50% on September 30, 2026 and quarterly thereafter unti l  June 
30, 2027; and

•any remaining unpaid principal  balance under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 wi l l  become ful ly due and payable on August 16, 2027 (subject to any 
extens ion of the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 termination date, as  set out below), unless  the outstanding loans  are prepaid earl ier at the request of 
Oracle or accelerated by the lenders  i f an event of default occurs .

The termination date of the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 may be extended at our sole option by up to 2 years . The termination date of the Term Loan Credit 
Agreement 2 may also be further extended at each lender’s  option by up to 2 years .

We were in compl iance with a l l  covenants  under the Term Loan Credit Agreement 2 as  of May 31, 2025.

Commercial Paper Program and Commercial Paper Notes

Our existing $6.0 bi l l ion commercial  paper program al lows us  to issue and sel l  unsecured short-term promissory notes  (Commercial  Paper Notes) pursuant to a  
private placement exemption from the registration requirements  under federal  and state securi ties  laws pursuant to dealer agreements  with various  banks  and 
an Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas .

There were $2.3 bi l l ion and $401 mi l l ion of outstanding Commercial  Paper Notes  as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. We used the net proceeds from the 
issuance of commercial  paper for general  corporate purposes.

7.RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During fiscal  2024, our management approved, committed to and ini tiated plans  to restructure and further improve efficiencies  in our operations  due to our 
acquis i tions  and certain other operational  activi ties  (2024 Restructuring Plan). In fi scal  2025, our management supplemented the 2024 Restructuring Plan to 
reflect additional  actions  that we expected to take. Restructuring costs  associated with the 2024 Restructuring Plan were recorded to the restructuring expense 
l ine i tem within our consol idated statements  of operations  as  they were incurred. We recorded $314 mi l l ion and $432 mi l l ion of restructuring expenses  in 
connection with the 2024 Restructuring Plan in fi scal  2025 and 2024, respectively. Actions  pursuant to the 2024 Restructuring Plan were substantia l ly complete 
as  of May 31, 2025.

Fiscal 2022 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During fiscal  2022, our management approved, committed to and ini tiated plans  to restructure and further improve efficiencies  in our operations  due to our 
acquis i tions  and certain other operational  activi ties  (2022 Restructuring Plan). In fi scal  2023, our management supplemented the 2022 Restructuring Plan to 
reflect additional  actions  that 
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we expected to take. Restructuring costs  associated with the 2022 Restructuring Plan were recorded to the restructuring expense l ine i tem within our 
consol idated statements  of operations  as  they were incurred. We recorded $493 mi l l ion of restructuring expenses  in connection with the 2022 Restructuring 
Plan in fi scal  2023. The total  costs  recorded in our consol idated statements  of operations  in connection with the 2022 Restructuring Plan were $716 mi l l ion. 
Actions  pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring Plan were substantia l ly complete as  of May 31, 2023.

Summary of All Plans 

Fiscal 2025 Activity
 

  Accrued   Year Ended May 31, 2025   Accrued  

(in millions)  
May 31,
2024   

Initial
Costs   

Adj. to
Cost   

Cash
Payments   Others   

May 31,
2025  

Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan                   
Cloud and l icense  $ 87  $ 115  $ (6)  $ (118)  $ 1  $ 79 
Hardware   4   17   —   (11)   —   10 
Services   12   37   —   (28)   1   22 
Other

  
49

   153   (2)   (142)   2   
60

 
Total  Fiscal  2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan  $ 152  $ 322  $ (8)  $ (299)  $ 4  $ 171 
Total  other restructuring plans  $ 84  $ —  $ (15)  $ (29)  $ 1  $ 41 

Total  restructuring plans  $ 236  $ 322  $ (23)  $ (328)  $ 5  $ 212 
 

Fiscal 2024 Activity
 

  Accrued   Year Ended May 31, 2024   Accrued  

(in millions)  
May 31,

2023   
Initial

Costs   
Adj. to
Cost   

Cash
Payments   Others   

May 31,
2024  

Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan                   
Cloud and l icense  $ —  $ 204  $ (9)  $ (108)  $ —  $ 87 
Hardware   —   9   —   (5)   —   4 
Services   —   46   (1)   (33)   —   12 
Other   —   188   (5)   (134)   —   49 

Total  Fiscal  2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan  $ —  $ 447  $ (15)  $ (280)  $ —  $ 152 
Total  other restructuring plans  $ 199  $ —  $ (28)  $ (89)  $ 2  $ 84 

Total  restructuring plans  $ 199  $ 447  $ (43)  $ (369)  $ 2  $ 236 
 

(2) (3) (4) (5) (2)

(1)

(6)

(3) (4) (5) (2)

(1)

(6)
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Fiscal 2023 Activity
 

  Accrued   Year Ended May 31, 2023   Accrued  

(in millions)  
May 31,

2022   
Initial

Costs   
Adj. to
Cost   

Cash
Payments   Others   

May 31,
2023  

Fiscal 2022 Oracle Restructuring Plan                   
Cloud and l icense  $ 34  $ 288  $ (6)  $ (218)  $ 1  $ 99 
Hardware   7   18   —   (18)   (1)   6 
Services   9   28   —   (19)   (1)   17 
Other   10   162   3   (141)   1   35 

Total  Fiscal  2022 Oracle Restructuring Plan  $ 60  $ 496  $ (3)  $ (396)  $ —  $ 157 
Total  other restructuring plans  $ 71  $ 1  $ (4)  $ (22)  $ (4)  $ 42 

Total  restructuring plans  $ 131  $ 497  $ (7)  $ (418)  $ (4)  $ 199 
 

(1)Restructuring costs recorded to each of the operating segments presented primarily related to employee severance costs. Other restructuring costs represented employee severance costs not related to our operating 
segments and certain other restructuring plan costs.
(2)As of May 31, 2025 and 2024, substantially all restructuring liabilities have been recorded in other current liabilities within our consolidated balance sheets.
(3)Costs recorded for the respective restructuring plans during the period presented.
(4)All plan adjustments were changes in estimates whereby increases and decreases in costs were generally recorded to operating expenses in the period of adjustments.
(5)Represents foreign currency translation and certain other non-cash adjustments. 
(6)Other restructuring plans presented in the tables above included condensed information for other Oracle based plans and other plans associated with certain of our acquisitions whereby we continued to make cash outlays 
to settle obligations under these plans during the periods presented but for which the periodic impact to our consolidated statements of operations was not significant.

8.DEFERRED REVENUES

Deferred revenues cons isted of the fol lowing:
 

  May 31,  

(in millions)  2025   2024  

Cloud services  and l icense support  $ 8,270  $ 8,203 
Hardware   614   546 
Services   464   512 
Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense   39   52 

Deferred revenues, current   9,387   9,313 
Deferred revenues, non-current (in other non-current l iabi l i ties)   1,346   1,233 

Total  deferred revenues  $ 10,733  $ 10,546 
 
Deferred cloud services  and l icense support revenues and deferred hardware revenues substantia l ly represent customer payments  made in advance for cloud or 
support contracts  that are typical ly bi l led in advance with corresponding revenues general ly being recognized ratably or based upon customer usage over the 
respective contractual  periods. Deferred services  revenues include prepayments  for our services  bus iness  and revenues for these services  are general ly 
recognized as  the services  are performed. Deferred cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues typical ly resulted from customer payments  that related to 
undel ivered products  and services  or speci fied enhancements .

(3) (4) (5)

(1)

(6)
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9.LEASES, OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CERTAIN CONTINGENCIES 

Leases

We have operating and finance leases  that primari ly relate to certain of our data centers  and faci l i ties . As  of May 31, 2025, our leases  substantia l ly have 
remaining terms of one year to fi fteen years , some of which include options  to extend and/or terminate the leases.

The components  of lease expense were as  fol lows:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Operating lease cost  $ 1,716  $ 1,159  $ 883 
Finance lease cost:          

Amortization of ROU assets  $ 48  $ —  $ — 
Interest on lease l iabi l i ties   38   —   — 

Total  finance lease cost  $ 86  $ —  $ — 

Supplemental  balance sheet information related to operating leases  was  as  fol lows:

  As of May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   2024  
Operating lease ROU assets  $ 13,145  $ 7,290 
Operating lease l iabi l i ties :       

Operating lease l iabi l i ties , current  $ 1,914  $ 1,290 
Operating lease l iabi l i ties , non-current   11,536   6,255 

Total  operating lease l iabi l i ties  $ 13,450  $ 7,545 
Weighted average remaining lease term  10 years   9 years  
Weighted average discount rate  5.3%   5.1%  

Supplemental  cash flow information related to operating leases  was  as  fol lows:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Cash paid for amounts  included in the measurement of operating lease 
l iabi l i ties  $ 1,685  $ 1,168  $ 894 
ROU assets  obtained in exchange for operating lease obl igations  $ 6,970  $ 4,246  $ 1,957 

As  of May 31, 2025, ROU assets , net of $55 mi l l ion of accumulated depreciation, current lease l iabi l i ties  and non-current lease l iabi l i ties  for our finance leases  
were $2.9 bi l l ion, $257 mi l l ion and $2.7 bi l l ion, respectively. In fi scal  2025, we recorded finance lease ROU assets  of $2.9 bi l l ion in exchange for finance lease 
obl igations. Cash paid for amounts  included in the measurement of finance lease l iabi l i ties  was  $27 mi l l ion in fi scal  2025. As  of May 31, 2025, the weighted 
average remaining lease term for finance leases  was  approximately fi fteen years  and the weighted average discount rate used for calculating finance lease 
obl igations  was  5.5%. We had no finance leases  for the year ended and as  of May 31, 2024.
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Maturi ties  of lease l iabi l i ties  were as  fol lows as  of May 31, 2025 (in mi l l ions):
 

  
Operating 

Leases   
Finance 
Leases  

Fiscal  2026  $ 1,964  $ 266 
Fiscal  2027   1,869   249 
Fiscal  2028   1,795   256 
Fiscal  2029   1,702   264 
Fiscal  2030   1,661   272 
Thereafter   8,692   3,104 

Total  lease payments   17,683   4,411 
Less : imputed interest   (4,233)   (1,477)

Total  lease l iabi l i ty  $ 13,450  $ 2,934 

As  of May 31, 2025, we have $43.4 bi l l ion of additional  lease commitments , primari ly for data centers , that are general ly expected to commence between fiscal  
2026 and fiscal  2028 and for terms of ten to s ixteen years  that were not reflected on our consol idated balance sheet as  of May 31, 2025 or in the maturi ties  
table above.

Unconditional Obligations

In the ordinary course of bus iness , we enter into certain unconditional  purchase obl igations  with our suppl iers , which are agreements  that are enforceable and 
legal ly binding and speci fy terms, including: fixed or minimum quanti ties  to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provis ions; and the approximate 
timing of the payment. Certain routine arrangements  that are entered into in the ordinary course of bus iness  are not included in the amounts  below, as  they are 
general ly entered into in order to secure pricing or other negotiated terms and are di fficult to quanti fy in a  meaningful  way or are for terms of less  than one 
year. 

As  of May 31, 2025, our unconditional  purchase and certain other obl igations  were as  fol lows (in mi l l ions):
 
Fiscal  2026  $ 947 
Fiscal  2027   401 
Fiscal  2028   267 
Fiscal  2029   262 
Fiscal  2030   122 
Thereafter   227 

Total  $ 2,226 
 
As described in Note 6 above, as  of May 31, 2025 we have senior notes  and other borrowings  that mature at various  future dates  and derivative financial  
instruments  outstanding that we leverage to manage certain risks  and exposures.

Guarantees 

Our cloud, l icense and hardware sales  agreements  general ly include certain provis ions  for indemnifying customers  against l iabi l i ties  i f our products  infringe a 
third party’s  intel lectual  property rights . To date, we have not incurred any materia l  costs  as  a  result of such indemnifications  and have not accrued any 
materia l  l iabi l i ties  related to such obl igations  in our consol idated financial  s tatements . Certain of our sales  agreements  a lso include provis ions  indemnifying 
customers  against l iabi l i ties  in the event we breach confidentia l i ty or service level  requirements . It i s  not poss ible to determine the maximum potentia l  amount 
under these indemnification agreements  due to our l imited and infrequent history of prior indemnification cla ims and the unique facts  and ci rcumstances  
involved in each particular agreement.

Our Oracle Cloud Services  agreements  general ly include a warranty that the cloud services  wi l l  be performed in a l l  materia l  respects  as  defined in the 
agreement during the service period. Our l icense and hardware agreements  a lso 
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general ly include a warranty that our products  wi l l  substantia l ly operate as  described in the appl icable program documentation for a  period of one year after 
del ivery. We also warrant that services  we perform wi l l  be provided in a  manner cons istent with industry standards  for a  period of 90 days  from performance of 
the services . 

10.STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors  (the Board) has  approved a program for us  to repurchase shares  of our common stock. As  of May 31, 2025, approximately $6.4 bi l l ion 
remained avai lable for stock repurchases  pursuant to our stock repurchase program. We repurchased 3.9 mi l l ion shares  for $600 mi l l ion, 10.6 mi l l ion shares  
for $1.2 bi l l ion and 17.0 mi l l ion shares  for $1.3 bi l l ion in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does  not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activi ty wi l l  depend on factors  such as  our working capital  
needs, our cash requirements  for acquis i tions  and dividend payments , our debt repayment obl igations  or repurchases  of our debt, our stock price and economic 
and market conditions. Our stock repurchases  may be effected from time to time through open market purchases  or pursuant to a  Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. Our 
stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

During fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, the Board declared cash dividends of $1.70, $1.60 and $1.36 per share of our outstanding common stock, respectively, 
which we paid during the same period.

In June 2025, the Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per share of our outstanding common stock. The dividend is  payable on July 24, 2025 to 
stockholders  of record as  of the close of bus iness  on July 10, 2025. Future declarations  of dividends and the establ ishment of future record and payment dates  
are subject to the final  determination of the Board.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The fol lowing table summarizes , as  of each balance sheet date, the components  of our AOCL, net of income taxes:
 

  May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024  
Foreign currency trans lation losses  $ (1,334)  $ (1,703)
Unreal ized gains  on defined benefi t plans, net   105   92 
Unreal ized gains  on cash flow hedges, net   54   179 

Total  accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ (1,175)  $ (1,432)
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11.EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

Stock-Based Compensation Plans 

Stock Plans

In fi scal  2021, we adopted the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan to replace the Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan) which 
provides  for the issuance of long-term performance awards, including restricted stock-based awards, non-qual i fied stock options  and incentive stock options, 
as  wel l  as  stock purchase rights  and stock appreciation rights , to our el igible employees, officers  and directors  who are a lso employees  or consultants , 
independent consultants  and advisers . In fi scal  2022 and 2024, our stockholders , upon the recommendation of the Board, approved the adoption of the 
Amended and Restated 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (as  amended and restated, the 2020 Plan and, together with the 2000 Plan, the Plans), which increased the 
number of authorized shares  of stock that may be issued under the 2020 Plan by 300 mi l l ion shares  and 350 mi l l ion shares , respectively. Approximately 381 
mi l l ion shares  of common stock were avai lable for future awards  under the 2020 Plan as  of May 31, 2025. Under the 2020 Plan, for each share granted as  a  ful l  
value award in the form of a  RSU or a  performance-based restricted stock award, an equivalent of 2.5 shares  is  deducted from our pool  of shares  avai lable for 
grant.

As  of May 31, 2025, 113 mi l l ion unvested restricted stock units  (RSUs), 34 mi l l ion PSOs (of which 12 mi l l ion shares  were vested) and service-based stock 
options  (SOs) to purchase 7 mi l l ion shares  of common stock, substantia l ly a l l  of which were vested, were outstanding under the Plans. To date, we have not 
issued any stock purchase rights  or stock appreciation rights  under ei ther of the Plans.

The vesting schedule for a l l  awards  granted under the Plans  is  establ ished by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the Compensation Committee). RSUs 
general ly require service-based vesting of 25% annual ly over four years . SOs were previous ly granted under the 2000 Plan at not less  than fa ir market value, 
become exercisable general ly 25% annual ly over four years  of service, and general ly expire 10 years  from the date of grant.

PSOs granted under the 2000 Plan to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer in fi scal  2018 cons isted of seven numerical ly equivalent vesting 
tranches  that potentia l ly could vest. One tranche, which was based solely on the attainment of a  market-based metric, was  achieved and vested in fi scal  2022. 
Each of the remaining s ix tranches  required the attainment of both a performance metric and a market capital ization metric by May 31, 2022, which was 
subsequently extended by three additional  fi scal  years  to May 31, 2025 via  an amendment approved by the Compensation Committee during fiscal  2022. Stock-
based compensation expense was recognized starting at the time each vesting tranche becomes probable of achievement over the longer of the estimated 
impl ici t service period or derived service period. Stock-based compensation associated with a  vesting tranche where vesting is  no longer determined to be 
probable is  reversed on a cumulative bas is  and is  no longer prospectively recognized in the period when such a determination is  made.

The Compensation Committee certi fied that a l l  s ix market capital ization goals  have been achieved. Additional ly:

•One operational  performance goal  was  achieved in fi scal  2023 and one tranche vested in fi scal  2024;

•One operational  performance goal  was  achieved in fi scal  2024 and one tranche vested in fi scal  2025;

•Two operational  performance goals  were achieved in fi scal  2025, but the Compensation Committee has  not yet certi fied the achievement of these 
performance goals  and accordingly, two tranches  were outstanding and not yet vested as  of May 31, 2025; and

•Two operational  performance goals  were not achieved in fi scal  2025. The Compensation Committee has  not yet deemed the remaining two tranches  as  
forfei ted and these tranches  were outstanding as  of May 31, 2025.

The 1993 Directors ’ Stock Plan (the Directors ’ Plan) provides  for the issuance of RSUs and other stock-based awards, including non-qual i fied stock options, to 
non-employee directors . The Directors ’ Plan has  from time to time been amended and restated. Under the terms of the Directors ’ Plan, 10 mi l l ion shares  of 
common stock are reserved for i ssuance (including a  fi scal  2013 amendment to increase the number of shares  of our common stock reserved for i ssuance by 2 
mi l l ion shares). Currently, we only grant RSUs that vest ful ly on the one-year anniversary of the date 
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of grant. In fi scal  2016, the Directors ’ Plan was amended to permit the Compensation Committee to determine the amount and form of automatic grants  of stock 
awards, i f any, to each non-employee director upon fi rst becoming a director and thereafter on an annual  bas is , as  wel l  as  automatic grants  for chairing certain 
Board committees, subject to certain stockholder approved l imitations  set forth in the Directors ’ Plan. In fi scal  2020, the Compensation Committee reduced the 
maximum value of the annual  automatic RSU grants  to each non-employee director to $350,000 and el iminated al l  equity grants  for chairing Board committees. 
As  of May 31, 2025, approximately 21,000 unvested RSUs were outstanding under the Directors ’ Plan. As  of May 31, 2025, approximately 1 mi l l ion shares  were 
avai lable for future stock awards  under this  plan.

The fol lowing table summarizes  restricted stock-based award activi ty granted pursuant to Oracle-based stock plans  for our last three fiscal  years  ended May 
31, 2025:
 

  Restricted Stock-Based Awards Outstanding  

(in millions, except fair value)  
Number of

Shares   
Weighted-Average

Grant Date Fair Value  
Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2022   128  $ 68.34 

Gra nte d   76  $ 66.67 
As s ume d   5  $ 69.02 
Ve s te d a nd i s s ue d   (46)  $ 62.97 
Ca nce l e d   (11)  $ 69.25 

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2023   152  $ 69.09 
Gra nte d   47  $ 110.26 
Ve s te d a nd i s s ue d   (53)  $ 66.97 
Ca nce l e d   (8)  $ 77.52 

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2024   138  $ 83.43 
Gra nte d   38  $ 159.11 
Ve s te d a nd i s s ue d   (52)  $ 78.30 
Ca nce l e d   (7)  $ 99.44 

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2025   117  $ 108.91 
 
The total  grant date fa ir values  of restricted stock-based awards  that were vested and issued in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023 were $4.0 bi l l ion, $3.5 bi l l ion and 
$2.9 bi l l ion, respectively. As  of May 31, 2025, total  unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock-based awards  was  
$9.3 bi l l ion and is  expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average vesting period of 2.69 years .

The fol lowing table summarizes  stock option activi ty, including SOs and PSOs, and includes  awards  granted pursuant to the Plans  and stock plans  assumed 
from our acquis i tions  for our last three fiscal  years  ended May 31, 2025:
 

  Options Outstanding  

(in millions, except exercise price)  
Shares Under
Stock Option   

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price  

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2022   97  $ 40.70 
Gra nte d a nd a s s ume d   —  $ — 
Exe rci s e d

  (33)  $ 31.37 
Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2023   64  $ 45.42 

Gra nte d a nd a s s ume d   2  $ 113.91 
Exe rci s e d   (15)  $ 34.84 

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2024   51  $ 51.05 
Gra nte d   —  $ — 
Exe rci s e d   (10)  $ 44.84 

Ba l a nce , Ma y 31, 2025   41  $ 52.58 
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Stock options  outstanding that have vested and that are expected to vest as  of May 31, 2025 were as  fol lows:
 

  

Outstanding
Stock Options

(in millions)   
Weighted-Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contract Term

(in years)   

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value  

(in millions)  
Ve s te d   19  $ 48.46   0.86  $ 2,230 
Expe cte d to ve s t   11  $ 57.10   0.91   1,198 
Tota l   30  $ 51.63   0.88  $ 3,428 

 

(1)The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated based on the gross difference between our closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2025 of $165.53 and the exercise prices for all “in-the-money” options outstanding, 
excluding tax effects.
(2)The unrecognized compensation expense calculated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest as of May 31, 2025 was approximately $24 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average 
period of 4.83 years. Approximately 11 million shares outstanding as of May 31, 2025 were not expected to vest.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense and Valuations of Restricted Stock-Based Awards

We estimated the fa ir values  of our restricted stock-based awards  that are solely subject to service-based vesting requirements  based upon their market values  
as  of the grant dates , discounted for the present values  of expected dividends. 

Stock-based compensation expense was included in the fol lowing operating expense l ine i tems in our consol idated statements  of operations:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Cloud services  and l icense support  $ 609  $ 525  $ 435 
Hardware   29   23   18 
Services   202   167   137 
Sales  and marketing   757   667   611 
Research and development   2,638   2,225   1,983 
General  and administrative   439   367   363 

Total  s tock-based compensation  $ 4,674  $ 3,974  $ 3,547 
Estimated income tax benefi t included in provis ion for income taxes   (1,050)   (913)   (802)

Total  s tock-based compensation, net of estimated income tax benefi t  $ 3,624  $ 3,061  $ 2,745 
 

Tax Benefits from Exercises of Stock Options and Vesting of Restricted Stock-Based Awards

Total  cash received as  a  result of stock option exercises  was  approximately $448 mi l l ion, $545 mi l l ion and $1.0 bi l l ion for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. The total  aggregate intrins ic value of restricted stock-based awards  that vested and were issued and stock options  that were exercised was $9.0 
bi l l ion, $7.4 bi l l ion and $5.1 bi l l ion for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023. In connection with the vesting and issuance of restricted stock-based awards  and stock 
options  that were exercised, the tax benefi ts  real ized by us  were $2.1 bi l l ion, $1.7 bi l l ion and $1.2 bi l l ion for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plan) that a l lows employees  to purchase shares  of common stock at a  price per share that i s  95% of the 
fa ir market value of Oracle stock as  of the end of the semi-annual  option period. As  of May 31, 2025, 34 mi l l ion shares  were reserved for future issuances  under 
the Purchase Plan. We issued approximately 1 mi l l ion shares  in fi scal  2025 and 2 mi l l ion shares  in each of fi scal  2024 and 2023 under the Purchase Plan.

(1)

(2)
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Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans 

We offer various  defined contribution plans  for our U.S. and non-U.S. employees. Total  defined contribution plan expense was $485 mi l l ion, $468 mi l l ion and 
$470 mi l l ion for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In the U.S., regular employees  can participate in the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings  and 
Investment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan). Participants  can general ly contribute up to 40% of their el igible compensation on a per-pay-period bas is  as  defined by the 
Oracle 401(k) Plan document or by the section 402(g) l imit as  defined by the U.S. Internal  Revenue Service (IRS). We match a portion of employee contributions, 
currently 50% up to 6% of compensation each pay period, subject to maximum aggregate matching amounts . Our contributions  to the Oracle 401(k) Plan, net of 
forfei tures , were $206 mi l l ion, $200 mi l l ion and $198 mi l l ion in fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

We also offer non-qual i fied deferred compensation plans  to certain employees  whereby they may defer a  portion of their annual  base and/or variable 
compensation unti l  reti rement or a  date speci fied by the employee in accordance with the plans. Deferred compensation plan assets  and l iabi l i ties  were each 
approximately $1.1 bi l l ion and approximately $988 mi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and were presented in other non-current assets  and 
other non-current l iabi l i ties  in the accompanying consol idated balance sheets .

We sponsor certain defined benefi t pens ion plans  that are offered primari ly by certain of our foreign subs idiaries . Many of these plans  were assumed through 
our acquis i tions  or are required by local  regulatory requirements . We may deposit funds  for these plans  with insurance companies , third-party trustees, or into 
government-managed accounts  cons istent with local  regulatory requirements , as  appl icable. Our total  defined benefi t plan pens ion expenses  were $69 mi l l ion, 
$71 mi l l ion and $78 mi l l ion for fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The aggregate projected benefi t obl igation and aggregate net l iabi l i ty (funded status , 
which is  substantia l ly included in other non-current l iabi l i ties  in our consol idated balance sheets) of our defined benefi t plans  as  of May 31, 2025 were $1.1 
bi l l ion and $350 mi l l ion, respectively, and as  of May 31, 2024 were $997 mi l l ion and $313 mi l l ion, respectively.

12.INCOME TAXES 

Our effective tax rates  for each of the periods  presented are the result of the mix of income earned and losses  incurred in various  tax jurisdictions  that apply a  
broad range of income tax rates . Our provis ion for income taxes  varied from the tax computed at the U.S. federal  s tatutory income tax rate for fi scal  2025, 2024 
and 2023 primari ly due to earnings  in foreign operations, s tate taxes, the U.S. research and development tax credit, settlements  with tax authori ties , the tax 
effects  of stock-based compensation, the Foreign Derived Intangible Income deduction and the tax effect of Global  Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI).

The fol lowing is  a  geographical  breakdown of income before income taxes:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Domestic  $ 4,376  $ 3,023  $ 1,492 
Foreign   9,784   8,718   7,634 

Income before income taxes  $ 14,160  $ 11,741  $ 9,126 
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The provis ion for income taxes  cons isted of the fol lowing:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Current provis ion:          

Federal  $ 1,172  $ 999  $ 625 
State   196   420   398 
Foreign   1,986   1,994   1,767 

Total  current provis ion  $ 3,354  $ 3,413  $ 2,790 
Deferred benefi t:          

Federal  $ (2,208)  $ (2,020)  $ (2,193)
State   (202)   (280)   (398)
Foreign   773   161   424 

Total  deferred benefi t  $ (1,637)  $ (2,139)  $ (2,167)
Total  provis ion for income taxes  $ 1,717  $ 1,274  $ 623 
Effective income tax rate  12.1%   10.9%   6.8%  
 
The provis ion for income taxes  di ffered from the amount computed by applying the federal  s tatutory rate to our income before income taxes  as  fol lows:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
U.S. federal  s tatutory tax rate  21.0%   21.0%   21.0%  
Tax provis ion at statutory rate  $ 2,974  $ 2,466  $ 1,917 
Foreign earnings  at other than U.S. rates   (381)   (262)   (357)
State tax expense, net of federal  benefi t   128   81   41 
Settlements  and releases  from judicia l  decis ions  and statute expirations, net   (149)   (124)   (552)
Tax contingency interest accrual , net   322   157   101 
Domestic tax contingency, net   75   131   28 
Federal  research and development credit   (411)   (372)   (280)
Stock-based compensation   (801)   (624)   (322)
Real ization of a  one-time tax attribute   —   (235)   — 
Other, net   (40)   56   47 

Total  provis ion for income taxes  $ 1,717  $ 1,274  $ 623 
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The components  of our deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  were as  fol lows:
 

  May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024  
Deferred tax assets :       

Accruals  and al lowances  $ 790  $ 708 
Employee compensation and benefi ts   1,068   929 
Di fferences  in timing of revenue recognition   894   781 
Lease l iabi l i ties   3,279   1,553 
Bas is  of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets   7,800   9,315 
Capital ized research and development   4,153   2,574 
Tax credit and net operating loss  carryforwards   5,857   5,695 
Other   —   15 

Total  deferred tax assets   23,841   21,570 
Valuation al lowance   (1,962)   (1,898)

Total  deferred tax assets , net   21,879   19,672 
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties :       

Unreal ized gain on stock   (79)   (79)
Acquired intangible assets   (920)   (1,425)
GILTI deferred   (6,949)   (7,759)
ROU assets   (3,207)   (1,503)
Withholding taxes  on foreign earnings   (364)   (325)
Other   (112)   — 

Total  deferred tax l iabi l i ties   (11,631)   (11,091)
Net deferred tax assets  $ 10,248  $ 8,581 

Recorded as:       
Non-current deferred tax assets  $ 11,877  $ 12,273 
Non-current deferred tax l iabi l i ties   (1,629)   (3,692)

Net deferred tax assets  $ 10,248  $ 8,581 
 
We provide for U.S. income taxes  on the undistributed earnings  and the other outs ide bas is  temporary di fferences  of foreign subs idiaries  unless  they are 
cons idered indefini tely reinvested outs ide the U.S. At May 31, 2025, the amount of temporary di fferences  related to undistributed earnings  and other outs ide 
bas is  temporary di fferences  of investments  in foreign subs idiaries  upon which U.S. income taxes  have not been provided was approximately $11.0 bi l l ion. If the 
undistributed earnings  and other outs ide bas is  di fferences  were recognized in a  taxable transaction, they would generate foreign tax credits  that would reduce 
the federal  tax l iabi l i ty associated with the foreign dividend or the otherwise taxable transaction. At May 31, 2025, assuming a ful l  uti l i zation of the foreign tax 
credits , the potentia l  net deferred tax l iabi l i ty associated with these other outs ide bas is  temporary di fferences  would be approximately $2.0 bi l l ion.

Our net deferred tax assets  were $10.2 bi l l ion and $8.6 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. We bel ieve that i t i s  more l ikely than not that the net 
deferred tax assets  wi l l  be real ized in the foreseeable future. Real ization of our net deferred tax assets  i s  dependent upon our generation of sufficient taxable 
income in future years  in appropriate tax jurisdictions  to obtain benefi t from the reversal  of temporary di fferences, net operating loss  carryforwards  and tax 
credit carryforwards. The amount of net deferred tax assets  cons idered real izable is  subject to adjustment in future periods  i f estimates  of future taxable 
income change. 

The valuation al lowance was $2.0 bi l l ion and $1.9 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, primari ly related to U.S., s tate and foreign tax credits  and 
net operating loss  carryforwards. Any subsequent reduction of the valuation al lowance wi l l  be recorded to our provis ion for income taxes  unless  the conclus ion 
of an acquis i tion valuation al lowance and the recognition of the associated tax benefi ts  i s  within the measurement period (as  defined above).



Table of Contents

 

 

98

At May 31, 2025, we had federal  net operating loss  carryforwards  of approximately $270 mi l l ion, which are subject to l imitation on their uti l i zation. 
Approximately $180 mi l l ion of these federal  net operating losses  expire in various  years  between fiscal  2026 and fiscal  2038. Approximately $90 mi l l ion of 
these federal  net operating losses  are not currently subject to expiration dates . We had state net operating loss  carryforwards  of approximately $2.1 bi l l ion at 
May 31, 2025, which are subject to l imitations  on their uti l i zation. Approximately $2.0 bi l l ion of these state net operating losses  expire in various  years  
between fiscal  2026 and fiscal  2045. Approximately $98 mi l l ion of these state net operating losses  are not currently subject to expiration dates . We had total  
foreign net operating loss  carryforwards  of approximately $1.8 bi l l ion at May 31, 2025, which are subject to l imitations  on their uti l i zation. Approximately $1.7 
bi l l ion of these foreign net operating losses  are not currently subject to expiration dates . The remainder of the foreign net operating losses , approximately $34 
mi l l ion, expire between fiscal  2027 and fiscal  2044. At May 31, 2025, we had federal  capital  loss  carryforwards  of approximately $134 mi l l ion, which expire 
between fiscal  2026 and fiscal  2027. We had state capital  loss  carryforwards  of approximately $307 mi l l ion, which expire between fiscal  2026 and fiscal  2037. 
We had foreign capital  loss  carryforwards  of approximately $164 mi l l ion, which are not currently subject to expiration dates . We had tax credit carryforwards  
of approximately $1.4 bi l l ion at May 31, 2025, which are subject to l imitations  on their uti l i zation. Approximately $840 mi l l ion of these tax credit 
carryforwards  are not currently subject to expiration dates . The remainder of the tax credit carryforwards, approximately $534 mi l l ion, expire in various  years  
between fiscal  2026 and fiscal  2045.

Current income taxes  payable are included in other current l iabi l i ties  in our consol idated balance sheets  and totaled $2.3 bi l l ion and $2.1 bi l l ion as  of May 31, 
2025 and 2024, respectively.

We class i fy our unrecognized tax benefi ts  as  ei ther current or non-current income taxes  payable in the accompanying consol idated balance sheets . The 
aggregate changes  in the balance of our gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts , including acquis i tions, were as  fol lows:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts  as  of June 1  $ 8,785  $ 7,715  $ 7,284 
Increases  related to tax pos itions  from prior fi scal  years   239   492   709 
Decreases  related to tax pos itions  from prior fi scal  years   (98)   (128)   (45)
Increases  related to tax pos itions  taken during current fi scal  year   846   889   669 
Settlements  with tax authori ties   (161)   (46)   (212)
Lapses  of statutes  of l imitation   (162)   (129)   (631)
Cumulative trans lation adjustments  and other, net   (11)   (8)   (59)

Total  gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts  as  of May 31  $ 9,438  $ 8,785  $ 7,715 
 
As of May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, $4.5 bi l l ion, $4.2 bi l l ion and $3.9 bi l l ion, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefi ts  would affect our effective tax rate i f 
recognized. We recognized interest and penalties  related to uncertain tax pos itions  in our provis ion for income taxes  l ine of our consol idated statements  of 
operations  of $321 mi l l ion, $199 mi l l ion and $111 mi l l ion during fiscal  2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Interest and penalties  accrued as  of May 31, 2025 
and 2024 were $2.1 bi l l ion and $1.8 bi l l ion, respectively.

Domestical ly, U.S. federal  and state taxing authori ties  are currently examining income tax returns  of Oracle and various  acquired enti ties  for years  through 
fiscal  2022. Many issues  are at an advanced stage in the examination process , the most s igni ficant of which include issues  related to transfer pricing, domestic 
production activi ty, one-time trans ition tax, foreign tax credits  and research and development credits . With respect to a l l  of these domestic audit i ssues  
cons idered in the aggregate, we bel ieve that i t was  reasonably poss ible that, as  of May 31, 2025, our gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts  could decrease (whether by 
payment, release, or a  combination of both) in the next 12 months  by as  much as  $651 mi l l ion ($517 mi l l ion net of offsetting tax benefi ts ). Our U.S. federal  
income tax returns  have been examined for a l l  years  prior to fiscal  2013 and, with some exceptions, we are no longer subject to audit for those periods. Our U.S. 
s tate income tax returns, with some exceptions, have been examined for a l l  years  prior to fiscal  2010, and we are no longer subject to audit for those periods.

International ly, tax authori ties  for numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions  are a lso examining or have examined returns  of Oracle and various  acquired enti ties  for 
years  through fiscal  2024. Many of the relevant tax years  are at an advanced stage in examination or subsequent controversy resolution processes , the most 
s igni ficant of which include issues  
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related to transfer pricing and withholding tax. The manner in which those issues  are resolved and the timing thereof could potentia l ly result in a  range of 
decreases  or increases  in our unrecognized tax benefi ts  over the next 12 months. With respect to a l l  of these international  audit i ssues  cons idered in the 
aggregate, we bel ieve i t was  reasonably poss ible that, as  of May 31, 2025, the gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts  could decrease (whether by payment, release, or a  
combination of both) in the next 12 months  by as  much as  $807 mi l l ion ($319 mi l l ion net of offsetting tax benefi ts ). We also bel ieve i t was  reasonably poss ible 
that, as  of May 31, 2025, the gross  unrecognized tax benefi ts  could increase in the next 12 months  by as  much as  $615 mi l l ion ($107 mi l l ion net of offsetting 
U.S. tax benefi ts ). With some exceptions, we are general ly no longer subject to tax examinations  in non-U.S. jurisdictions  for years  prior to fiscal  2001.

We are under audit by the IRS and various  other domestic and foreign tax authori ties  with regards  to income tax and indirect tax matters  and are involved in 
various  chal lenges  and l i tigation in a  number of countries , including, in particular, Austral ia , Brazi l , Canada, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Israel , Ita ly, Pakistan, 
Saudi  Arabia, South Korea and Spain, where the amounts  under controversy are s igni ficant. In some, a l though not a l l , cases , we have reserved for potentia l  
adjustments  to our provis ion for income taxes  and accrual  of indirect taxes  that may result from examinations  by, or any negotiated agreements  with, these tax 
authori ties  or final  outcomes in judicia l  proceedings  and we bel ieve that the final  outcome of these examinations, agreements  or judicia l  proceedings  wi l l  not 
have a materia l  effect on our results  of operations. If events  occur which indicate payment of these amounts  is  unnecessary, the reversal  of the l iabi l i ties  would 
result in the recognition of benefi ts  in the period we determine the l iabi l i ties  are no longer necessary. If our estimates  of the federal , s tate and foreign income 
tax l iabi l i ties  and indirect tax l iabi l i ties  are less  than the ultimate assessment, i t could result in a  further charge to expense.

We bel ieve that we have adequately provided under GAAP for outcomes related to our tax audits . However, there can be no assurances  as  to the poss ible 
outcomes or any related financial  s tatement effect thereof.

13.SEGMENT INFORMATION 

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establ ishes  standards  for reporting information about operating segments . Operating segments  are defined as  components  of an 
enterprise about which separate financial  information is  avai lable that i s  evaluated regularly by the chief operating decis ion maker, or decis ion-making group, 
in deciding how to al locate resources  and in assess ing performance. Our chief operating decis ion makers  (CODMs) are our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Technology Officer. We are organized by l ine of bus iness  and geographical ly. Whi le our CODMs evaluate results  in a  number of di fferent ways, the l ine of 
bus iness  management structure is  the primary bas is  for which the al location of resources  and financial  results  are assessed. The tabular information below 
presents  financial  information, including information on segment revenues, s igni ficant segment expenses  categories  and amounts  on a segment bas is  and 
included within each reported measure of a  segment's  profi t or loss , that i s  regularly provided to our CODMs for their review and ass ists  our CODMs with 
evaluating the company’s  performance and al locating company resources. 

We have three bus inesses—cloud and l icense, hardware and services—each of which is  comprised of a  s ingle operating segment. Al l  three of our bus inesses  
market and sel l  our offerings  global ly to bus inesses  of many s izes , government agencies , educational  insti tutions  and resel lers  with a  worldwide sales  force 
pos itioned to offer the combinations  that best meet customer needs.

Our cloud and l icense bus iness  engages  in the sale, marketing and del ivery of our enterprise appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  through cloud and 
on-premise deployment models  including our cloud services  and l icense support offerings; and our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense offerings . Cloud 
services  and l icense support revenues are generated from offerings  that are typical ly contracted with customers  directly, bi l led to customers  in advance, 
del ivered to customers  over time with our revenue recognition occurring over the contractual  terms and renewed by customers  upon completion of the 
contractual  terms. Cloud services  and l icense support contracts  provide customers  with access  to the latest updates  to the appl ications  and infrastructure 
technologies  as  they become avai lable and for which the customer contracted and also include related technical  support services  over the contractual  term. 
Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues represent fees  earned from granting customers  l icenses, general ly on a perpetual  bas is , to use our database and 
middleware and our appl ications  software products  within cloud and on-premise IT environments . We general ly recognize revenues at the point in time the 
software is  
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made avai lable to the customer to download and use, which typical ly i s  immediate upon s ignature of the l icense contract. In each fiscal  year, our cloud and 
l icense bus iness ’ contractual  activi ties , excluding the impact of timing of booking of large contracts , are typical ly highest in our fourth fiscal  quarter and the 
related cash flows are typical ly highest in the fol lowing quarter (i .e., in the fi rst fi scal  quarter of the next fi scal  year) as  we receive payments  from these 
contracts . Costs  associated with our cloud and l icense bus iness  are largely personnel- and infrastructure-related including the cost of providing our cloud 
services  and l icense support offerings , sa laries  and commiss ions  earned by our sales  force for the sale of our cloud and l icense offerings  and marketing 
program costs .

Our hardware bus iness  provides  infrastructure technologies  including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers , s torage, industry-speci fic hardware, operating 
systems, vi rtual ization, management and other hardware-related software to support diverse IT environments . Our hardware bus iness  a lso offers  hardware 
support, which provides  customers  with software updates  for the software components  that are essentia l  to the functional i ty of their hardware products  and 
can also include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  support services  that are typical ly del ivered and recognized ratably over the contractual  
term. Costs  associated with our hardware bus iness  include the cost of hardware products , which cons ists  of expenses  for materia ls  and labor used to produce 
these products  by our internal  manufacturing operations  or by third-party manufacturers , warranty and related expenses  and the impact of periodic changes  in 
inventory valuation, including the impact of inventory determined to be excess  and obsolete; the cost of materia ls  used to repair customer products  with el igible 
support contracts ; the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales  and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel-related and 
include variable compensation earned by our sales  force for the sales  of our hardware offerings .

Our services  bus iness  provides  services  to customers  and partners  to help maximize the performance of their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and 
infrastructure technologies . Costs  associated with our services  bus iness  cons ist primari ly of personnel-related expenses, technology infrastructure 
expenditures , faci l i ties  expenses  and external  contractor expenses.

We do not track our assets  for each bus iness . Consequently, i t i s  not practical  to show assets  by operating segment.

The fol lowing table presents  summary results  for each of our three bus inesses  for each of fi scal  2025, 2024 and 2023: 
 
  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Cloud and l icense:          

Revenues  $ 49,230  $ 44,464  $ 41,086 
Cloud services  and l icense support expenses   10,827   8,783   7,222 
Sales  and marketing expenses   7,473   7,167   7,738 
Margin  $ 30,930  $ 28,514  $ 26,126 

Hardware:          
Revenues  $ 2,936  $ 3,066  $ 3,274 
Hardware products  and support expenses   742   855   1,011 
Sales  and marketing expenses   276   296   331 
Margin  $ 1,918  $ 1,915  $ 1,932 

Services:          
Revenues  $ 5,233  $ 5,431  $ 5,594 
Services  expenses   4,240   4,515   4,490 
Margin  $ 993  $ 916  $ 1,104 

Totals :          
Revenues  $ 57,399  $ 52,961  $ 49,954 
Expenses   23,558   21,616   20,792 
Margin  $ 33,841  $ 31,345  $ 29,162 

 

(1)The margins reported reflect only the direct controllable costs of each line of business and do not include allocations of research and development, general and administrative and certain other allocable expenses, net. 
Additionally, the margins reported above do not reflect amortization of 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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intangible assets, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, stock-based compensation, interest expense or certain other non-operating income (expenses), net. Refer to the table below for a 
reconciliation of our total margin for operating segments to our income before income taxes as reported per our consolidated statements of operations.
 
The fol lowing table reconci les  total  margin for operating segments  to income before income taxes:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  

Total  margin for operating segments  $ 33,841  $ 31,345  $ 29,162 
Research and development   (9,860)   (8,915)   (8,623)

General  and administrative
  (1,602)   (1,548)   (1,579)

Amortization of intangible assets   (2,307)   (3,010)   (3,582)
Acquis i tion related and other   (75)   (314)   (190)
Restructuring   (299)   (404)   (490)
Stock-based compensation for operating segments   (1,597)   (1,382)   (1,201)
Expense al locations  and other, net   (423)   (419)   (404)
Interest expense   (3,578)   (3,514)   (3,505)
Non-operating income (expenses), net   60   (98)   (462)

Income before income taxes  $ 14,160  $ 11,741  $ 9,126 
 
Disaggregation of Revenues

We have cons idered information that i s  regularly reviewed by our CODMs in evaluating financial  performance and disclosures  presented outs ide of our 
financial  s tatements  in our earnings  releases  and used in investor presentations  to disaggregate revenues to depict how the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors . The principal  category we use to disaggregate revenues is  the nature of our products  
and services  as  presented in our consol idated statements  of operations.

The fol lowing table is  a  summary of our total  revenues by geographic region:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Americas  $ 36,339  $ 33,122  $ 31,226 
EMEA   14,025   13,030   12,109 
As ia  Paci fic   7,035   6,809   6,619 

Total  revenues  $ 57,399  $ 52,961  $ 49,954 
 

(1)Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

The fol lowing table presents  our cloud services  and l icense support revenues by offerings:

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Cloud services  $ 24,506  $ 19,774  $ 15,881 
License support   19,523   19,609   19,426 

Total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues  $ 44,029  $ 39,383  $ 35,307 

The fol lowing table presents  our cloud services  and l icense support revenues by appl ications  and infrastructure ecosystems:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions)  2025   2024   2023  
Appl ications  cloud services  and l icense support  $ 19,383  $ 18,172  $ 16,651 
Infrastructure cloud services  and l icense support   24,646   21,211   18,656 

Total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues  $ 44,029  $ 39,383  $ 35,307 
 

(1)
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Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is  geographic information for each country that comprised greater than three percent of our total  revenues for any of fi scal  2025, 
2024 or 2023:

 

  As of and for the Year Ended May 31,  
  2025   2024   2023  

(in millions)  Revenues   
Long-Lived
Assets   Revenues   

Long-Lived
Assets   Revenues   

Long-Lived
Assets  

U.S.  $ 32,075  $ 45,439  $ 29,055  $ 24,798  $ 27,535  $ 19,322 
Uni te d Ki ngdom   2,594   2,530   2,423   1,164   2,159   905 
Ge rma ny   1,817   2,013   1,794   1,192   1,755   940 
Ja pa n   1,759   2,320   1,662   1,144   1,681   770 
Othe r countri e s   19,154   7,841   18,027   3,962   16,824   3,626 
Tota l  $ 57,399  $ 60,143  $ 52,961  $ 32,260  $ 49,954  $ 25,563 

 

(1)Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible assets, non-marketable investments and deferred taxes, which are not allocated to specific geographic locations as it is impracticable to do so.

14.EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings  per share is  computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares  outstanding during the period. 
Di luted earnings  per share is  computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares  outstanding during the period, 
plus  the di lutive effect of outstanding restricted stock-based awards, s tock options  and shares  issuable under the Purchase Plan as  appl icable pursuant to the 
treasury stock method. The fol lowing table sets  forth the computation of bas ic and di luted earnings  per share:
 

  Year Ended May 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2025   2024   2023  
Net income  $ 12,443  $ 10,467  $ 8,503 
Weighted-average common shares  outstanding   2,789   2,744   2,696 
Di lutive effect of employee stock plans   77   79   70 
Di lutive weighted-average common shares  outstanding   2,866   2,823   2,766 
Bas ic earnings  per share  $ 4.46  $ 3.82  $ 3.15 
Di luted earnings  per share  $ 4.34  $ 3.71  $ 3.07 
Anti -di lutive stock awards  excluded from calculation   23   27   50 
 

(1)These stock awards relate to anti-dilutive restricted service-based awards as calculated using the treasury stock method and contingently issuable shares pursuant to PSOs arrangements. Such shares could be dilutive in 
the future. See Note 11 for information regarding our stock-based compensation plans.
 

15.LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Netherlands Privacy Class Action

On August 14, 2020, The Privacy Col lective (TPC), a  foundation having i ts  registered office in Amsterdam, fi led a  purported class  action lawsuit against Oracle 
Nederland B.V, Oracle Corporation and Oracle America, Inc. (the Oracle Defendants), Salesforce.com, Inc. and SFDC Netherlands  B.V. in the District Court of 
Amsterdam. TPC al leges  that the Oracle Defendants ’ Data Management Platform product violates  certain articles  of the European Union Charter of Fundamental  
Rights , the General  Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Dutch Telecommunications  Act (Telecommunicatiewet). TPC cla ims damages under a  number of 
categories , including: “immateria l  damages” (at a  fixed amount of €500 per Dutch internet user); “materia l  damages” (in that the costs  of loss  of control  over 
personal  data should be equated to the market value of the personal  data for parties  l ike the Oracle Defendants); compensation for losses  suffered due to an 
al leged data breach (at a  fixed amount of €100 per Dutch internet user); and compensation for the costs  of the l i tigation funder (10% to 25% of the 
compensation awarded); and the (actual ) cost of the proceedings  and extrajudicia l  costs .

(1) (1) (1)

(1)
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We fi led our defense on March 3, 2021, and on December 29, 2021, the District Court i ssued a judgment, holding that a l l  of TPC’s  cla ims were deemed 
inadmiss ible because of fundamental  procedural  flaws. TPC fi led an appeal  with the Court of Appeal  in Amsterdam chal lenging the District Court’s  judgment, 
except for the cla ims regarding the al leged data breach, which were dropped. On June 18, 2024, the Court of Appeal  overturned the District Court’s  decis ion 
regarding admiss ibi l i ty, thus  permitting the case to proceed. We requested that the Court of Appeal  permit an interim appeal  to the Dutch Supreme Court and/or 
the European Court of Justice. On September 24, 2024, the Court of Appeal  i ssued a judgment confi rming that TPC’s  cla ims are admiss ible and referred the 
matter back to the District Court of Amsterdam for a  decis ion on the merits  of TPC’s  cla ims, including TPC’s  cla ims for damages under article 82 of the GDPR. The 
Court of Appeal  a lso granted Oracle’s  request for an interim appeal  to the Supreme Court, appeal ing the June 18 and September 24, 2024 judgments .

Oracle fi led i ts  statement of appeal  with the Dutch Supreme Court on December 20, 2024, and TPC appeared in the proceedings  on January 31, 2025. The fi l ing of 
the Supreme Court appeal  effectively suspended proceedings  before the District Court pursuant to appl icable procedural  rules . TPC fi led i ts  statement of defense 
in response to our Supreme Court appeal  and a counter appeal  on February 27, 2025. Oracle fi led i ts  statement of defense to the counter appeal  on March 28, 
2025. TPC and Oracle are to fi le written submiss ions  setting out their detai led arguments  on or before July 18, 2025 and to fi le their respective written repl ies  
and rejoinders  on or before August 29, 2025.

We bel ieve that we have meritorious  defenses  against this  action, including defenses  to the quantum of damages cla imed, and we wi l l  continue to vigorous ly 
defend i t.

Whi le the final  outcome of this  matter cannot be predicted with certainty and we cannot estimate a range of loss  at this  time, we do not bel ieve that i t wi l l  have 
a materia l  impact on our financial  pos ition or results  of operations.

Other Litigation

We are party to various  other legal  proceedings  and cla ims, ei ther asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of bus iness , including 
proceedings  and cla ims that relate to acquis i tions  we have completed or to companies  we have acquired or are attempting to acquire. Whi le the outcome of 
these matters  cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not bel ieve that the outcome of any of these matters , individual ly or in the aggregate, wi l l  result in 
losses  that are materia l ly in excess  of amounts  a lready recognized, i f any.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
 
None.
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ORACLE CORPORATION 
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

The fol lowing exhibits  are fi led or furnished herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits  previous ly fi led with the U.S. Securi ties  and Exchange 
Commiss ion. 
 

    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
3.01

 

Amended and Restated Certi ficate of 
Incorporation of Oracle Corporation and 
Certi ficate of Amendment of Amended and 
Restated Certi ficate of Incorporation of Oracle 
Corporation  

8-K 12G3

 

000-51788  3.1  2/6/06  Oracle Corporation

             
3.02

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle 
Corporation  

8-K
 

001-35992  3.02  11/17/23  Oracle Corporation

             
4.01

 

Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Ozark 
Holding Inc., Oracle Corporation and Citibank, 
N.A.  

8-K

 

000-14376  10.34  1/20/06  Oracle Systems 
Corporation

             
4.02

 

First Supplemental  Indenture dated May 9, 2007 
among Oracle Corporation, Ci tibank, N.A. and 
The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.  

S-3 ASR

 

333-142796  4.3  5/10/07  Oracle Corporation

             
4.03

 

Form of 6.50% Note due 2038, together with 
Officers ’ Certi ficate issued Apri l  9, 2008 setting 
forth the terms of the Note  

8-K

 

000-51788  4.09  4/8/08  Oracle Corporation

             
4.04

 

Form of 6.125% Note due 2039, together with 
Officers ’ Certi ficate issued July 8, 2009 setting 
forth the terms of the Note  

8-K

 

000-51788  4.08  7/8/09  Oracle Corporation

             
4.05

 

Form of 2040 Note, together with Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued July 19, 2010 setting forth the 
terms of the Note  

10-Q

 

000-51788  4.08  9/20/10  Oracle Corporation

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312506020874/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312523279837/d606391dex302.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000777676/000095013406000839/f16289exv10w34.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312507109320/dex43.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312508077170/dex409.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312509145686/dex408.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312510213084/dex408.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
4.06  Form of New 2040 Note  S-4  333-176405  4.5  8/19/11  Oracle Corporation

             
4.07

 

Form of 3.125% Note due 2025, together with 
Officers ’ Certi ficate issued July 10, 2013 setting 
forth the terms of the Note  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.11  7/10/13  Oracle Corporation

             
4.08

 

Forms of 4.30% Notes  due 2034 and 4.50% 
Notes  due 2044, together with Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued July 8, 2014 setting forth the 
terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.13  7/8/14  Oracle Corporation

             
4.09

 

Forms of 3.25% Notes  due 2030, 3.90% Notes  
due 2035, 4.125% Notes  due 2045 and 4.375% 
Notes  due 2055, together with Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued May 5, 2015 setting forth the 
terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.13  5/5/15  Oracle Corporation

             
4.10

 

Forms of 2.65% Notes  due 2026, 3.85% Notes  
due 2036 and 4.00% Notes  due 2046, together 
with Officers ’ Certi ficate issued July 7, 2016 
setting forth the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  7/7/16  Oracle Corporation

             
4.11

 

Forms of 3.250% Notes  due 2027, 3.800% Notes  
due 2037 and 4.000% Notes  due 2047, together 
with Officers ’ Certi ficate issued November 9, 
2017 setting forth the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  11/9/17  Oracle Corporation

             
4.12

 

Forms of 2.800% Notes  due 2027, 2.950% Notes  
due 2030, 3.600% Notes  due 2040, 3.600% 
Notes  due 2050 and 3.850% Notes  due 2060, 
together with Officers ’ Certi ficate issued Apri l  1, 
2020 setting forth the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  4/1/20  Oracle Corporation

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312511227635/dex45.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312513287255/d566107dex411.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312514263107/d756565dex413.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312515172238/d920453dex413.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312516643428/d224097dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312517338832/d491112dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312520094641/d905931dex41.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
4.13

 

Forms of 1.650% Notes  due 2026, 2.300% Notes  
due 2028, 2.875% Notes  due 2031, 3.650% 
Notes  due 2041, 3.950% Notes  due 2051 and 
4.100% Notes  due 2061, together with Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued March 24, 2021 setting forth 
the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  3/24/21  Oracle Corporation

             
4.14

 

Forms of 5.800% Notes  due 2025, 6.150% Notes  
due 2029, 6.250% Notes  due 2032 and 6.900% 
Notes  due 2052, together with an Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued November 9, 2022 setting 
forth the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  11/9/22  Oracle Corporation

             
4.15

 

Forms of 4.500% Notes  due 2028, 4.650% Notes  
due 2030, 4.900% Notes  due 2033 and 5.550% 
Notes  due 2053, together with an Officers ’ 
Certi ficate issued February 6, 2023 setting forth 
the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  2/6/23  Oracle Corporation

             
4.16

 

Forms of 4.200% Notes  due 2029, 4.700% Notes  
due 2034, 5.375% Notes  due 2054 and 5.500% 
Notes  due 2064, together with an Officers ' 
Certi ficate issued September 27, 2024 setting 
forth the terms of the Notes  

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  9/27/24  Oracle Corporation

             
4.17

 

Forms of Floating Rate Notes  due 2028, 4.800% 
Notes  due 2028, 5.250% Notes  due 2032, 
5.500% Notes  due 2035, 6.000% Notes  due 2055 
and 6.125% Notes  due 2065, together with an 
Officers ' Certi ficate issued February 3, 2025 
setting forth the terms of the Notes   

8-K

 

001-35992  4.1  2/3/25  Oracle Corporation

             
4.18

 
Description of Oracle Corporation’s  Securi ties  
Registered Under Section 12 of the Exchange Act  

10-K
 

001-35992  4.15  6/21/19  Oracle Corporation

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312521092631/d165814dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312522281194/d404441dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312523025644/d356350dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312524227971/d832518dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312525019281/d927919dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000156459019023119/orcl-ex415_54.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
10.01*

 

Oracle Corporation Deferred Compensation 
Plan, as  amended and restated as  of July 1, 
2015  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.01  9/18/15  Oracle Corporation

             
10.02*

 

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan (1992), as  amended and restated as  of 
May 3, 2022

 

10-K

 

001-35992  10.02  6/21/22  Oracle Corporation

             
10.03*

 

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 
1993 Directors ’ Stock Plan, as  amended and 
restated on Apri l  29, 2016  

10-K

 

001-35992  10.03  6/22/16  Oracle Corporation

             
10.04*

 

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity 
Incentive Plan, as  approved on November 15, 
2017  

8-K

 

001-35992  10.04  11/17/17  Oracle Corporation

             
10.05*

 

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity 
Incentive Plan for U.S. Executive Vice Pres idents  
and Section 16 Officers  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.05  9/18/17  Oracle Corporation

             
10.06*

 

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 
Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 
1993 Directors ’ Stock Plan  

10-K

 

001-35992  10.06  6/25/15  Oracle Corporation

             
10.07*

 
Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors  and 
Executive Officers  

10-Q
 

000-51788  10.07  12/23/11  Oracle Corporation

             
10.08*

 

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 
Executive Bonus Plan, as  amended and restated 
as  of February 12, 2019  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.09  3/18/19  Oracle Corporation

             
10.09*

 

Oracle Corporation Stock Unit Award Deferred 
Compensation Plan, as  amended and restated 
as  of July 1, 2015  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.15  9/18/15  Oracle Corporation

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312515323532/d64286dex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000156459022023675/orcl-ex1002_315.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312516628942/d203801dex1003.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312517347046/d455628dex1004.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312517287455/d407367dex1005.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312515235239/d920711dex1006.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312511351954/d263957dex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000156459019008273/orcl-ex1009_117.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312515323532/d64286dex1015.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
10.10*

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 
under the Oracle Corporation Amended and 
Restated 1993 Directors ’ Stock Plan  

10-K

 

001-35992  10.17  6/25/15  Oracle Corporation

             
10.11*

 

Form of Performance-Based Stock Option 
Agreement under the Amended and Restated 
2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan for 
Named Executive Officers  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.16  9/18/17  Oracle Corporation

             
10.12*

 

First Amendment to Performance-Based Stock 
Option Agreement with Lawrence J. El l i son and 
Safra A. Catz under the Amended and Restated 
2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan  

8-K

 

001-35992  10.15  7/7/21  Oracle Corporation

             
10.13*

 

Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity 
Incentive Plan for U.S. Employees  (Including 
Section 16 Officers)  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.17  9/18/17  Oracle Corporation

             
10.14*

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 
the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan for U.S. 
Employees  

10-Q

 

001-35992  10.16  12/11/20  Oracle Corporation

             
10.15§  $6,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit 

Agreement dated as  of March 8, 2022 among 
Oracle Corporation and the lenders  and agents  
named therein  

10-Q  001-35992  10.16  3/11/22  Oracle Corporation

             
10.16*

 

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 
2020 Equity Incentive Plan, as  approved on 
November 15, 2023  

8-K

 

001-35992  10.18  11/17/23  Oracle Corporation

             
19  Oracle Corporation Ins ider Trading Pol icy  10-K  001-35992  19  6/20/24  Oracle Corporation
             

21.01‡  Subs idiaries  of the Registrant           

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312515235239/d920711dex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312517287455/d407367dex1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001341439/000119312521209906/d145474dex1015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312517287455/d407367dex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000156459020056896/orcl-ex1016_102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000156459022009859/orcl-ex1016_322.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312523279837/d606391dex1018.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017024075605/orcl-ex19.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025087926/orcl-ex21_01.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
23.01‡

 
Consent of Independent Registered Publ ic 
Accounting Firm  

 
 

       

             
31.01‡

 
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certi fication of 
Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer  

 
 

       

             
32.01†

 
Section 1350 Certi fication of Principal  
Executive and Financial  Officer  

 
 

       

             
97

 
Oracle Corporation Compensation Clawback 
Pol icy  

10-K
 

001-35992  97  6/20/24  Oracle Corporation

             
99.01

 

$5,630,000,000 Term Loan Credit Agreement 
dated as  of June 10, 2024 among Oracle 
Corporation and the lenders  and agents  named 
therein  

10-K

 

001-35992  99.01  6/20/24  Oracle Corporation

             
101‡

 

Interactive Data Fi les  Pursuant to Rule 405 of 
Regulation S-T, formatted in Inl ine XBRL: (1) 
Consol idated Balance Sheets  as  of May 31, 
2025 and 2024, (2) Consol idated Statements  of 
Operations  for the years  ended May 31, 2025, 
2024 and 2023, (3) Consol idated Statements  of 
Comprehensive Income for the years  ended May 
31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, (4) Consol idated 
Statements  of Stockholders ’ Equity for the years  
ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, (5) 
Consol idated Statements  of Cash Flows for the 
years  ended May 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 and 
(6) Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  

 

 

       

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025087926/orcl-ex23_01.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025087926/orcl-ex31_01.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025087926/orcl-ex32_01.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017024075605/orcl-ex97.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017024075605/orcl-ex99_01.htm
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    Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             
104‡

 

The cover page from the Company’s  Annual  
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 
2025, formatted in Inl ine XBRL and included in 
Exhibit 101  

 

 

       

             
 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

§ Certain schedules and attachments have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to provide, on a supplemental basis, a copy of any omitted 
schedules and attachments to the SEC or its staff upon its request.

‡ Filed herewith.

† Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements  of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securi ties  Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has  duly caused this  report to be s igned on i ts  behal f 
by the unders igned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

  ORACLE CORPORATION
     

Date: June 18, 2025  By:  /s/  Safra A. Catz
    Safra A. Catz
    Chief Executive Officer and Director 
    (Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer)
 

Pursuant to the requirements  of the Securi ties  Exchange Act of 1934, this  report has  been s igned below by the fol lowing persons  on behalf of the Registrant and 
in the capacities  and on the dates  indicated.
 

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/  Safra A. Catz  Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer)

 June 18, 2025
Safra A. Catz    
     

/s/  Maria  Smith  Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Accounting Officer 
(Principal  Accounting Officer)

 June 18, 2025
Maria Smith    
     

/s/  Lawrence J. El l i son  Chairman of the Board of Directors  and Chief Technology Officer  June 18, 2025
Lawrence J. El l i son    
     

/s/  Jeffrey O. Henley  Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors  June 18, 2025
Jeffrey O. Henley     
     

/s/  Awo Ablo  Director  June 18, 2025
Awo Ablo     
     

/s/  Jeffrey S. Berg  Director  June 18, 2025
Jeffrey S. Berg     
     

/s/  Michael  J. Boskin  Director  June 18, 2025
Michael  J. Boskin     
     

/s/  Bruce R. Chizen  Director  June 18, 2025
Bruce R. Chizen     
     

/s/  George H. Conrades  Director  June 18, 2025
George H. Conrades     
     

/s/  Rona A. Fairhead  Director  June 18, 2025
Rona A. Fairhead     
     

/s/  Charles  W. Moorman I V  Director  June 18, 2025
Charles  W. Moorman IV     
     

/s/  Leon E. PaneYa  Director  June 18, 2025
Leon E. Panetta
 

 
 

 
 

/s/  W i l l iam G. ParreY  Director  June 18, 2025
Wil l iam G. Parrett     
     

/s/  Naomi O. Sel igman  Director  June 18, 2025
Naomi O. Sel igman     
     
 




